From School to Community: Understanding the Broad Reach and Impact of the Comprehensive School Health Approach

by

Danielle Jacey Klassen

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Health Promotion and Socio-behavioural Sciences

School of Public Health University of Alberta

© Danielle Jacey Klassen, 2024

#### ABSTRACT

Children's health is influenced significantly by the settings where they live learn and play. Due to the influence of the social determinants of health, children's health outcomes differ. Consequently, all children are not afforded equal opportunity to thrive physically, mentally, socially, spiritually, and emotionally. Schools are an increasingly desirable setting to address the health of children as the school environment is a setting that supports development and learning. Moreover, health and education are interrelated, and it has been shown that healthy students learn better. Comprehensive School Health (CSH) is an internationally recognized, evidence-based approach to promote health wholistically in schools. Implementation of CSH addresses the school culture and environment and works in each school community based on the strengths and needs of the school and surrounding context. The whole school approach of CSH relies heavily on the interconnection between the school, home, and community environments, which are highly influential to one another. There is a need to better understand what changes in environments entail and resulting impacts of this interconnection.

To fully understand the school and community connection, this research was done in partnership with the CSH intervention, APPLE Schools (A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools). The purpose of this research was to understand if and how the CSH approach of APPLE Schools impacts school and community environments and if and how this multi-setting approach endures throughout adverse events. This qualitative research study addressed the following objectives: (1) to explore the influence of APPLE Schools on the school and community environments from the perspectives of school staff, (2) to understand if and how the intervention, APPLE Schools, has impacted the community environment, and (3) to

ii

understand if and how schools that take a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity.

Objective 1 used a case study approach guided by focused ethnography. Data generation included walking interviews and field notes. School staff (n=22) from five schools in northern Alberta, Canada were interviewed as the school environment was toured. Thematic analysis occurred concurrently to data generation. Four themes were identified: 1) APPLE schools look different, 2) APPLE Schools build champions, 3) APPLE Schools builds community partnerships, and 4) APPLE Schools honours community culture. The results showed the ways in which school-based health promotion influences environments both within and beyond school walls.

Objective 2 used an instrumental case study approach. This objective used focused ethnography as a guiding method and semi-structured interviews and document analysis as data generation strategies. Community partners (n=17) were recruited from one community in Alberta, Canada. Reflexive thematic analysis was used to analyze data. Findings were represented in a stepped approach: 1) Foundation: establishes a healthy school culture; 2) Action: tying the work of schools and communities together; and 3) Impact: changes in school practices ripple out to promote health in the community. From this research, it was shown CSH can have impacts on community practices in ways that support the health of children.

Objective 3 used a qualitative descriptive method and semi-structured interviews and focus groups as data generation strategies. School staff (n=22) in health champions roles during the COVID-19 pandemic were recruited from Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, and the Northwest Territories. Content analysis was used to identify three themes that represent how schools promoted healthy school communities during the pandemic: 1) wellness was already a

iii

priority; 2) purposeful efforts to continue health promotion; and 3) recognition that (a culture of) wellness extends beyond the school. The foundations of CSH were evident throughout each theme.

This thesis demonstrated school staff and community partners supported CSH efforts and has shown the influential nature of schools taking a CSH approach upon their surrounding communities. APPLE Schools changed practices and spaces in the school environment, which eventually led to health promoting impacts seen in community organizations outside of the schools. This highlights the importance of partnerships between schools, families, and community members. Further, embedded cultures of health and wellness were shown to endure upheavals in the school environment through committed, collaborative efforts of the school community. This indicates CSH as a potential pathway to resiliency of health promotion in schools.

#### PREFACE

This doctoral thesis is original work by Danielle Klassen. Ethical approval for this research was granted through the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board (Pro00035108) under the project name "Implementation of Make the Healthy Choice the Easy Choice (APPLE Schools)". The original ethics approval for this file was obtained in 2012 with subsequent annual renewals made and amendments to do this research work obtained on October 30, 2019; April 7, 2020; November 6, 2020; March 2, 2021; and July 11, 2022.

This thesis contains two peer-reviewed, published articles.

Chapter 3 of this thesis has been published as: "Klassen, D., Champion, C., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2022). It takes a community: exploring APPLE Schools' impact within and beyond school walls in Canada. *Health promotion international*. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daac050". DK was responsible for the conception of the article, data generation and analysis as well as composed and revised the manuscript draft. CC assisted with the data generation and analysis and contributed to manuscript edits. GM assisted in the interpretation of analysis and critically reviewed the manuscript. JF, KM, and KS were the supervisory authors and were involved with concept formation and critical revision of the manuscript.

Chapter 4 of this thesis is published as: "Klassen, D., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2024). "It trickles into the community": A case study of the transfer of health promoting practices from school to community in Canada. *SSM - Qualitative Research in Health, 100427*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmqr.2024.100427". DK, JF, and KS conceptualized the study. DK conducted the data generation and analysis, drafted the manuscript, and completed

all necessary revisions from co-author's feedback. GM contributed to manuscript composition and critically revised the manuscript. JF, KM, and KS critically revised the manuscript. KS was the supervisory author.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Kate Storey, for her support and wealth of knowledge. Thank you for supporting me from near and far throughout this academic journey. Your expertise in and excitement for qualitative and community-based work offered a meaningful graduate school experience and I am grateful for your mentorship. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Kim Raine and Jenn Flynn, for the time they have dedicated to support this work and their expertise. Taking part in each committee meeting with three successful women in their fields has always felt inspiring. I would like to thank Genevieve Montemurro for the sound advice and years of school-based research experience that you channeled into our critical conversations. Your support was invaluable. I would like to thank the APPLE Schools Implementation team (Jenn Flynn, Landra Walker, Lauren Walker, Tina Skakun, Jenna Power, and Matthew Shewchuk) whose guidance was instrumental to the success of this research. I am also grateful to all of the school staff that took part in this research. Further, I want to thank both the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) and Women and Children's Health Research Institute (WCHRI) for funding this research. This work was supported by a WCHRI Graduate Studentship award funded through the Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation. As well, thank you to the School of Public Health for both academic and financial support. The scholarships I received helped me continue to pursue my research and share highlight from this research at several conferences.

On a personal note, I would like to acknowledge my family and my fiancé, Eric, whose continued support over the last few years has helped to keep me grounded. Thank you for the listening ears and lighthearted humour as I navigated this journey. And lastly, I would like to thank Pamela Mellon, who has been by my side through this entire journey from the moment we sat side-by-side in our SIRCLE lab office. Thank you for always inspiring me and believing in me.

ABSTRACT	II
PREFACE	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
LIST OF TABLES	XIV
LIST OF FIGURES	XV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XVI
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Overview	1
1.2 School-based Health Promotion in Canada	1
1.3 APPLE Schools	3
1.4 Rationale	5
1.5 Research Purpose and Objectives	7
1.6 Thesis Attributions	7
1.7 Thesis Organization	9
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	11
<ul> <li>2.1 Healthy Living Practices in Canadian Children and Youth</li> <li>2.1.1 Nutrition, physical activity, sleep, and mental health recommendations</li> <li>2.1.2 Health status of Canadian children</li> <li>2.1.3 Social determinants of health</li></ul>	11 11 13 16
<ul> <li>2.2 Settings-based Influences on Health Practices (Home/Community/School)</li> <li>2.2.1 The home</li></ul>	

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

2.3 Comprehensive School Health	
2.3.1 A holistic approach to children's health and wellness	
2.3.2 Evidence of CSH interventions	
2.3.2.1 Children's health outcomes	
2.3.2.2 Children's academic outcomes	
2.2.3 Evidence for CSH and respective components	
2.2.3.1 Social and physical environment	
2.2.3.2 Teaching and learning	
2.2.3.3 Policies	
2.2.3.4 Partnerships and services	
2.4 CSH Within Complex Systems: The COVID-19 Pandemic	
2.5 Schools' Impact on the Home and Community	40
2.5.1 School-home connection	
2.5.1.1 Parents	
2.5.1.2 Children	
2.5.2 School-community connection	
2.6 A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone (APPLE Schools)	46
2.6.1 Implementation process	
2.6.2 Outcome evaluation	
2.7 Study Significance	49
CHAPTER 3: IT TAKES A COMMUNITY: EXPLORING APPLE SCHOOLS' IN	<b>IPACT</b>
WITHIN AND BEYOND SCHOOL WALLS IN CANADA	51
3.1 Background	
3.1.1 APPLE Schools Intervention	53
3.2 Methods	54
3.2.1 Research paradiam and theoretical perspective	
3.2.2 Research methods and annroach	
3.2.2 Research methods and approach	
3.2.2.1 Case study and rocused etimography	
3 2 3 1 Case selection	
3 2 3 2 Sampling	
3 2 3 3 Ethics	
3.2.1. Data generating strategy	
3.2.7 Data generating strategy	00
3.2.4.2 Field notes photos and reflective journaling	
3.2.7.2 ridu noices, photos, and reflective journaning	01 1 ک
2.2.5 Data allalysis	
J.2.0 Kigoui	

3.3 Results	
3.3.1 APPLE Schools look different	
3.3.1.1 Physical spaces	
3.3.1.2 Healthy food	
3.3.1.3 Physical activity	
3.3.2 APPLE Schools builds champions	
3.3.2.1 Teachers and staff	
3.3.2.2 Administration	
3.3.2.3 Students and parents	
3.3.3 APPLE Schools builds community partnerships	
3.3.4 APPLE Schools honours community culture	
3.3.4.1 Historical context	
3.3.4.2 Economic climate surrounding the school	
3.3.4.3 Connection to the community	
3.4 Discussion	
3.4.1 Strengths and limitations	
3.4.2 Conclusions	
IN CANADA	
4.1 Background	
4.1.1 APPLE Schools Intervention	
4.2 Methodology	
4.2.1 Research approach and methods	
4.2.2 Case details	
4.2.2.1 Case selection	
4.2.2.2 Participants	
4.2.2.3 Ethics	
4.2.3 Data generating strategies	
4.2.4 Data analysis and rigour	
4.2.5 Positionality	
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Foundation: establishes a healthy school culture	
4.3.1.1 Schools generate awareness	
1212 Community again the section and time	
4.5.1.2 Community sees changes in real-time	
4.3.1.2 Community sees changes in real-time	
<ul> <li>4.3.1.2 Community sees changes in real-time</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>4.3.1.2 Community sees changes in real-time</li></ul>	94 95 96 98 98

4.3.2.3 Knowledge brokers between school and community to meet school wellness goals
4.3.3 Impact: changes in school practices ripple out to promote health in the community 103
4.3.3.1 Changed practices in the community
4.3.3.2 Sustained impact
4.4 Discussion
4.4.1 Implications
4.4.2 Strengths and limitations
4.4.3 Conclusions
CHAPTER 5: RESILIENCY OF THE CSH APPROACH IN CANADIAN SCHOOLS
THROUGHOUT THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC
5.1 Background
5.1.1 APPLE Schools
5.2 Methodology
5.2.1 Oualitative description
5.2.2 Setting
5.2.3 Participants
5.2.4 Ethics
5.2.5 Data generation strategies
5.2.6 Data analysis and rigour
5 3 D 1
5.3 Kesults
5.3.1 Wellness was already a priority
5.3.2 Purposeful efforts to continue health promotion
5.3.3 Recognition that (a culture of) wellness extends beyond the school
5.4 Discussion
5.5 Conclusion
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION
6.1 Summary of Findings
6.1.1 Objective 1 Summery
6.1.1 Objective 1 Summary
0.1.2 Objective 2 Summary
0.1.5 Objective 3 Summary
6.2 Interpretation of Findings
6.3 Strengths and Limitations

<ul><li>6.4 Implications</li><li>6.4.1 Recommendations for future research</li><li>6.4.2 Recommendations for policy and practice</li></ul>	147 148 149
6.5 Knowledge Translation	150
REFERENCES	152
APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW GUIDE	171

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. School and community characteristics.	.58
TABLE 2. Documents included in the document analysis	91

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. How APPLE Schools has impacted the community environment. A visual of the	
themes as they are related through a stepped approach	94

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APPLE Schools: A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools

CSH: Comprehensive School Health

DPA: Daily Physical Activity

HBSC: Health Behaviour in School-aged Children

HPS: Health Promoting Schools

iKT: Integrated Knowledge Translation

JCSH: Joint Consortium for School Health

PHAC: Public Health Agency of Canada

SES: Socioeconomic status

SHF: School Health Facilitator

SIRCLE: Settings-based Intervention Research through Changes in Lifestyles & Environments

SPH: School of Public Health

SRQR: Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research

WCHRI: Women and Children's Health Research Institute

WSCC: Whole School, Whole Community, Whole Child

### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

# **1.1 Overview**

This chapter will provide an outline of the thesis. It will introduce the importance of school-based health promotion in Canada and follow with a specific focus on the Comprehensive School Health (CSH) approach. This includes the school, home, and community connection and specifically the need to consider the school-community connection. The rationale for this thesis research will be provided followed by a description of the research purpose and objectives in addition to the thesis attributions. Lastly, an overview of the thesis organization will be outlined.

# 1.2 School-based Health Promotion in Canada

Childhood is a critical stage to develop practices such as healthy eating, physical activity, positive mental health, and sleep. Yet many children do not have the same opportunities to achieve optimal health and wellbeing due to the influence of the social determinants of health. These determinants lead to health inequities; thus health promotion efforts must broadly take cross-sectoral action to effect policies and environments (World Health Organization, 1986). Physical and social environmental influences on the health of children mainly include the school, home, and community settings where they spend most of their time (Epstein, 1995; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2008). Schools are recognized as an ideal setting to promote health as health and education are closely connected and it is impactful to broadly address health behaviors within schools where children are easily reached (Jourdan et al., 2021). School-based health promotion has been shown to improve both academic achievement and health outcomes, as well as quality of life (Fung et al., 2012). Improving student health potentially has lifetime benefits as it directly influences determinants in early childhood. School-based health promotion efforts in Canada have increasingly used the evidenced-based CSH approach based on principles outlined

in the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (World Health Organization, 1986). Implementation of the CSH approach has four components that are all addressed to create a health promoting culture: social and physical environment, teaching and learning, policy, and partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2020). These components embed health promotion into the culture of the school while also promoting capacity-building through school autonomy and local decision-making (Storey et al., 2016). Thus, CSH interventions are adapted to the context of the school and broader community needs, relaying the interconnected environments of school, home, and community (Epstein, 2011).

The CSH approach is accumulating strong supportive evidence to show positive outcomes (Dabravolskaj et al., 2020; Faught, Gleddie, et al., 2017; Fung et al., 2012; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014), as well as stronger implementation practices (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016). Previous research has identified the effectiveness of CSH, notably, improved healthy eating (increased fruit and vegetable intake and decreased energy intake), improved active living behaviors (increased physical activity levels) (Fung et al., 2012; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014), and reduced physical activity inequities (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014), all leading to better academic achievement (Faught, Gleddie, et al., 2017). As well, research has previously found the health behaviours promoted in school have been practiced outside the school environment (Bastian et al., 2015), and when students are empowered to make changes, these behaviors are even translated to the home environment (McKernan et al., 2019). The changes seen at school and in the home support the interconnected domains of the home and school of a CSH approach. However, there is minimal research that has captured community partner perspectives or even more generally, a lack of research at the community-level. Broadly, the community is understood to be a source of support for schools (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016) and through

partnerships between the school and community organizations, school are reported to receive beneficial support such as additional funds, expertise, and resources (Barnes et al., 2013; Coppola et al., 2019). However, literature on CSH implementation has not provided details on the school-community connection in practice.

This research explored the school-community connection in schools that take a CSH approach and the resulting community impact of a CSH approach. As well, the community involvement and broader contextual factors outside of the school, influences to the school system and stressors to CSH implementation were considered. In order to fully understand the school and community connection, an applied approach was most suitable. Thus, this research was done in partnership with the exemplar CSH intervention, APPLE Schools (A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools).

#### **1.3 APPLE Schools**

APPLE Schools is an evidence-based, innovative, and globally recognized health promotion intervention that is implemented in 100 elementary and high school communities in Alberta, Northwest Territories, Manitoba, and British Columbia (APPLE Schools, 2021b) and impacts the lives of over 33,000 Canadian students annually. APPLE Schools began in 2007 in 10 schools and has continually expanded to new schools in new regions across Canada. The APPLE Schools intervention uses the CSH approach to create a health promoting school culture by promoting healthy eating, physical activity, and mental wellbeing among students.

There are specific elements unique to APPLE Schools implementation model in school communities, such as a School Health Facilitator, funding, professional development, materials and resources, ongoing support from APPLE Schools staff, and continued research throughout implementation (APPLE Schools, 2021c). For the first three years of implementation, schools

receive funding to support a School Health Facilitator who receives training to implement the APPLE School model. This individual works with school community members (i.e., teachers, staff, students, and parents) to develop a CSH action plan specific to the existing strengths and needs of the school community. The Facilitator is supported directly by an APPLE Schools Mentor. Through this process, the School Health Facilitator identifies areas to incorporate healthy living strategies into the classroom, school, and community. This is done by setting actionable goals, establishing connections with community partners, and providing resources to students, teachers, staff, and parents to become empowered to make healthy choices (APPLE Schools, 2021b). After three years, the School Health Facilitator transitions into a volunteer role, the School Health Champion.

APPLE Schools has undergone process and outcome evaluation as the intervention has expanded over the last decade. Through process evaluation, APPLE Schools research has examined the roles of teachers, principals, and School Health Facilitators (Roberts et al., 2016; Storey et al., 2011; Storey et al., 2015). Additionally, research with APPLE Schools determined eight essential conditions for successful implementation of CSH (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016), which APPLE Schools closely follows. In addition to process evaluation, outcome evaluation has also been undertaken and the intervention has demonstrated improved health outcomes for students (Fung et al., 2012; Ofosu et al., 2018).

The strength of the APPLE Schools intervention has been found beyond evaluation outcomes. APPLE Schools has received recognition of best practice for their implementation process noted by the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) and the National Cancer Institute's Research-tested Intervention Program (National Cancer Institute: Research Tested Intervention Programs, 2015; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2011). As well, APPLE Schools is globally recognized as a scalable intervention by the non-profit organization, HundrED (HundrED, 2019).

#### 1.4 Rationale

The rationale to explore the school and community connection is largely justified by the absence of literature or research findings that solidify the evidence of the school-community connection. Addressing this research gap is paramount as there are decades of noted research limitations that call for research examining school and community interconnectedness (Deschesnes, 2003; Jourdan et al., 2016; Langford et al., 2017). Specifically, published literature has not examined the impact of CSH on environments within and beyond the school, community perspectives of community involvement in CSH, or the contextual factors that influence implementation unique to each community.

Changing the social and physical environment is a foundational component of the CSH model (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). To change school culture, the APPLE Schools intervention addresses both behaviours of students and the school environment (APPLE Schools, 2021b). Through ongoing research and evaluation of APPLE Schools, the impact on individual-level student behaviours is well understood (Bastian et al., 2015; Fung et al., 2012; Ofosu et al., 2018; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014); however, the impact on the health promoting environment has not been explored. Because schools assess their strengths and needs during implementation, understanding if and how the school environment changes as a result of implementing a CSH approach (i.e., APPLE Schools) is necessary to shift school culture.

Beyond the school's health promoting environment, the ways interventions work uniquely with the local context is significant to the interconnected environments of the school, home, and community. Research in the field of CSH implementation has evidenced conditions for successful CSH implementation and outline eight essential conditions and four contextual conditions notably including school-specific autonomy, community support (both core conditions), and prior community connectivity (a contextual condition) (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016). Partnerships between the school and parents, families, and community members are key to the CSH approach (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). There is evidence to suggest the health promoting culture extends beyond the school to impact to the home environment as children act as changemakers and translate health behaviors into the home to create a healthy home culture (McKernan et al., 2019). Findings of community impact, when combined with the research that supports the impacts of CSH to the home environment (McKernan et al., 2019), offers a more complete understanding of the strong connections between school, home, and community as part of the CSH approach.

There is a benefit to examining implementation of CSH within respective school contexts as schools undergo significant stressors. Particularly, the COVID-19 pandemic was an opportunity to understand health promotion efforts as they were embedded in schools through relationships to the home and broader community involvement. Whole school approaches such as CSH, which addresses policy, environments, teaching and learning, are cited as a pathway of health and wellness support in schools post-pandemic (Pattison et al., 2021). Furthermore, integration of health and education in school settings and partnerships with the health sector and schools are needed more than previously thought (Testa, 2021). Understanding the adaptations and navigation of CSH implementation throughout the pandemic may offer insight into sustainability of CSH. As schools and communities can influence each other, both a school-level perspective and a community-level perspective were considered.

# **1.5 Research Purpose and Objectives**

The purpose of this research was to understand how the CSH approach of APPLE Schools impacts school and community environments and how this multi-setting approach endures throughout adverse events. This was captured through the perspectives of school staff and community partners. The research objectives addressed in this thesis were:

1. To explore the influence of APPLE Schools on the school and community environments from the perspectives of school staff.

2. To understand if and how the intervention, APPLE Schools, has impacted the community environment.

3. To understand if and how schools that take a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity.

## **1.6 Thesis Attributions**

This thesis is a component of my Doctor of Philosophy in Health Promotion and Socio-Behavioural Studies from the University of Alberta School of Public Health (SPH). This research was completed with the support of my supervisor, Dr. Kate Storey, and her research lab SIRCLE (Settings-based Intervention Research through Changes in Lifestyles & Environments). The SIRCLE Lab has worked closely with APPLE Schools for more than a decade and this relationship fostered the partnerships needed to complete this research in a mutually beneficial way. The APPLE Schools implementation team provided much insight throughout to ensure the research objectives were meaningful to school communities and applicable to practice.

Objective 1 (Chapter 3) of this thesis research used an instrumental case study approach and focused ethnography as a guiding method to understand what health promoting changes have already occurred within schools and how these changes have been supported by individuals outside of the school community. In order to understand changes to the health promoting environments within the local context, the data generating strategy of walking interviews with teachers, staff, and administration was most suitable to capture the contextual details of the environment in a dynamic way. This research aligned with the focus of ongoing APPLE Schools evaluation and the implementation of APPLE Schools in rural and remote settings as a result of PHAC funding. This work has been published as: "Klassen, D., Champion, C., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2022). It takes a community: exploring APPLE Schools' impact within and beyond school walls in Canada. *Health Promotion International*. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daac050"

Objective 2 (Chapter 4) was informed by the research findings of Objective 1. As there was a broad understanding where changes potentially occurred, Objective 1 provided insight for the locations and participants to be included in Objective 2. Close work with APPLE Schools identified a case study in Alberta, Canada. This location was suited for an instrumental case study approach as the city readily adopted the APPLE Schools intervention. As a result of community-wide buy-in, all 21 elementary schools in the city were APPLE schools with the potential for broad community impact to be studied. Focused ethnography guided data generation and interviews with community partners. Additionally document analysis was used which provided broader context of the community and how CSH has impacted the case study location. This work has been published as "Klassen, D., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2024). "It trickles into the community": A case study of the transfer of health promoting practices from school to community in Canada. *SSM - Qualitative Research in Health*, 100427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmqr.2024.100427"

Objective 3 (Chapter 5) arose naturally as data generation was occurring in Objective 2. While conducting school-based research during the COVID-19 pandemic, it was apparent the implementation of APPLE Schools and more generally CSH, was influenced by this global scale event. This objective examines the broader context of implementation and how connections outside the school help schools weather adversity. Qualitative description was the guiding method to detail the experience of health promotion in schools during the COVID pandemic. This work is currently be prepared for publication and will be submitted to the Journal of School Health.

This research was completed by myself as original work with guidance from my supervisor (Dr. Kate Storey) and my committee members (Dr. Kim Raine and Jenn Flynn). In collaboration with my committee, I conceptualized the research objectives and methods that would guide the work, secured ethics approval, and completed all data generation, analysis, and writing.

# **1.7 Thesis Organization**

This paper-based thesis is organized into six chapters. Chapter two will provide a comprehensive literature review of the topics relevant to the thesis. Chapter three (detailing the first research objective), chapter four (detailing the second research objective) and chapter five (detailing the third research objective) include methods, data generation, analysis, rigour, results, implications, and strengths and limitations. Chapters three and four have been published as separate original research manuscripts to the journals, Health Promotion International and SSM-Qualitative Research in Health, respectively. Chapter five will be submitted as separate academic manuscript for publication in the Journal of School Health. Chapter six will provide a conclusion

of the research and implications of the research findings. References and appendices are located at the end of the thesis.

### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

## 2.1 Healthy Living Practices in Canadian Children and Youth

Children and youth have healthy development when they are physically active, eat healthy, maintain adequate sleep, play, socialize, and live in a safe environment (Health Canada, 2017). As such, children and youth thrive when their physical, mental, emotional, and spiritual wellbeing are in balance (Government of Canada, 2010). These aspects of health and wellbeing are interconnected (Faulkner et al., 2020; Michaelson et al., 2019) and support the wholistic health and wellbeing of children. Furthermore, to promote health and wellbeing in any of the settings where children spend their developmental years helps children reach their "full potential to thrive" as they grow throughout their lives. Thriving children and youth is a national goal in Canada (Children First Canada, November 20, 2018) and globally (United Nations, 1989) and ensures benefits for future generations to come. Childhood is a critical stage to develop health practices, however, not all children are afforded opportunities and conditions for healthy development. To promote health and wellbeing of children and youth in Canada, government, non-profit, and health promotion organization efforts focus on getting children and youth active, eating healthy, and supporting mental health in the settings where children live, learn, and play. These multisectoral efforts have developed specific recommendations for growing children and will be explored in more detail.

### 2.1.1 Nutrition, physical activity, sleep, and mental health recommendations

To provide guidance for the development of healthy children, there are numerous health behaviour recommendations that should be met throughout children's early life development. Canadian national efforts address the health behaviours of children and youth through guidelines such as Health Canada's 'Canada's Food Guide' (Health Canada, 2020) and Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology's 'Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines' which include physical activity, sleep and sedentary behaviour recommendations (Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology, 2020). Canada's Food Guide recommends consuming whole fruit, vegetables, and grains; limiting processed foods; and drinking water with every meal for children and adults alike (Health Canada, 2020). The Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines determine that children and youth ages five to seventeen are recommended to limit recreational screen time to no more than two hours a day and incorporate 60 minutes per day of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily (Tremblay et al., 2016). As well, children and youth between ages five and thirteen are recommended nine to eleven hours of sleep (Tremblay et al., 2016). These recommendations extend to home, school, community environments and both indoor and outdoor settings. Meeting sleep duration and physical activity recommendations has positive effects for the psychosocial health of children including lower self-reported stress and high ratings of mental health (Bang et al., 2020). Moreover, maintaining adequate sleep has a close relationship to children and youth flourishing (Faulkner et al., 2020). The national non-profit organization, ParticipACTION, endorses physical activity involving a combination of light and high levels of physical activity in various contexts of play, sports, active transportation and recreation, uninterrupted sleep at home, and low levels of sedentary behaviours throughout the day. These practices support not only physical health but consequently, appropriate levels of physical activity support aspects of mental and emotional health, leading to better social emotional wellbeing such as positive mood and emotional regulation (ParticipACTION, 2024). Several mental health recommendations are tied conjointly with those for physical activity such as regular exercise and getting sufficient hours of sleep per night (Tortella et al., 2021). Other recommendations to promote mental health come from numerous national and provincial-level

health authorities across Canada (Alberta Education, 2017; Canadian Mental Health Association, 2023; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2020). Mental health recommendations generally extend from childhood to adulthood and are key to establish early in life. These include fostering positive thoughts, healthy relationships, gratitude, self-esteem, and problem-solving skills (Alberta Education, 2017; School Mental Health Ontario, 2024). Mental health of children can be positively influenced through safe and supportive social interactions with their peers and family, as well as within the school environment and the community where children live (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2020). In turn, supportive environments that cultivate children and youth's socio-emotional development lead to feelings of belonging, safety, self-esteem and a sense of meaning (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2020), all of which are protective factors that buffer against negative events and promote resiliency (Alberta Education, 2017). The Public Health Agency of Canada references good mental health "allows you to feel, think and act in ways that help you enjoy life and cope with its challenges" (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2020). In the period following the COVID-19 pandemic, it is increasingly important to cultivate resiliency, integrate mental health supports into children's environments, and increase access to mental health services for children (Masten, 2021). The following section will focus on the current statistics reporting the health practices of children and youth in Canada and show the current health status of children and youth.

#### 2.1.2 Health status of Canadian children

With considerations of how children thrive in mind, it is important to first consider a multitude of health practices reported among children and youth that demonstrate their current health status. There is mixed evidence on healthy eating. The Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) 2018 survey reporting an increase in both fruits and vegetables and decrease of

soft drinks and sweets (Craig et al., 2020). However, other sources report between 2004-2015, the daily consumption of whole fruits and vegetables decreased by 0.8 servings for both children and adults with the majority of the population not meeting the recommended levels (Polsky & Garriguet, 2020). Presently, less than 40% of children and youth meet the physical activity recommendations set out by the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines (ParticiPACTION, 2024; Roberts et al., 2017), and 30% of children are not getting the amount of recommended sleep for their age (Roberts et al., 2017). Physical activity levels are increasing post-COVID-19 pandemic (Caldwell et al., 2022), which is a positive trend. Evidence compiled from several national-level, longitudinal surveys across age groups show there are increasing rates of sedentary behaviours; particularly, there is an increasing amount of leisure screen time (Prince et al., 2020). Immediately following the COVID-19 pandemic, a massive increase was reported among children and youth's levels of screen time and research showed only 18% used screens two hours or less per day, which means 82% of children and youth were spending more than two hours a day on screens (ParticipACTION, 2022). In Canada's most recent report card on physical activity, delivered by ParticipACTION in 2024, more encouraging numbers for rates of reported screen time are noted. Among children ages 5-11 years, 27% reported under two hours of screen time and youth ages 12-17 years, 31% also reported under two hours (ParticiPACTION, 2024). However, an even lower percentage of children and youth (17.5%) are able to meet all three recommendations for physical activity, screen time, and sleep and the percentage of children meeting the recommendations declines into adolescence (Roberts et al., 2017). Deeply connected to physical activity levels is children's mental health. Those who are active and meet the recommended physical activity levels show more positive mental and emotional health practices as well as cognitive benefits (Andermo et al., 2020; Tortella et al., 2021).

14

Consequently from these practices (i.e., physical inactivity, inadequate sleep, unhealthy eating), some conditions such as obesity or diabetes may develop as early as childhood and continue throughout adulthood. In 2020, 23.2% of Canadian youth ages 12-17 were living with overweight or obesity (Statistics Canada, 2020). This number has remained high since an obesity epidemic was declared over a decade ago with associated health conditions including high cholesterol, high blood pressure, type 2 diabetes, sleep apnea, muscle and joint problems, and an increased likelihood of these health problems continuing into adulthood and developing into a chronic disease (*Curbing Childhood Obesity: A Federal, Provincial and Territorial Framework for Action to Promote Healthy Weights*, 2012). Current rates of diabetes reported among children and youth are 1 in 333, and these numbers are on the rise (Centre for Surveillance and Applied Research, 2021). The Canadian Health Survey (2019) reported the presence of other health concerns for children and youth between ages 5-17 as: anxiety disorders (5%), mood disorders (2.1%), learning disabilities (8.4%), and difficulties getting to sleep (27%) (Statistics Canada, 2019).

Since the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic, mental health concerns have grown among children and youth. The social isolation felt by students during lockdowns resulted in overall feelings of increased stress (Cost et al., 2022). Additionally, concerns noted among elementary school-aged children were feeling a lack of thriving, increased boredom, and loneliness (Maunula et al., 2021). For those with an existing mental health diagnosis, there was also a greater likelihood of experiencing increased anxiety, irritability, depression or a deterioration of attention (Cost et al., 2022). The COVID-19 pandemic is one recent worldwide disaster that has occurred but among others are growing numbers of natural disasters and extreme weather-related events. Concerns of climate change (e.g., sadness, anger, worry, hopelessness) are presently intensifying negative impact on children's mental health (Aylward et al., 2024).

These statistics show children are far from meeting health recommendations and highlight the need for action and more specifically, the need for health promotion efforts targeting healthy living practices such as eating, physical activity, sleep, hygiene, injury prevention, tobacco consumption, and mental wellness. Importantly, these healthy living practices can be established in early childhood (Government of Canada, 2010). Early intervention is critically important to give children the proper building blocks for healthy development, as well as prevent detrimental chronic conditions later in life. However, before an intervention takes place, it is fundamental to consider why the above health inequalities exist and what role health inequities have in the health of children.

#### 2.1.3 Social determinants of health

Positively shaping the health of children is complex and there are a vast number of attributable factors that impact health practices, systems, and settings (Government of Canada, 2023; World Health Organization, 1986). Referred to as the social determinants of health, factors such as race, culture, biology, gender, income, the physical environment, access to health services, and education lead to health inequities experienced by children and youth (Government of Canada, 2023). Children may lack access to nutritious foods, sport and recreation opportunities, and safe housing based on the physical environment and socioeconomic conditions of their lives (Raphael, 2016). For example, children of low-income families are not afforded the same opportunities of healthy living and face greater disparities of physical health status (Spencer et al., 2013). The relationship between low socioeconomic status (SES) and greater health inequities, as well as gender differences and health inequities are well-documented among

Canadian adolescents in study conducted by Hammami et al. (2022). SES inequalities were present in body weight, physical and psychological health, self-reported health, and life satisfaction. Gender inequalities were reported in daily physical activity, psychological health, and life satisfaction. These documented trends have been tracked over sixteen years with inequities remaining the same or worsening, which calls for interventions that address social conditions and physical environments (Hammami et al., 2022). In addition, a systematic review of the social determinants experienced by Indigenous peoples reported populations having higher unemployment rates, lower education levels, lower income, poor housing, all closely tied to greater inequities experienced such as higher rates of chronic disease (Fariba et al., 2015). It is recognized to improve the health of a population, health education alone cannot be used (Raphael, 2016). In fact, because education does not change environments and daily living conditions to promote health, health education can be stigmatizing or out of reach because healthy practices may be unattainable due to societal constraints (Raphael, 2016).

A globally recognized milestone in the field of health promotion, the 1986 Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion, highlighted these determinants of health and courses of action to be taken (World Health Organization, 1986). The Ottawa Charter outlined that health promotion efforts should enable settings to target health inequities and health promotion efforts should be aligned across sectors. The courses of action outlined in the Charter are building healthy public policy, creating supportive environments, strengthening community actions, development of personal skills, and reorientation of health services (World Health Organization, 1986). As such, the Ottawa Charter has established healthy options need to be made available and accessible through environmental changes and policy changes at many different levels. Consequently, the values of the Ottawa Charter have been carried forward to the present day. Considering the

17

nature of wholistic health, recommendations to help children thrive cannot be achieved in isolation of each other, nor can behaviours be influenced by one setting. The socio-ecological model of health promotion explains many interacting levels of influence including individual, interpersonal, family, school and community, and organizational levels (McLeroy et al., 1988). This model is particularly relevant as it considers the social environment and influence of settings on health promotion interventions. It is through changing the conditions and environments that children spend their time that existing health inequities can be addressed and reduced (Newman et al., 2015). The many settings where health practices of children can be promoted will be explored further.

# 2.2 Settings-based Influences on Health Practices (Home/Community/School)

To promote health of children and youth, there are particular settings where children spend most of their time in their early developmental years and are easily reached, namely the home and school (Epstein, 1995; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2008). These areas are the contexts of development for children where they live, learn, and play. As such, the school, home, and community settings determine much of the environment and interactions experienced by children while they grow up, thus are all settings where health of children can be promoted and will be further explored.

# **2.2.1** The home

The physical and social environment of the home shapes the health of children as they grow up through availability of resources, and behaviours modelled by others (i.e., the parentchild relationship) (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2008). A healthy home environment ideally has access to healthy food and a healthy diet, a quiet, safe place to sleep, space to play and be physically active, and supportive relationships (Haddad et al., 2018). Healthy eating requires access to healthy food. First and foremost, children must be able to secure food. Among low-income households, food insecurity is widely reported, which is a major barrier to accessing fruits and vegetables due to the cost of these foods (Drisdelle et al., 2020). One in five children and youth between the ages of 11-15 years in Canada report that sometimes there is not enough food at home (Craig et al., 2020), meaning they go to bed hungry. Disproportionality, Indigenous and immigrant families have lower income levels which has impacts on both diet and mental health (Fariba et al., 2015; Salami et al., 2017). Moreover, Indigenous families report experiencing inadequate housing (e.g., requiring major repairs) as well as crowded living spaces (Fariba et al., 2015), thus safety is often a concern for children living at home.

In the home, mealtimes can be an opportunity for family gathering where food is prepared by parents and caregivers. It can also be cultural experience and a social context for children to eat with parents, siblings, or other family members where children are influenced by how their families perceive what food is healthy or unhealthy (Genuis et al., 2015). Children's health behaviours are most often influenced by parents' behaviour and there is a strong association noted between parent and child health practices. Parental knowledge and encouragement of physical activity is associated with their children's physical activity (Haddad et al., 2018). In Carson et al.'s (2020) study, the more time parents spend doing sedentary activities, moderate to vigorous physical activity or screen time, their children were more likely to show the same levels. Likewise, in Haddad et al.'s study, it was found that parents' intake of fruits and vegetables had a strong association to their children's diet and fruit and vegetable consumption (Haddad et al., 2018). In some cases, parental encouragement of healthy eating results in better diet quality for children and less rates of overweight or obesity (Faught et al., 2016), though not all. In another study that examined home and school environments, to

19

strengthen home and school collaboration, information books were sent home and resulted in increased parents' knowledge and increased the children's fruit and vegetable intake, yet did not increase the availability of fruits and vegetables in the home environment (Blom-Hoffman et al., 2008). This may be attributable to other determinants of health such as income inequality and speaks to the ineffectiveness of simply sharing information and educating families. Parents influence children's health behaviours through their knowledge and role modeling of their own behaviours and decisions they make for their children, but it should be considered that the home environment is also influenced by the broader community in which it is located.

### 2.2.2 The community

Children are shaped by their family and household, which is located within a greater sphere of influence of the broader community (Epstein, 1995). Community environments exert influence on children based on the physical environments of neighbourhoods and more broadly, the geographic location of communities. Each community has a unique set of considerations and factors, such as surrounding SES and infrastructure, that have vast influences on opportunities for physical activity (Manyanga et al., 2022; McKenzie et al., 2013), as well as the availability of healthy food (McPhail et al., 2013), and social connections with others (Wood et al., 2013).

Particularly in Canada, there are vast differences in population demographics from large urban centres to many rural and remote locations. Both urban and rural environments have factors that influence children's health and create facilitators and barriers to physical activity. In urban centres, the natural and built environment of neighbourhoods determines walkability, access to green space, and perceptions of safety (Carson et al., 2010; Frank et al., 2022). In one study by (Frank et al., 2022) it was found that among urban neighbourhoods with available parks and walking spaces, there was also higher levels of physical activity which offered a mediating
effect between levels of physical activity and rates of obesity and diabetes. Specifically, those in the most walkable neighborhoods engaged in more physically activity and had lower risk of obesity and diabetes (Frank et al., 2022). This is similar to earlier research findings from Carson et al., (2010), who showed well-perceived sidewalks in neighbourhoods translated to more physical activity and active transportation to school and less screen time. A study by McKenzie et al., (2013) found an increase in median household income corresponded to a greater number of recreation facilities (e.g., gymnasiums, basketball courts, fields, playgrounds, walking paths) and amenities (e.g., benches, trash cans, bathrooms) in good condition. However, these facilities also came at a cost. Consequently, children living in low-income neighbourhoods may rely more so on the outdoors due to lack of facilities or the cost of accessing them (McKenzie et al., 2013). Similarly, small, rural schools have greater challenges including less access to resources (Anderson & White, 2011). The rural context presents challenges to increase amounts of physical activity in children, in part due to a lack of access to transportation or physically close opportunities (Walia & Leipert, 2012). The commute from rural homes to nearby communities makes active transportation simply not feasible for children when the distances between home and school are far. Though not all evidence suggests rural environments are not conducive to physical activity. In one cross-sectional study of urban and rural environments, children did meet the recommended amount of physical activity per day (less than two hours per day) and interestingly children in rural areas showed less screen usage than children in urban areas (Manyanga et al., 2022).

The neighbourhood nearby where schools and homes are located can greatly impact food security and what healthy food opportunities are available to children and their families (Engler-Stringer et al., 2014). Urban areas may present more opportunities where unhealthy food options

are more easily accessed due to convenience, particularly in low-income neighbourhoods fewer healthy food options and more unhealthy options are accessible than is seen in high income neighbourhoods (Engler-Stringer et al., 2014). Conversely, in remote regions of Canada, where children and families experience some of the highest rates of food insecurity, the geographic location is a challenge to transport and store an abundance of healthy foods (Leblanc-Laurendeau, 2020).

Additionally, unique community contexts influence cultural and traditional food practices. In a photovoice study with children living in a rural First Nation community, the results shared by children spoke to the influence of traditional foods on their diet and more broadly, how the community relied on hunting and gathering to secure food (Genuis et al., 2015). Communities also promote feelings of social connection among the residents, which extends from gatherings to positive health impacts. A sense of belonging and feelings of social support among community members has positive impacts on mental health, even among new migrants to a community (Salami et al., 2017). With considerations of these conditions that both influence and create health inequities, an environment that has the power to create equitable opportunities, such as the natural learning environment of the school, should be considered.

# 2.2.3 The school

Children spend a considerable amount of time at school, which presents many opportunities to promote health practices throughout the day in an environment that supports learning (Bonell et al., 2014). The school environment is also a space that can provide equitable access to multiple meals and snacks, a space to feel welcomed and a sense of belonging, safety to play and socialize, and equal access to resources and daily schedules that promote health and wellbeing for all students. Because schools take place over a seven-hour period in a day, it is

common for schools to typically serve and sell food for breakfast, snacks, and/or lunch. Food that is accessed at school by children comes down to several factors including, availability, affordability, and student preferences (Spencer et al., 2019). In one study by Ahmadi et al. (2015), over nine hundred students were surveyed to understand the association of SES and dietary outcomes at school. It was found that students of low SES, whose parents had lower educational attainment, were more likely to consume sugar sweetened beverages and vegetables daily at school. Ahmadi et al. (2015) thus found the parental influence was more significant than peer influence, though the peer influence on eating practices in the school is still noted in research. Spencer et al. (2019) explored the perceptions of youth in the school food environment and determined the social nature of eating that youth experience at school by eating with their peers and enjoying food together, which can reinforce a particular culture and relationship to food especially when using food as a reward or to celebrate special occasions and holidays. During the time spent in school, children are influenced both directly and indirectly through peers, teachers, what is being taught in the classroom, and the physical school environment (Hamilton et al., 2021). A positive school climate focusing on mental and emotional wellness can be fostered through feelings of belonging and is influential to student attendance and academic performance (Daily et al., 2020). Furthermore, the time spent in school surrounded by peers and teachers can determine opportunities to both learn and practice health behaviours. In the Canadian province of Alberta, curriculum is taught in the classroom that addresses health, life skills, and physical education throughout grade levels 1 to 9 (Alberta Education, 2021). These learnings are further supported in Alberta by a daily physical activity (DPA) policy in place to ensure students receive 30 minutes of daily physical activity (Alberta Education, 2021). Outside of structured physical education time, children have time to play and be active during

recess and lunch which helps children meet the Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology 24-Hour Movement Guidelines (Tremblay et al., 2016). Students at school are also highly influenced by their friends and are more likely to engage in similar levels of physical activity as close friends before, during, and after school (Stearns et al., 2019).

#### 2.2.3.1 The need to address health behaviours of children and youth at school

To promote health in children in an equitable way, the school environment is one setting to intervene. Schools can be a place to promote and support opportunities for healthy eating and active living behaviours as it targets a setting where changes can be impactful due to the nature of the learning environment (Jourdan et al., 2021) and is where children spend a significant amount of their day. Health and education outcomes are interrelated and by promoting health in schools, education outcomes improve (Degoy & Olmos, 2020), therefore if given priority in a teaching environment, they both flourish (Bonell et al., 2014). School-based interventions using a multifaceted approach address the many intersecting factors that influence health practices in the school. A systematic review of school-based physical activity interventions highlighted multi-component and comprehensive interventions addressing nutrition, physical activity and general healthy living habits together in a longitudinal way establish significant changes to physical activity levels of children, and lifelong habits (Yuksel et al., 2020). Schools can promote health in an equitable way as it is a place that reaches all children and youth where health inequities can be targeted through interventions that address the social determinants of health (Newman et al., 2015). Of note, those interventions addressing multiple components of health (i.e., nutrition and physical activity) are most cost-effective and even further, interventions that took a holistic approach intervening in schools through teaching, policy, and partnerships, and environments demonstrate the highest return on investment (Ekwaru et al., 2021). Evidence

shows that school interventions are a cost-effective way to prevent obesity and chronic disease (Ekwaru et al., 2017). A life-course analysis of one multi-component, school-based health promotion intervention that addressed diet, physical activity, and mental wellness showed savings of \$150 to \$330 million per year in Canada based on a reduction of expected obesity rates by 2-6% through scaled up interventions across Canada (Tran et al., 2014). One such approach to promote wholistic health in schools is Comprehensive School Health (CSH) which will be explored in more detail.

## 2.3 Comprehensive School Health

Health and education are interconnected, and the school setting is optimal to promote health behaviours as there is a broad reach within a learning environment targeting children during a critical development stage (Fung et al., 2012; World Health Organization, 1986). Canadian school-based health promotion efforts use the CSH framework (Arnold et al., 2012; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). CSH is an international approach to school-based health promotion, which began in Canada in the 1990's (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). CSH is developed from principles of the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion and is part of an effort of the World Health Organization's Expert Committee on Comprehensive School Health Education and Promotion (World Health Organization, 1997; World Health Organization, 1986). As CSH is an international approach that has been used in many countries, the terms Coordinated School Health, Health Promoting Schools (HPS), and Whole School, Whole Community, Whole Child (WSCC) have been synonymously used with CSH and will be referred to as CSH throughout this thesis.

# 2.3.1 A holistic approach to children's health and wellness

CSH builds on a socio-ecological model, and is a cohesive effort involving environments and greater spheres of influence that are beyond an individual's control rather than placing emphasis on individual behaviour change (Nutbeam, 1992). The socio-ecological approach influences health practices by changing the realms beyond an individual level which complements the settings-based influences of the home, community, and school as described earlier. In the CSH approach, changes are to be addressed using individual, interpersonal, community, and organizational levels of influence (Nutbeam, 1992). CSH not only addresses interacting behaviours and structural influences but also the interacting environments that influence health (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). To create equitable opportunities for students to thrive as healthy children and youth, a whole-school approach is used through in the CSH approach to change the school culture and the school environment (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016).

In Canada, the Pan-Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health (JCSH) leads CSH efforts through a partnership among provincial, territorial, and federal governments to bring together health and education sectors and promote healthy Canadian children (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). JCSH outlines how CSH is addressed in schools through four components: 1) social and physical environments; 2) teaching and learning; 3) policy; and 4) partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). The CSH approach aims to increase health practices and accessible healthy choices in the school by creating a supportive structure to promote health and wellness priorities broadly supported by curriculum and policy changes and led through cohesive actions taken by the school community (St Leger, 1999). The evidence for CSH interventions both on student impact and the school impact will be shown in

detail in the following two sub-sections followed by a breakdown of the evidence for the components of CSH.

# 2.3.2 Evidence of CSH interventions

The CSH approach has been studied amongst the promotion of health behaviours such as nutrition, physical activity, and mental wellness, as well as prevention efforts against substance use, eating disorders, and injuries (Langford, Bonell, Jones, & Campbell, 2015; Stewart-Brown, 2006). Findings from school health promoting interventions taking a CSH approach show health promotion is effective when efforts incorporate a whole school approach and multiple aspects of health behaviours (Stewart-Brown, 2006). Particularly, those school-based health promotion interventions targeting curriculum or policy-level change has been shown effective to improve obesity outcomes (Dabravolskaj et al., 2020).

It is also important to highlight school-based health promotion interventions have shown improved health and academic outcomes for students (Faught, Ekwaru, et al., 2017; Fung et al., 2012; Veugelers & Fitzgerald, 2005). Health outcomes related to healthy eating, physical activity, and mental wellness show improvements, which in turn, can positively influence academic outcomes (Faught, Gleddie, et al., 2017; Langford et al., 2017; Michael et al., 2015). Health and academic outcomes will be explored in this section to demonstrate the effectiveness of interventions using a CSH approach.

#### 2.3.2.1 Children's health outcomes

Children's health outcomes are shown to be impacted both at school and outside of school as a result of CSH (Bastian et al., 2015; Fung et al., 2012; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014; Veugelers & Fitzgerald, 2005). Among the studies included in a systematic review of health promotion interventions, small but positive effects were noted for health behaviour outcomes

including a decrease of body mass index, smoking, and rates of bullying, as well as the increase of physical activity, fitness, and fruit and vegetable intake (Langford, Bonell, Jones, Pouliou, et al., 2015). Similar results have been reported across other studies; notably, students showed increased fruit and vegetable consumption and diet quality, decreased dietary energy intake, increased physical activity, and decreased odds of obesity (Fung et al., 2012; Veugelers & Fitzgerald, 2005) with these noted effects sustained over three years of measurement (Fung et al., 2012). School-based health promotion interventions have shown similar positive effects to body mass index, physical activity, and fruit and vegetable intake (Langford et al., 2014).

The CSH approach has shown equally effective outcomes for all students and interventions have shown reduced inequalities of physical activity; children of low SES showed an increase of physical activity that reached a level comparable to children of higher SES physical activity levels during both school and after school hours (Bastian et al., 2015; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014). The long-term impact of CSH shows positive health effects of knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours of CSH continuing into adolescence and new school environments, such as the transition from elementary to secondary schools (Ofosu et al., 2018).

# 2.3.2.2 Children's academic outcomes

There is mixed but positive evidence to show that healthy children show improved academic outcomes (Akiyama et al., 2020; Langford et al., 2017; Michael et al., 2015). Although it has been argued further evidence is needed to support conclusive impacts of health improvements and academic outcomes (Langford et al., 2014), there is growing evidence to suggest children's diet and physical activity levels show an impact on academic achievement (Bedard et al., 2019; Burrows et al., 2017). Further, the coordinated efforts of the CSH approach showed correlation between school health status and student's academic attainment (Akiyama et al., 2020). By meeting multiple health behaviour recommendations including those for diet, sleep, screen time, and physical activity, reading and writing skills were positively impacted (Faught, Ekwaru, et al., 2017; Faught, Gleddie, et al., 2017). Improvements to academic performance are even noted from interventions that focus on a single aspect of health behaviour such as healthy eating (Burrows et al., 2017) or physical activity (Bedard et al., 2019; Gall et al., 2018; Gonzalez Sicilia et al., 2018). Improved nutrition among children such as regular breakfast, lower intake of junk food, and better diet quality (including increased fruit and vegetable intake) result in better academic outcomes (Burrows et al., 2017). Likewise, incorporating physical activity into academic classes has shown slight positive improvements in academic achievement for children, who participate in physical activity every day as well as greater enjoyment of classes (Bedard et al., 2019). Even amongst low SES children who typically face additional barriers to being active, physical activity interventions show improved academic outcomes (Gall et al., 2018). Furthermore, health behaviours both at school and outside of school can impact academic achievements. In one study it was shown time spent doing physical activity outside of school during leisure time also showed benefits to school work and was associated with higher grades in language and math (Gonzalez Sicilia et al., 2018).

A recent focus in research is the impact of mental and emotional wellness promotion on students' academic outcomes. Supporting children in a positive school climate results in better academic achievement of students (Daily et al., 2020). As well, long-term impacts are noted on academic achievement, positive attitude, pro-social behaviour, through social and emotional learning and has been found across varying population demographics to have similar effects (Taylor et al., 2017). The success of the CSH approach is due to the complexity of implementing

all components of CSH approach together. The next section will detail the evidence for the four CSH components.

## 2.2.3 Evidence for CSH and respective components

The holistic and multifaceted approach of CSH strengthens health and education priorities through cohesive actions of the school community, supported by the physical and social environment (Lister-Sharp et al., 1999; St Leger, 1999). The whole school approach of CSH "incorporates a healthy culture through structures, policies and procedures for staff, students and community to model and promote health and well-being" (Bassett-Gunter et al., 2016, p. 241). CSH works to create individual and school-level change by fostering shared values and beliefs and demonstrated leadership related to health and wellness (Samdal & Rowling, 2011) though the approach is uniquely adapted within each school to their implementation needs (Storey et al., 2016). Research by Storey et al. (2016) identified essential conditions for successful CSH implementation to change school culture. The essential conditions are made up of both core and contextual conditions. Core conditions include students as change makers, school-specific autonomy, demonstrated administrative leadership, higher-level support, dedicated champion(s) to engage school staff, community support, quality and use of evidence, professional development (Neely et al., 2020). Contextual conditions are time, prior community connectivity, readiness and understanding, and funding and project support (Neely et al., 2020). These conditions help achieve culture changes and influence day-to-day practice in schools. Collectively health promotion efforts must take place throughout all four of the JCSH components and will be explored further: social and physical environment, teaching and learning, policies, and partnerships and services.

# 2.2.3.1 Social and physical environment

The social environment (e.g., relationships and emotional wellbeing of students and staff) and physical environment (e.g., buildings, structures, grounds, and equipment) create a culture and feeling of the school that makes school a place where students, staff, and families want to be (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). A positive and welcoming school climate strengthens the family-school connection and also increases parent involvement and children's desire to attend school (Epstein, 2011). The school environment is a space that is sanitized, safe, and accessible where healthy choices are available for all (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016).

CSH actively involves school community members that include teachers and staff, administration, parents, and students, whose buy-in is particularly crucial to effectively enact health promoting change in schools and provide resources for interventions (Stolp et al., 2015). One foundational relationship that shapes the social and physical environment is the teacher and student relationship (Hamilton et al., 2021; Minniss & Stewart, 2009). Staff that build respect and trust with students fosters a welcoming school environment and even stronger connection to students (Minniss & Stewart, 2009). Throughout the school day teachers can model healthy or unhealthy classroom practices through demonstrated activities and food-related rewards offered to students (Hamilton et al., 2021). Teachers can also role model healthy and unhealthy practices based on their own health behaviours in school and beyond the school (Hamilton et al., 2021). Teachers with greater experience, and who demonstrate good personal health, are associated with lower use of unhealthy practices and indirectly influence students through more frequent health behaviours modeled (Hamilton et al., 2021). Student participation can actively shape schoolbased health promotion in the school (Fitzgerald et al., 2009). Generally, student participation in health promotion efforts leads to greater ownership and competency (Griebler et al., 2014). CSH interventions that empower students through leadership roles has been shown to enhance the ability for children to make health changes to diet and physical activity (Ferland et al., 2015).

The principal is a leader of change practice, and they create the readiness of the school climate (Samdal & Rowling, 2011). The role of the principal is critical to allocate time and resources towards CSH efforts to demonstrate support (Roberts et al., 2016; Storey et al., 2016). Roberts et al., (2016) determined the principal has a major role in a leadership capacity beyond the day-to day direction of the school, but also as a leader for changing the school culture towards a health promoting culture. The principal can create health promoting change in the following capacities: priming cultural change and role modelling; advocating cultural change; negotiating, motivating, and collaborating with others; monitoring and enabling others; and sustaining the support (Roberts et al., 2016). This influential leadership role of the principal is important in building relationships and networks in order to create resources for change in schools (Anderson & White, 2011).

Health promoting changes within the school setting are also introduced through the leadership of dedicated health champions or committees to direct health and wellness efforts and dedicate resources and time to (Barnes et al., 2013). These leaders promote changed values amongst the school community to shift school culture and create a supportive environment for health promotion (Samdal & Rowling, 2011). The roles of dedicated health champions, whether individually or as part of a wellness committee or team, are crucial to create environments and practices among staff and students to embed health and wellness into school culture (Bassett-Gunter et al., 2016; Storey et al., 2016). Furthermore, Griebler et al., (2014) report the involvement of students as leaders changes the school culture, results in improved interactions

among peers and adults, and relieves the workload of teachers. Students can drive change and their interest can significantly make new initiatives introduced in the school easier (Storey et al., 2016).

Changes to the physical environment are most reported in the literature of CSH approaches and often directed toward creating an environment for heathy eating, including adequate eating areas for students to gather, water fountains, and nutritional campaigns (posters and signage) (Taryn et al., 2017). Physical changes to the school environment also include examples such as the addition of health promoting buildings and spaces, equipment and amenities (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). A common feature of school-based interventions are healthy food programs for all students, which support nutrition, by providing healthy food daily (Gillies et al., 2020). The school environment also promotes daily physical activity with intentional spaces where daily physical activity can occur in the school (Langford et al., 2017).

## 2.2.3.2 Teaching and learning

The aspect of teaching and learning in the CSH approach is the formal (i.e., curriculum) and informal education of students as well as the training of teachers (i.e., professional development) that support children's health and academic outcomes (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). To influence school health promoting culture broadly, organizational and structural school influences are addressed in school curriculum, for example dedicated classroom learning time and mandated subjects to be taught. The integration of health into education curriculum provides the time and structure to address health behaviours through teaching activities (St Leger, 1999). Schools face pressure to cover education curriculum, yet health promotion activities have been shown effective when they are an add-in to classroom learning

rather than an add-on due to the time and resource constraints teachers face (Bentsen et al., 2018). Barriers to time and resources can be restrictive and require supportive structures within the school (Hamilton et al., 2021). Importantly, incorporating health into curriculum and professional development gives teachers the knowledge and skills to incorporate aspects of CSH into daily teaching activities (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021; Samdal & Rowling, 2011). In Canada, CSH training is not a component of a teacher's formal education training and therefore, remains within the initiative of individual teachers to commit their time to (Veugelers & Schwartz, 2010). However, incorporating health promotion into curriculum relieves the stress of added work to individual teachers (Bentsen et al., 2018). The role of teachers to promote health within classrooms can be further supported by the support of administration (Stolp et al., 2015), for example by including time in the daily schedule dedicated to wellbeing.

Due to their role in the daily education of children, the involvement of teachers is crucial to support health promotion (Simovska & Carlsson, 2012). Teachers' buy-in and ownership of the CSH approach facilitates change within the school (Storey et al., 2011). Teachers have both direct and indirect influence of health promoting practices. As a direct influence, teachers play a main role to integrate health and education in the classroom and school environment (Bonell et al., 2014). To further support classroom practices, professional development for teachers is needed to bolster knowledge and confidence (Minniss & Stewart, 2009; Montemurro et al., 2023; Storey et al., 2015). Professional development in any aspect of health promotion provides overarching support for teachers and the connectedness they feel to each other; a crucial aspect when promoting a whole school approach (Minniss & Stewart, 2009). Noted in the essential conditions of CSH implementation, professional development is important in an ongoing manner throughout implementation (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016) and ensures both new and

existing staff in a school receive training to promote a healthy school culture (Montemurro et al., 2023). In a multiple case study examining how school districts support and embed wellness practices, it was found that professional development and learning opportunities, such as engaging external consultants with particular expertise, built capacity among teachers, staff, and administration to support both student and staff wellbeing. Ongoing opportunities for professional development allowed schools to be responsive to emerging needs of the school community (Montemurro et al., 2023). This is particularly relevant as schools move forward with CSH post-COVID-19 pandemic with elevated concerns emerging around student and staff mental wellbeing.

# 2.2.3.3 Policies

The CSH approach describe policies as "management practices, decision-making processes, rules, procedures and policies at all levels that promote health and well-being, and shape a respectful, welcoming and caring school environment" (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). Wellness policies can be implemented at many different levels (i.e., school policies, school jurisdiction or district policies, provincial/territorial policies). Top-down policies create a cohesive health promotion culture that can be further supported by school leadership (McIsaac et al., 2017). High-level support is a noted essential condition of implementation as it provides greater accountability for schools to implement a CSH approach (Neely et al., 2020). School policies help to achieve long-term sustainability of health promotion initiatives (Rowling & Samdal, 2011). Evidence from a scoping review of school- and community-based interventions found that members of the school community, including students, can advocate for policy changes within the school (Jourdan et al., 2016). However, even without formal policy, school districts can embed wellness into practices as found by Montemuro et al. (2023) through

strong leadership and coordination, resources, and enhanced social connection and dialogue as a catalyst to support wellbeing.

At the school level, health promotion policies may include a healthy school policy, wellness policy or school environment policies. Most commonly reported in the literature are school nutrition policies. School nutrition policies drastically alter the types of food offered and create a structure for administration and staff to cohesively promote as a standard for health behaviours (MacLellan et al., 2009; Samdal & Rowling, 2011). Another examples of a schoollevel policy described in Minniss and Stewart's (2009) case study research, is a policy directed towards safety and bullying. In this study both a policy and behaviour management strategies were implemented to promote safety and reduce bullying which led to efforts that were successful in fostering stronger school connectedness (Minniss & Stewart, 2009).

## 2.2.3.4 Partnerships and services

Creating healthy schools that prioritize health and education rely on partnerships and services which are key to a whole school approach. JCSH (2021) defines partnerships in the CSH approach as:

"Connections between the school and student's families; supportive working relationships within schools (staff and students), between schools, and between schools and other community organizations and representative groups; health, education and other sectors work together to advance school health; and community and school-based services that support and promote student and staff health and well-being"

The CSH approach is cited throughout the literature to rely on community connection as a key element of implementation. Specifically within the CSH approach, partnerships and services are listed as one key component of the model (Joint Consortium for School Health,

2021). Much research has noted the importance of establishing partnerships in school-based health promotion interventions (Barnes et al., 2013; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021; Jourdan et al., 2016; Samdal & Rowling, 2011). Notably, the essential conditions for the effective implementation of CSH lists school-specific autonomy and community partnerships as two key conditions: school specific autonomy to adapt the intervention to the context of the school (Storey et al., 2016), and community partnerships to create unique connections that foster funding and resources within a local context (Barnes et al., 2013; Coppola et al., 2019). It is known the involvement of community partners could further the success of school-based health promotion effects by strengthening the interventions within schools (Bastian et al., 2015), and by providing additional resources and networking opportunities to share knowledge (Coppola et al., 2019). A health promoting intervention positively viewed by the community has a greater opportunity to enhance school-community partnerships (Emily et al., 2018). Reciprocal schoolcommunity support can form if there are shared priorities of health and education (Torres & Simovska, 2017). Further, both family and community involvement is associated with greater healthy opportunities and standards to support schools (Kehm et al., 2015). There are many noted benefits of strengthening the school and community connection. Schools often initiate connections to community partners and there are several ways that school-community partnerships can occur ranging from shared activities and collaboration to joint schoolcommunity designed interventions (Jourdan et al., 2016). Community involvement has shown positive effects on children's academic outcomes (Michael et al., 2015; Murray et al., 2007) by fostering learning opportunities outside of the classroom (Michael et al., 2015). As well, partnerships with schools support student learning and result in greater attendance, academic achievement, and access to health services (Blank, 2015). Therefore, involving partners across

school, home, and community environments is needed to support children's health and education jointly.

# 2.4 CSH Within Complex Systems: The COVID-19 Pandemic

Considering schools are part of a complex system, the surrounding context of a health promoting intervention drastically influences the implementation of the intervention (Hawe et al., 2009). Changes outside the school system, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, influence health promotion in schools. The COVID-19 pandemic created turbulence in school systems as schools in Canada closed in early March 2020 and alternated between online classes and in-person classes throughout the 2020-2021 school year based on provincial and territorial health directives as well as school district recommendations. When restricted to learning in the home environment, some students were unfairly impacted due to lack of space, safety, access to internet in their homes (Van Lancker & Parolin, 2020). Despite challenges to CSH implementation in the school system throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the impact of the pandemic has shown that promoting health and wellbeing of students and staff is need more than ever (Russell-Mayhew & Murray, 2021; Testa, 2021). During the pandemic schools reported increased mental health concerns of school-aged children and adolescents (Cost et al., 2022) and increased levels of stress (Schwartz et al., 2021). Specifically in the periods of lockdowns and school closures, elementary school- aged children reported a lack of thriving, and overall increased boredom and loneliness leading to increased screen time (Maunula et al., 2021). Other impacts noted were worsening pre-existing health inequities among children, such as food insecurity (Van Lancker & Parolin, 2020) and gaps in math and literacy skills across socioeconomic backgrounds with a disproportionate effect on students of low SES (Alvarez-Rivero et al., 2023).

School staff also faced mental health concerns with added emotional labour. This was due to reasons such as meeting additional student's needs, teaching in reduced learning time, promoting the health of students and ensuring physical distancing, and feeling disconnected to students and families (Gadermann et al., 2023). Many staff took on additional work during school closures and when schools returned to in-person learning, staff ensured classrooms and daily practices met public safety measures standards, which resulted in further feelings of stress and burnout (Alberta Teachers Association, 2022).

Whole school approaches have offered guidance to school re-entry where health and wellbeing concerns can be addressed with the physical and social environment of the school, as well as established safety policies, professional development opportunities to support students and strong relationships between school and home (Pattison et al., 2021) that are unique to each school context (Childs et al., 2022). Adaptability of school staff and partnerships in the community (e.g., with health agencies), is shown to have a positive impact on student wellbeing during adverse events such as the pandemic (Testa, 2021). To further integrate health and wellbeing supports into school communities (i.e., environments and curriculum) after events like the pandemic, additional resources and professional development are needed (Childs et al., 2022). Moreover, higher-level support including administration that promotes work-life balance and overarching school district-level policies are actions needed to support wellness (Gadermann et al., 2023). Though it has been noted research is needed "examining the relationship between district well-being prioritization and resiliency in times of crises or upheaval" (Montemurro et al., 2023, p. 10). Promoting CSH during the pandemic has not received much research focus but evidence early in the pandemic suggests students with positive attitudes toward healthy lifestyles

fostered at school carried these throughout the pandemic (Maximova et al., 2022). The endurance of whole school approaches such as CSH that are embedded into schools remains to be studied.

## 2.5 Schools' Impact on the Home and Community

Schools can be seen as a natural gathering space during school pick-up, drop-off, and school-wide events. Schools are abundant in social capital with the number of people that interact together on a daily basis (Wood et al., 2013). Hence, schools are seen as hubs within communities where people are brought together, and connections are made. In a study examining school connectedness, Minniss and Stewart (2009) identified how "an ecological view of school connectedness takes into account the quality of connections among multiple groups in the school community and recognises the cohesiveness among different groups, such as students, families, school staff, and representatives of health and community agencies." (Minniss & Stewart, 2009, p. 4). Building trust and inclusive practices welcomes staff, families, and community members into schools (Minniss & Stewart, 2009). When taking a CSH approach, these connections foster capacity building. The CSH approach allows for local decision-making using a capacity-building approach within schools to identify strengths and areas for improvement (i.e., resources, teams, policies) (Gugglberger & Dür, 2011). In this process, CSH interventions are adapted to the context of the school and broader community needs; for example, different approaches are taken in rural schools versus urban schools (Veugelers et al., 2022). A foundational component of the CSH approach are partnerships beyond the school (i.e., the home and broader community) (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). In general, community partnerships benefit the schools by providing resources and greater support to students within a local context (Barnes et al., 2013; Coppola et al., 2019). However, the outcomes of community involvement in schools promoting

health are continually cited as an area where more research is needed (Jourdan et al., 2016; Langford et al., 2017).

Family-school and school-community connections are established based on the interactions and actions of children, school staff, parents, and community members (Epstein, 2011). School community members are leaders of change in the process of transitioning the school to a health promoting environment and culture. Specific to health promotion, there is evidence to suggest health practices are impactful beyond the school to the home, and as far as the surrounding community environment through sharing of health-related knowledge from school interventions to individuals outside of the school like parents and community members (McKernan et al., 2019; Vaughan et al., 2003). Therefore, it is not only plausible but a key factor to consider how the school and community enact health promoting change based on prior school-community connections.

## **2.5.1 School-home connection**

#### 2.5.1.1 Parents

Parents have influential roles in children's health and education. Parental involvement in the school has been associated with better academic achievement in elementary school-aged children and a more positive learning environment (Park et al., 2017). Similarly, Semke and Sheridan (2012) also report parental and family involvement in rural schools shows positive effects for children's academic outcomes. Family involvement in the school has been suggested to impact nutrition and physical activity levels through the physical environment of the school: demonstrating lower amounts of unhealthy foods, increased availability of fruit and vegetables in vending machines and celebrations, and presence of healthy eating strategies (Kehm et al., 2015). Involvement of parents in the school environment provides social capital and is a way to strengthen the connection to the home environment and provide time through resources (i.e., volunteering) (Park et al., 2017). Parents who are closely connected to the school build trust and additional interpersonal relationships that are beneficial to their children, themselves, and the whole school (Wood et al., 2013). Epstein (1995) notes six types of parental involvement with the school: parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, and collaborating with the community. Involving parents in the school includes communication (i.e., sending learnings home to support child development and learning in the home and school) and collaboration (i.e., placing parents as members on committees and gathering parent input on school decisions) (Dikkers, 2013). Parent involvement benefits school populations from attendance at school events and networking and the latter seeing benefit through fundraising and volunteering (Park et al., 2017).

# 2.5.1.2 Children

Children learning health promotion information at school can bring this information into the home environment and change their own behaviours outside of the school (McKernan et al., 2019; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014) as well as their family's behaviours (Aldinger et al., 2008; Rausch et al., 2015). Children participating in one school-based intervention (i.e., APPLE Schools) were more physically active during school hours and also showed increased physical activity afterschool and on weekends (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014). In recent research, a change of children's health behaviours related to healthy eating and physical activity was noted in the home environment as well, health information was shared by children to create new changes in the home by making a healthy home culture (McKernan et al., 2019). Taken together, these studies are key to demonstrate that children are key leaders of change and support the structure of interconnected domains of school and home. Beyond the walls of the home, children influence consumption and buying habits within their own families due to modern family dynamics and an increasing role of children as active decision-makers in the household (Flurry, 2007).

Children who receive health messaging can relay information home and further enact change in family health (Burrows, 2017). Information learned at school that is directed towards children reaches parents and adults in the home environment and has shown to change parents' knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours (Aldinger et al., 2008). For example, parents' exposure to school-based interventions through their children showed decreased unhealthy behaviours and an increase in attitudes of readiness to change their own physical activity after two years (Rausch et al., 2015). Reinforcing the interconnectedness of the school, home, and community environments, are the ways that schools can impact change in communities, which will be further explored.

#### 2.5.2 School-community connection

CSH involves partners within and across the school and community environments in order to promote change at the individual and organizational level (Samdal & Rowling, 2011). The connection between schools and communities and the impact on one another is not automatic (Anderson & White, 2011). Instead, it relies on key people to make connections and furthermore, to make change. The transfer of health promotion originating in the school to enact broader change beyond the school has not been studied but the transference between schools and communities has been generally studied.

As noted in published research, principals play a key role to establish connections between schools and the surrounding communities (Anderson & White, 2011), and teachers and parents can further these connections (Dikkers, 2013). The principal holds an important role as a

connection to the community and gatekeeper that recognizes the unique school needs situated within the broader community (Anderson & White, 2011). Furthermore, the principal of a school plays a role in the engagement and participation of partners inside the school and outside of the school, specifically parents and community members (Torres & Simovska, 2017). It is commonly found in the research that parent involvement is reported as the most challenging aspect of interventions (Langford, Bonell, Jones, & Campbell, 2015), yet parent involvement in interventions is crucial. Parents have a unique role as members of the school community and broader community. Parents often initiate community involvement and partnerships with schools through their connections (Jourdan et al., 2016). The communication fostered in schools between staff and parents over promoted values, such as physical activity, allows for coordinated efforts inside and outside the school and offer further opportunities with local community partners (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014). Beyond teachers, administration and parents, students play a major role as leaders of change in a CSH approach.

Students have the potential to be leaders of change by sharing knowledge learned at school and being role models of positive change (McKernan et al., 2019). Children first enact change in the home environment, which over time can be translated into the broader community (Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005; Simovska & Carlsson, 2012; Vaughan et al., 2003). Hazinski et al., (1995) reported an increase of family seatbelt use through a traffic safety school-based education program, which was even more pronounced among low-income families. School-based education has benefits to those outside of the school as the knowledge learnings at school transfer to those in close proximity, beginning in the home and leading to intercommunity learning (Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005; Vaughan et al., 2003). In a study by Vaughan et al., it was shown in a close-knit community, the community members were naturally exposed to

the values and behaviours of children who demonstrated what they learned at school; for example, environmental education throughout their daily interactions with members of the community (Vaughan et al., 2003). In another study, a participatory approach co-developed with children established key responsibilities for the children to share health messages and demonstrate health behaviours to others in the home and community, and initiatives at school sparked change in the community and received support and involvement (Mukhopadhyay & Bhatnagar, 2005). It is suggested that children can also be given roles to actively participate in and lead school-community based connections (Jourdan et al., 2016).

Taken into consideration, the recognized impact of school interventions at a communitylevel, and the school and community connection support the interconnected domains of the home, school, and community in a CSH approach and suggests potential and significant influences for CSH approaches to create broader change in communities. It is suspected a local school may generate more impact than what is restricted to within the school walls as seen by evidence that schools drawn social connections together that benefit entire neighbourhoods (Wood et al., 2013). However, the extent of this impact is unknown. Research on school and community connections has focused more so on parental involvement rather than broader community members and partnerships in practice. One scoping review attributes this to a lack of evidence (Jourdan et al., 2016), but this may be a lack of reporting on behalf of schools. If CSH truly reaches beyond the school to the home and community, it reinforces the CSH approach and has implications for CSH in practice. As well, it is unknown if community involvement in a CSH approach impacts school resiliency particularly during times of adversity. To build on the knowledge known about the effectiveness of CSH and further understand the reach of school taking a CSH, the proposed research will examine the CSH intervention, APPLE Schools (A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools).

## 2.6 A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone (APPLE Schools)

A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools (APPLE Schools) is a school-based health promotion intervention that is based on the CSH approach that "empowers school communities to lead, choose and be healthy" (APPLE Schools, 2021a). The intervention was initially implemented in 10 Alberta schools in 2007 and is now currently implemented in 100 schools across the provinces of Alberta, British Columbia, and Manitoba and the Northwest Territories in Canada reaching over 33,000 students annually (APPLE Schools, 2021b). APPLE Schools promotes healthy eating, physical activity, and mental wellness to establish health habits in school aged children (APPLE Schools, 2021a) and is based on the best practice of Annapolis Valley (Ohinmaa et al., 2011).

## 2.6.1 Implementation process

APPLE Schools is an evidence-based intervention informed by ongoing research and evaluation. APPLE Schools has received recognition as best practice for their process of CSH implementation through the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC): Canadian Best Practices Portal (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2011) and the National Institutes of Health: Researchtested Intervention Programs (National Cancer Institute: Research Tested Intervention Programs, 2015). APPLE Schools is also globally recognized as a scalable intervention through the Finland non-profit organization HundrED (HundrEd, 2019).

APPLE Schools has a unique implementation model that has a School Health Facilitator (SHF), funding, professional development, materials and resources, ongoing support from APPLE Schools staff, and continued research throughout implementation (APPLE Schools,

2021c). The SHF is a dedicated staff member that is willing to lead change efforts in the school. The SHF position is funded by APPLE Schools for three years in the following capacities: 0.5 part time in the first year, 0.5 part time in the second year, and 0.2 part time in the third year. The SHF role helps to foster support of the school community to create a healthy school culture and entails relationship building, activity planning, resource distribution, and goal setting. The SHF works with their school community (i.e., students, staff, administration, and parents) to develop a CSH action plan that is unique to their school and builds on existing strengths and identified needs in the school community. Throughout implementation, the SHF receives training from APPLE Schools about CSH and receives support through ongoing knowledge exchange events to learn from other school communities. After three years, where there is no longer APPLE Schools funding, the SHF transitions to a volunteer role of School Health Champion. This is the point when the planning and initiation of the activities become part of the day-to-day school activities, and there is shared responsibility and leadership taken on by many members of the school community. Following this process ensures a sufficient time period to establish a health promoting culture and support the changes made in a sustainable way.

# 2.6.2 Outcome evaluation

With over a decade of implementation in schools, there is much evidence to suggest the widely noted positive impacts for students as well as the sustainability of health outcomes for children (Ofosu et al., 2018). Research of APPLE Schools have specifically shown students have increased physical activity and diet quality (increased fruit and vegetable intake and decreased energy intake), and decreased obesity rates (Fung et al., 2012). Furthermore, research has shown decreased physical activity inequities in children attending APPLE Schools (Bastian et al., 2015; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014) and an improvement of physical activity outside of the school

environment (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014). Students who have attended an APPLE Schools elementary school have shown extended benefits, bringing health-related knowledge and attitudes, self-efficacy, diet, physical activity, and weight status during the transition to junior high and high school a period of over five years (Ofosu et al., 2018). These findings were notable as there was no significant differences between those who attended an APPLE elementary school or did not (e.g., a comparison school), which suggests an "equalizing effect" on the students who originally began school in disadvantaged, rural and remote areas (Ofosu et al., 2018).

#### 2.6.3 Process evaluation

APPLE Schools follows the essential conditions for successful CSH implementation (Neely et al., 2020) throughout their implementation model. Since APPLE Schools are spread across the vast geography of western and northern Canada, school-specific autonomy is critical and is heavily reliant on the expertise and knowledge of the school community. The roles of teachers, SHFs, administrators, and students within APPLE Schools have been previously studied (McKernan et al., 2019; Roberts et al., 2016; Storey et al., 2011; Storey et al., 2015). Research with APPLE Schools has proven the practice of supporting a dedicated health champion to engage the school community is an essential condition to implement CSH (Storey et al., 2016). Further, a social network analysis of APPLE Schools has shown the SHF and principal have central roles in sharing health-related knowledge and advice to the whole school community (Storey et al., 2021). The principal has the capacity to provide supportive leadership, however, without it, can be a major barrier to implementation (Roberts et al., 2016; Storey et al., 2016). Student leadership is one key aspect that supports implementation and is related to healthy eating and active living behaviours demonstrated by students (Ferland et al., 2015). Furthermore, the leadership of students is exemplified in research that examined the role of

students to create change in the home environment through the sharing of health-related knowledge learned at school and demonstrated behaviours at home (McKernan et al., 2019). The perspectives of teachers, SHFs, principals, and students are a strong representation of the school community and those needing to be involved in implementation. While an essential condition for implementation is community support, the community perspective has not been considered.

# 2.7 Study Significance

Research on the CSH approach has recognized that effective implementation of schoolbased health promotion practice requires the broader community as a source of support and literature suggests community involvement with schools is invaluable (Epstein, 1995). Yet it is not widely understood what partnerships in schools using a CSH approach looks like in practice. A decade ago, the research declared the link between school and community as unclear though explicitly called for intersectoral collaboration between the school, family, and community to create shared visions and decision-making (Deschesnes, 2003). The school and community connection has remained unclear as a lack of understanding of community involvement is continually cited as an area where more research is needed in the literature of CSH (Jourdan et al., 2016; Langford et al., 2017). Previous qualitative research has shown children attending school create broader change beyond the school based on the learnings shared from the school environment (McKernan et al., 2019). Therefore, based on these connections, we want to explore how health promotion in schools creates change in communities and explore the schoolcommunity connection. Studying the school-community connection and community impact must consider the impact of the participatory approach of CSH implementation. The participatory approach of CSH builds on local knowledge to adapt health promoting changes to existing strengths and needs, which create sustainable and effective interventions (Durlak & DuPre,

2008). Thus, school-based health promotion efforts with a CSH approach are unique within each school and need to be studied within the context of the school and community environments. Equally important is the contextual environment of implementation is an understanding of how schools adapt to change, and more specifically, stressors to the school system. Recognizing CSH efforts are deeply interconnected between school, home, and community environments, and knowing CSH impacts both the school and home, this research seeks to explore if and how CSH impacts the school and community environments and how these connections endure throughout adverse events. The impact of CSH on school and community environments will be understood from the perspectives of both school staff and community partners.

# CHAPTER 3: IT TAKES A COMMUNITY: EXPLORING APPLE SCHOOLS' IMPACT WITHIN AND BEYOND SCHOOL WALLS IN CANADA

Klassen, D., Champion, C., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2022). It takes a community: exploring APPLE Schools' impact within and beyond school walls in Canada. *Health promotion international*. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daac050

# 3.1 Background

Schools are recognized as ideal settings for health promotion as they reach a large number of children and youth during critical developmental years (Fung et al., 2012), and healthy behaviours have been positively associated with academic achievement (Faught, Gleddie, et al., 2017). However, to be effective, school-based health promotion efforts must extend beyond school walls and address the many interacting environments that influence a child's life (Epstein, 2011). These environments include both the child's home as well as the broader community, contextualized as the neighbourhoods and municipality in which the school is located.

Comprehensive school health (CSH) is an internationally-recognized approach to health promotion in schools, with principles rooted in the World Health Organization's Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (World Health Organization, 1986). CSH addresses not only the school environment, but also the home and community environments. Specifically, CSH aims to foster the development of sustainable healthy school communities to support students' health and wellbeing using a holistic, multifaceted, intersectoral approach (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021; Stewart-Brown, 2006; Storey et al., 2016; World Health Organization, 1986). CSH has four components: social and physical environment, teaching and learning, policy, and partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). CSH has been demonstrated to be effective in improving healthy eating, physical activity, and weight status of children (Fung et al., 2012) and there is mixed but positive evidence to suggest improvement in academic outcomes (Akiyama et al., 2020; Langford et al., 2017; Michael et al., 2015). However, there is limited research on the context of the health promoting environments that CSH addresses both within and outside the school.

A defining feature of CSH is that schools are encouraged to assess their strengths and needs and cater their goals to their own unique situations and contexts (Storey et al., 2016). The CSH approach recognizes that each school is situated in a particular community where 'place' can have a profound effect on health promotion initiatives both within and outside the school. Research examining the essential conditions necessary for successful implementation of CSH has identified eight core conditions, including school-specific autonomy (the ability to customize the CSH intervention to meet local needs, including the geographical, historical, and sociocultural considerations of the broader community) and community support (meaningful internal and external partnerships) (Storey et al., 2016). Therefore, it is imperative that schoolbased health promotion interventions adapt to the needs of the school and community context. However, it is unclear what this looks like in practice.

The purpose of this study was to explore the influence of a school-based health promotion intervention, APPLE Schools, on the school and community environments from the perspectives of school staff. School staff are key members of the school community, who hold responsibility for the child's health and education (within the school environment), and includes teachers, administration, students, and parents. The broader community is made up of individuals outside of this immediate school environment and who are a part of the surrounding neighbourhoods and municipality. Understanding the context of implementation from the perspective of school staff (i.e., teachers, administrators, support staff) adopting a CSH approach

provides on-the-ground knowledge of how school-based health promotion efforts influence both the school and community environments. Furthermore, this research sought to examine the impact of CSH in non-urban contexts and small-medium urban contexts (< 99,999 people) (Statistics Canada, 2016). Previous research on the implementation of CSH have not differentiated between rural and urban settings (Ekwaru et al., 2017; McKernan et al., 2019; Stearns et al., 2019) and therefore was unable to address unique local contexts such as smaller community sizes, limited access to resources, economic recession, and the lasting impacts of colonization. Ultimately, our goal was to understand what health promoting changes occurred within schools and determine the impact outside the school at the community-level.

# **3.1.1 APPLE Schools Intervention**

APPLE Schools (<u>A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools</u>) is an evidence-based, innovative, and globally recognized school-focused health promotion intervention that takes a CSH approach that exists in 75 school communities in Alberta, Northwest Territories, Manitoba, and British Columbia (APPLE Schools, 2021a) and impacts the lives of 21,000 Canadian students annually<sup>1</sup>. APPLE Schools aims to improve health behaviours in school-aged children and youth by improving healthy eating, physical activity, and mental health habits (APPLE Schools, 2021a). Previous research evaluating the effectiveness of APPLE Schools has determined that students in APPLE Schools have improved nutrition habits, are more physically active, and are more likely to be a healthy weight compared to other students (Fung et al., 2012; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014). Additionally, it has been shown that students attending an APPLE school drive changes outside of the school in the home environment (McKernan et al., 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the time of publication, this was the reported reach of APPLE Schools. It is currently implemented in 100 school communities and impacts the lives of more than 33,000 students annually.

An important component of the APPLE Schools model is dedicated staff time in the form of a School Health Facilitator. For the first three years, schools receive funding to support a School Health Facilitator who acts as the school's wellness champion. This individual works with school community members (i.e., teachers, staff, students, and parents) to develop a CSH action plan specific to the existing strengths and needs of the school community. Through this process, the School Health Facilitator identifies areas to incorporate healthy living strategies into the classroom, school, and community. This is done by setting actionable goals, establishing connections with community partners, and providing resources to students, teachers, staff, and parents to become empowered to make healthy choices (APPLE Schools, 2021b). After three years, the School Health Facilitator transitions into a volunteer role, the School Health Champion.

## **3.2 Methods**

## 3.2.1 Research paradigm and theoretical perspective

This research study on the school- and community-level impact of CSH was informed by a constructivist approach, which is made up of a relativist ontology and subjectivist epistemology (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994). A relativist ontology assumes multiple realities exist, and that the experiences and the meanings explored through the research question during the inquiry process were shaped by the realities of participants and researcher at the time of research (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994; Lincoln & Guba, 2013; Mayan, 2009). A subjectivist epistemology builds off of a relativist ontology and assumes the interaction between participants and the researcher results in knowledge that is co-created among participants and researchers (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994; Lincoln & Guba, 2013; Mayan, 2009). The constructivist approach also aligns well with the participatory nature of APPLE Schools and the research methods. The APPLE Schools approach works uniquely to implement CSH within each school community, allowing school-specific autonomy to build health promoting practices targeted to individual schools' strengths and needs. Additionally, the constructivist approach aligns with the research methods of case study and focused ethnography. Foundational to case studies, and those cases made up of many individuals, is the ability to see from others' views who are part of the case and may have differing views of reality, yet the many realities are captured through researcher observations and reflections (Stake, 1995). The constructivist approach assumes a social construction of knowledge as "we come to know what has happened partly in terms of what others reveal as their experience" (Stake, 2005, p. 454). Researchers interpret the setting and through interactions with participants, gain an understanding of the culture that shapes the representation within the research findings (Lincoln & Guba, 2013).

## 3.2.2 Research methods and approach

## 3.2.2.1 Case study and focused ethnography

An exploratory approach that was qualitative in nature was used to gain in-depth knowledge of the school and the broader community environments, while contextualizing the research findings (Yin, 2009). As such, this research project was informed by a both case study approach and focused ethnography method. A dual approach was helpful in this research because case study fit the nature of inquiry and was chosen from the onset of research to understand the broad contextual influence of schools using a CSH approach. The case study approach was a guiding method throughout the research. Focused ethnography was identified shortly after cases were chosen to more clearly define the data generation and analysis strategies and blended with case study data generation. Focused ethnography also narrowed the focus of the research to understand finer details including the culture expressed within each of the cases.

A case study approach is unique in that it "is both a process of inquiry about the case and the product of the inquiry" (Stake, 2005, p. 444). A case study captures a dynamic understanding of the everyday lives of participants and their environment while helping to answer the research question situated within the interactions between historical, cultural, physical, social, and economic contexts of the case (Stake, 2005). The research question to explore the impact of school-based health promotion on school and community environments was initially determined followed by the selection of cases. This suited an instrumental, multiple case study approach as the cases "play a supportive role, and facilitates our understanding of something else" (Stake, 2005, p. 445), namely an understanding of the research question. Both schools and broader communities needed to be a part of each case selected. The communities where schools were located were identified to bound the system of each case. To bound a case, is to identify boundaries that show who is a part of the case and who is not (Stake, 1995).

Building on the case study approach, focused ethnography was also used as a method to guide data generation and analysis. As the case study provides many contextual details to understand and describe the setting, and provide background information (Stake, 1995), focused ethnography complements this information by detailing the specific cultural changes and practices studied at the school- and community-level, including but not limited to social interactions, practices, behaviors, and shared understandings (Higginbottom et al., 2013; Mayan, 2009). To understand school-level cultural changes, this research explored the perspectives of school staff, who were directly involved with health promotion practices within the case study setting. A component of focus ethnography is the use of key informants, who have in-depth
knowledge of the research setting (Higginbottom et al., 2013). Key informants provide the background information required to navigate the research setting during short, intensive site visits (Knoblauch, 2005). The APPLE Schools management team assisted with identification of School Health Facilitators as key informants, based on their knowledge of the school and local context, which was important during site visits. Data generation strategies of case study and focused ethnography overlap in the use of field observation, interviewing, and document analysis, (Knoblauch, 2005; Stake, 1995). These data generation strategies are all used and integrated in this research. This combined approach allowed an in-depth exploration of the APPLE Schools health promoting culture in schools within northern Alberta and establish well-bounded case descriptions with an in-depth understanding of the uniqueness of the cases.

## 3.2.3 Participants

## 3.2.3.1 Case selection

For this study, five schools were purposefully selected within northern Alberta, Canada, because of their involvement in the CSH project, APPLE Schools, as well as their diversity and location within the region. When selecting schools, several considerations were used to determine diversity: population size, First Nation, Métis, Inuit populations, rural and urban locations, and years of APPLE Schools implementation. The schools each demonstrated notable school and community impact as identified by APPLE Schools management team. Schools were invited via an email from APPLE Schools to participate. Schools ranged in size in terms of student and staff population and were physically located in communities of varying population (see Table 1). Each school had its own unique context, including high staff turn-over, high cost of food and goods (relative to other parts of the province), diverse school populations, economic climate of the surrounding community (e.g., recession, impact of the oil industry), and the lasting

effects of colonization. One school had been involved in APPLE Schools since 2011-2012

(School D) and four schools since 2016-2017 (School A, B, C, E).

	Participants Interviewed	School Characteristics	Community Context
School A	n=4 School health champion Teacher Principal Assistant Principal	Grades: Kindergarten-Grade 3 Number of students (n=250) Number of staff (n=45) Number of years as APPLE School: 4	Small village (population ~3,000) Multiculturally diverse community
School B	n=7 School health champion Administrative assistant Educational assistant Teachers (n=3) Principal	Grades: Grades 4-8 Number of students (n=328) Number of Staff: (n=27) Number of years as APPLE School: 4	Small city (population ~15,000) Home to a Canadian military base
School C	n=3 School health champion Principal Speech therapist	Grades: Kindergarten–Grade 9 Number of students (n=85) Number of Staff (n=20) Number of years as APPLE School: 4	Small hamlet (population ~200) Home to large Metis population and Chipewyan Prairie Dene First Nation
School D	n=3 School health champion Teacher Afterschool care teacher	French immersion Grades: Pre-school, Kindergarten– Grade 6 Number of students (n=450) Number of Staff (n=24) Number of years as APPLE School: 9	City (population ~72,056) Acts as an Urban Service Area* for nine rural communities and a large shadow population of temporary workers)
School E	n=4 School health champion Principal Teachers (n=2)	Grades: Kindergarten–Grade 6 Number of students (n=520) Number of Staff (n=38) Number of years as APPLE School: 4	City (population ~72,056) Acts as an Urban Service Area* for nine rural communities and a large shadow population of temporary workers)

Table 1. School and community characteristics

Note: \*An Urban Service Area is a large unincorporated community that is equivalent to a City (Government of Alberta, 2020).

## 3.2.3.2 Sampling

Within each school, purposive sampling was used. School health champions (n=5, one

per school) were invited to participate in a qualitative interview given their instrumental role as

the primary driver of APPLE Schools. All school health champions had been at their school for the duration of the APPLE Schools intervention (range of 4-9 years, see Table 1). School health champions were then asked to identify others in the school involved with the implementation of APPLE Schools using a snowball sampling approach. It was appropriate, and advantageous, to further interview other school staff as they had direct involvement with local change efforts. These individuals provided specific insight throughout the school environment regarding their involvement with changes to the school and the impact of changes. Across all schools, 22 participants were interviewed, including teachers (n=9), school administrators (i.e., principals and vice-principals, n=5), school health champions (n=5), an educational assistant (n=1), an administrative assistant (n=1), and a speech therapist (n=1). The number of participants interviewed within each school varied but was dependent on the size of the school (including number of staff), and the amount of information needed to gain a rich understanding of the health promoting environment of the school and community. Morse (2006) recommends the sample size in qualitative research to be determined by saturation; a point when no new insights are gained from the data. In this research, saturation determined sample size, and participants were interviewed until no new information was provided.

## 3.2.3.3 Ethics

Ethical approval for this research was granted through the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board (Pro00035108). All schools approved the study in advance, and all participants provided verbal and written consent during the walking interviews.

#### **3.2.4 Data generating strategy**

## 3.2.4.1 Walking interviews

Walking interviews (also known as 'go-alongs') were used in this research. This unique, participatory data generating approach makes it possible to observe settings while having access to participants' experiences and interpretations at the same time (Garcia et al., 2012; Kusenbach, 2003). The walking interview combines the strengths of ethnographic field observation and interviewing (Kusenbach, 2003). By fusing the two traditional techniques, the walking interview simultaneously takes advantage of the strengths of each approach while employing both to compensate for their individual limitations (Carpiano, 2009). Two members of the research team were present for each interview. One member of the research team facilitated the interviews, while the other member took detailed notes. Members of the research team alternated roles of interviewing and note-taking. The walking interviews involved interviewing participants while receiving a school "tour" led by the school health champion. Each of the walking interviews was approximately 2-4 hours in length and occurred during regular school hours. The school health champion led the walk around the school rather than following a route determined by the research team, which allowed the school health champion to serve as a guide and provide opportunities for subject cues to come up naturally. This led to richer and more place-specific material than if the interview was performed in a static environment (Evans & Jones, 2011). Semi-structured interview questions broadly focused on overall school changes, as well as the successes and barriers to implementation of CSH, and were further directed by the focus of the physical and social environment. Walking interviews were audio-recorded using a lapel microphone attached to the school health champion and an additional microphone was used to capture interviews with staff.

## 3.2.4.2 Field notes, photos, and reflective journaling

Other data generation strategies that occurred during walking interviews included field notes and photographs. Observation practices through field notes and photographs aligns with focused ethnography and case study methods (Carpiano, 2009; Richards & Morse, 2007). During walking interviews, one member of the research team wrote detailed notes of the physical environment describing the visual cues, such as settings within the school and the interactions among people interviewed. Photographs of the school environment were also taken during the walking interviews, allowing for pauses and moments of discussion. As photographs were taken, participants' interpretations of the social and physical environment were explored, which built an understanding of local contextual knowledge related to the environment (Kusenbach, 2003). Reflective journaling was used by the researcher to document the moments of the evolving research process including researcher assumptions, feelings, and thoughts about the research process (Mayan, 2009).

#### 3.2.5 Data analysis

Data analysis involved iterative reading and review of data throughout data generation, which began after the first data were generated and occurred throughout the data generation process. Both research team members who were present for the walking interviews engaged in peer debriefing throughout data generation and analysis.

All interviews for this study were audio-recorded. Meaningful segments of the interview audio-recordings with the school health champion and school staff were identified based on the content that addressed the research question and agreement between researchers, which were consequently transcribed by the researchers. Stake (2005) notes it is necessary to negotiate the parts of data that will be studied in a case study as there are vast amounts of data generated.

During the walking interviews, there were periods of conversation not related to the research question; therefore, only relevant information to the research question was analyzed. Walking interview transcripts were supplemented by field notes and photographs from the walking interviews during analysis. Photographs informed the results by providing environmental details of the schools but were not included in the results to ensure confidentiality of the cases.

Data were analyzed using an inductive descriptive thematic approach described by Braun and Clarke (2006) using the following steps: 1) Familiarizing yourself with your data; 2) Generating initial codes; 3) Searching for themes; 4) Reviewing themes; 5) Defining and naming themes; and 6) Producing the report. Simultaneously, during steps 2-5, the steps of data analysis as per focused ethnography were considered: 1) Coding for descriptive labels; 2) Sorting for categories; 3) Identification of outliers; 4) Generalizing the constructs (theming); and 5) Memoing (Higginbottom et al., 2013).

Throughout analysis, data was triangulated among sources, which confirmed and strengthened emerging codes by situating findings within multiple data sources. Initially, transcripts and field notes were actively read for key information, and photos were examined as well to immerse the researchers in the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Saldaña, 2013). Data from each individual case was then coded by two researchers, who were present for the walking interviews. Coding, the process of connecting data and interpretations explained by Miles and Huberman (1994), was performed manually. In this research, a descriptive, line-by-line coding approach noted by Saldaña (2013), was taken for each of the transcripts. Codes were put into categories and organized using NVivo analytic software (Q. S. R. International, 2021). Field notes and photographs were examined with walking interview transcripts during analysis. The primary researcher employed reflection and memoing as a means to incorporate this data into the

coding process. One specific analytic technique noted by Mayan (2009) is memoing which assists in the identification of emerging themes by posing questions and thoughts about the connections made to data in the analytic process. Memoing through analytical notes was done throughout data analysis. Themes that arose from individual cases were discussed amongst the research team to determine agreement of patterns across cases, which were further themed by the research team.

#### 3.2.6 Rigour

This research employed the use of Lincoln and Guba's criteria for trustworthiness in qualitative research: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). These four criteria and the respective verification strategies were integrated throughout this research as follows:

Credibility is the accuracy of data representation (Mayan, 2009). Several activities were conducted throughout this research to ensure credibility, including prolonged engagement, member checking, peer debriefing, and triangulation as described by Lincoln and Guba (1985). The researchers demonstrated prolonged engagement by the duration of data generation and immersion in the research setting. Multiple hours were physically spent at each site location during interviews engaging with multiple participants, who shared different perspectives, and brought a well-rounded understanding of each case. As well, engagement with the APPLE Schools management team throughout the research process provided an in-depth understanding of APPLE Schools and the school communities. Researchers met to discuss the interview process throughout data generation as a form of peer debriefing after each site visit as well as during the analysis process. Peer debriefing helps to establish investigator responsiveness, which is a process that is promoted through reflection and reflexivity during the research process, where

emerging findings can be discussed and the methods changed if necessary (Mayan, 2009). The use of several data sources (e.g., interviews, field notes, and photographs) were used to triangulate the findings and strengthen and situate contextual knowledge for each case.

The criteria of transferability is to ensure the research is sufficiently detailed in order to apply the findings elsewhere in a different context (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Mayan, 2009). This research created a thick description developed through multiple data sources to capture data along with interpretations and observations (e.g., field notes and photographs). As suggested by Morse (2006), purposive sampling ensures data saturation is reached. Purposive sampling of the school and community cases, and School Health Champions within those cases, encouraged knowledgeable and informed participants spoke in-depth about the research question. Further, after purposive sampling was completed, snowball sampling was conducted until data saturation was reached. In additional to appropriate sampling, details of the community context of each case study setting were included, and a thick description of school and the broader community was created for each case.

Dependability refers to the ability to review how decisions were made throughout the research process (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Mayan, 2009). A record of the research process through the use of an audit trail allows an external individual to review decisions and see how and why they were made (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In this research, an audit trail of decisions was made throughout the research regarding method, data generation strategies, and sample were reported. Additionally, methodological coherence promoted alignment of the research paradigm and methods with the research question and data generation strategies. The alignment of research from conceptualization to methods through methodological coherence is best practice in qualitative research noted in the literature (Mayan, 2009; Richards & Morse, 2007). As well,

peer debriefing occurred throughout data generation and analysis to promote reflection and ensure researcher responsiveness.

The criteria of confirmability ensures objective and logical findings, grounded in the data, are reported (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Several verification strategies used throughout the research for credibility, transferability, and dependability were brought together to support the confirmability of this research, including reflexive journaling, peer debriefing, triangulation, and use of an audit trail (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The researcher employed the use of reflexive journaling and engaged in the process of peer debriefing among researchers throughout data generation and analysis. Both of these strategies used throughout the research process brought awareness to personal bias in researchers' interpretations (Mayan, 2009). Additionally, by using the walking interview approach, participants' interpretations of settings and events were provided at the time of data generation, which reduced researcher bias (Carpiano, 2009). Data from transcripts, field notes, and photographs were triangulated to validate findings of each respective data source. Triangulation is a way to use multiple perspectives, and multiple sources to situate data and strengthen findings (Stake, 2005) and the use of an audit trail provides an opportunity to review the research decisions to ensure methodological coherence (Mayan, 2009). Throughout the use of an audit trail of the research ensured steps were carefully taken to promote methodological coherence.

Additionally, the Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR) checklist was used (O'Brien et al., 2014). The checklist was used as a guide throughout the research. The researcher answered and reflected on all questions on the 21-item SRQR to ensure transparency and trustworthiness throughout the entire research process.

## **3.3 Results**

Five walking interviews identified four main themes: 1) APPLE schools look different, 2) APPLE Schools build champions, 3) APPLE Schools builds community partnerships, and 4) APPLE Schools honours community culture. While the themes related to the CSH model within the school and describe how the CSH model initiates the connection to the community, we did not employ an a priori framework to analyze the results. Instead, the CSH model offers contextualization to the themes described in detail below. Ultimately participants indicated that APPLE Schools supported a shift in philosophy of the school community and was seen as impactful across multiple settings. One administrator stated:

If you take a look at the school's journey here [since becoming an APPLE school], 90-95% of what has been done over the past few years is very sustainable because it's now part of culture, it's not an add-on... The culture has definitely changed and what is now really engrained in our building won't go away because it's not requiring any additional man-power because it's more of a mind-set. (School A, P3)

#### **3.3.1 APPLE Schools look different**

#### 3.3.1.1 Physical spaces

Participants reported changes to the way physical spaces were both used and configured to "*make room for wellness*" and facilitate health promoting activities (i.e., healthy eating, physical activity, positive mental health). These changes were viewed by participants as demonstrating the importance of APPLE Schools and how it was a priority. Examples of changes included the reconfiguration of spaces for physical activity or eating areas, re-purposed hallways to promote fun movement, a re-envisioned outdoor courtyard, increased use of an outdoor classroom, flexible seating in classrooms to encourage movement (i.e., standing/walking desks), and indoor tower gardens in classrooms. During the walking interviews, School Health Champions indicated many of the changes to physical spaces did not cost money. Rather, changes were as simple as shifting things around to create new opportunities (e.g., moving stored furniture to create physical activity space). School Health Champions and staff highlighted the importance of having dedicated physical space in the school to promote wellbeing. School Health Champions and staff remarked that having these spaces made staff and students more aware of CSH and provided a physical reminder to keep physical activity at the forefront of their minds and recognize the benefits to students' learning.

## 3.3.1.2 Healthy food

Regarding food sold and served in the school, participants stated there are now more healthy options available. For example, in one school canteen, a School Health Champion reported changes were made to decrease availability of less nutritious options: *"Things super high in sodium and super high in sugar we did get rid of"* (School B, P5). Importantly, these changes were often being implemented in the absence of policy changes. To support water consumption, many schools applied for grants for water bottle filling stations, which were extremely popular amongst the students. One administrator shared:

This was a school where pop, like Coke and Pepsi, everyone had them, every kid...the best thing we got was an ice maker...kids drink gallons and gallons of water now. It's been a big success, almost nobody brings pop. I think we made a positive change. You do see the difference in behaviour. (School C, P14)

Schools even found opportunities to change the focus of celebrations away from food altogether *"we try really, really hard for them not to be food-centered and for them to be more*  *activity-centered and movement-based*" (School D, P16). Participants also stated that the culture shift to healthy eating was found to extend beyond the students to the parents. One example was Halloween:

In previous times, the tables in the classrooms have been filled with sweets and all of the treats. This year, in most classes, there was very few and it was healthy treats like vegetables and fruits. A real shift in what the parents were bringing. (School A, P2)

#### 3.3.1.3 Physical activity

Prioritization of physical activity also occurred in all schools, and staff felt movement helped with student concentration and behaviour. Prior to APPLE Schools, recess was often withheld as a punishment. However, in all schools recess became a key focus. In one school, a teacher commented that:

The philosophy of indoor recess<sup>2</sup> has changed... [we offer] at least one option for physical activity. We used to have a movie and we got rid of that. The kids love it, recess time, if it's an indoor cold recess, we get at least 50 kids. (School A, P1)

Teacher made shifts more frequently to incorporate movement breaks into the student's schedules. Staff members also shared the school environment feels different as *"the kids have energy and the kids are moving and you walk through the hallways when class is in session and kids aren't sitting in their desks"* (School D, P16). One staff added *"We've done a shift too at our assemblies, it used to be more of a 'sit and get' and now movement is involved"* (School A, P2). Some schools began to offer physical education classes five days a week or added dedicated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Indoor recess is common in Canada when the weather is too cold to play outside, and children stay indoors where they may engage in more sedentary behaviours.

wellness time during the school day to promote mental health (e.g., breathing, resiliency, growth mindset lessons).

#### **3.3.2 APPLE Schools builds champions**

The APPLE Schools approach means listening and integrating the perspectives of the school and broader community, including students, staff, administrators, parents, Elders, and the community members. An assistant principal noted this was key by saying:

Making sure that it's not a select group of people's voices that is being heard but it's everyone's voice being heard. I think it's easy to make changes when you have a set of like-minded people but then sometimes those changes are harder to sustain when you haven't had a whole community approach to it. You can light a fire and a passion for a whole community if you listen to your whole community. (School A, P4)

#### 3.3.2.1 Teachers and staff

The APPLE Schools philosophy extended to other staff in the school beyond the School Health Champion and over time other staff became leaders. As one teacher noted: "*The APPLE program has created a lot more opportunities for us [teachers] to investigate this kind of thing...in the past I didn't think about it...it started to become embedded*" (School B, P11). A School Health Champion recognized staff changes that were occurring in the school, as seen by the difference in food brought in: "we also realized that what we do, the kids see what we do. So, *we also try to emulate that in here*" (School D, P16). CSH even became part of some teachers' professional growth plans as indicated by one participant: "My professional growth plan for me *this year as a teacher is to learn more about DPA [daily physical activity] and incorporate it*  *into my classroom.*" (School A, P1). School Health Champions mentioned that the help of other staff was extremely important:

When we started [as an] APPLE school, the whole school's philosophy continued to shift so it's nice for me to be able to step away from that facilitator role and see there's still people driving positive, healthy change and taking that message of 'we're an APPLE school' and still pushing it forward. (School A, P1)

## 3.3.2.2 Administration

Positive administrator support was mentioned by staff and School Health Champions as extremely beneficial for implementation. Administrators helped delegate tasks to other staff/volunteer groups because APPLE Schools was not viewed as an add-on, but rather part of the school philosophy that the administration supported. Supportive administrators also helped in terms of allocation of resources, including financial resources, to continue to support a healthy school culture. For example, School B prioritized daily fruit baskets because they recognized the popularity, need, and health benefits for the students. The administrator noted:

I now have to look creatively how do I now structure this thing inside our school so that we are still going to continue to do this without the dollars to back it...that's why the partnership with [local grocery stores], and the food bank is huge. (School B, P12)

#### 3.3.2.3 Students and parents

Participants from all five schools noted that students' enthusiasm about APPLE Schools supported changes in both the school and home environments. A key factor to help facilitate sustained change was leadership from the students who had a voice in leading initiatives. In School E, student leadership groups were given responsibilities of choosing healthy school-wide rewards that included activities such as extra recess, extra physical education, and outdoor reading classes. Both administrators and staff relayed that students were sharing messaging related to APPLE Schools at home. One School Health Champion reflected:

Now the kids are teaching parents...from the taste testing to the walking challenge to the number of steps we should be getting today, all that information kids share. They are just at that age, it's a good time to make changes and they are taking that information home. (School A, P3)

Further, changes were noted to parents' behaviour to support school-based health promotion. It was noted *"kids were taking the recipes from school and bringing them home and then we were having parents send them in for the class celebrations around Halloween time"* (School E, P19).

#### **3.3.3 APPLE Schools builds community partnerships**

Participants identified that APPLE Schools supported the development of long-term partnerships in the community. As one staff member stated:

When you are identified as an APPLE school, it gives you a certain amount of credibility, it's easier to get funding for nutrition, for physical activity, because they know you are not going to take it and go have a pizza party. (School C, P14)

Forging partnerships with community organizations to support the delivery of APPLE Schools was key for the schools, as these partnerships were instrumental in providing resources and financial support, and ultimately supported sustainability. Partnerships eased the amount of work required by the School Health Champion and was seen as a mitigation strategy to ensure sustainability if key champions left. One School Health Champion described how being an APPLE School supported a partnership with a local organic ranch that they felt otherwise would have not existed:

[The owner of the ranch] appreciated the philosophy and what we were trying to do, hence her sitting on our core committee and bringing that partnership to us. So, had we not been an APPLE school and been exposed to the concept of taste testing, that partnership probably wouldn't exist truthfully. It's a win/win for them too, they run out of our local farmers market on a weekly basis and a lot of times the kids are coming with their parents to the farmers market, and they are like 'oh mom and dad, we tried this, this is really good. (School A, P1)

However, the unique context of all five schools meant forging long-term partnerships could be challenging. School Health Champions and administrators noted challenges securing supports beyond year-to-year funding; specifically, due to the boom/bust nature of the oil industry, which affected all school communities. They also emphasized it was a critical time in which partnerships were needed; students were showing up to school hungry as the impact of the recession was felt at home. As a result of ongoing long-term partnerships in the community, some schools worked with local food banks. One school established a Food Recovery program where the school, grocery stores, and food bank partnered in order to provide meals for the high number of students that were coming to school without food. The Program even provided extra food to be sent home to families on a weekly basis or shared within the community.

Changes to the types of food being donated by partners also occurred. One School Health Champion shared how the partnership they had created with a local grocery store owner has changed over time:

Now she's recognizing that we're asking for healthy options, so she'll ask instead 'do you want bananas and apples?' for our funding again this year. Or 'would you like us to donate the carrots and the snap peas for your welcome back BBQ?'

(School E, P19)

Partnerships were also formed across school communities and in early education and afterschool care settings. Since becoming an APPLE school, one school thought of a creative approach for their hot lunch program – in addition to working with a local dietitian, they formed a partnership with the local high school. High school students received credit to prepare food for students and staff at the elementary school. The School Health Champion commented on the success of this partnership saying:

This partnership piece is very creative because had this been put out to private tender, we probably couldn't afford as much, and the quality of the food would be lower because we would be paying higher rates...[We] worked with an Alberta Health Services dietitian to plan menus. It's getting us to have those conversations, we could get better quality for the same amount of money. (School A, P1)

One community created partnerships with restaurants as hot lunch vendors. These partnerships worked to ensure the food provided met health guidelines "because our schools here are APPLE Schools, the restaurants and the community have kind of needed to adapt and modify their menu items to meet our needs" (School E, P19).

#### **3.3.4 APPLE Schools honours community culture**

#### 3.3.4.1 Historical context

It was recognized that APPLE Schools worked in concert with the unique cultures in the school community. More specifically, consideration of historical context was seen as imperative. The legacy of residential schools has an impact on Indigenous families' perception of schools, including the lasting effects of colonization and intergenerational trauma (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015). One School Health Champion recognized this historical context and wanted to "*engage our parents and take away that stigma of school being a bad place*" (School A, P1). They organized family game nights after school hours:

Where there's no expectation on the parent to be nothing but an engaged parent playing with their kids...it gives the school a different vibe. I know we've had a lot of different parents come to those family games nights that wouldn't maybe necessarily go to other places in the community, so I think that's probably a big win...That parent engagement piece that we were kind of missing before [becoming an APPLE school]. (School A, P1)

One administrator shared a similar sentiment:

It's a matter of making sure that the families are welcome in the school. Our vision is that we want the school to be a place where kids want to be, where parents want to send their kids. At least once a month there's an opportunity for families to come into the school. That's all about being supportive of families and families supporting schools all [becoming] part of one community. It's all about wellness. About being, feeling belonging. (School E, P20)

The historical and community context influenced how APPLE Schools was approached. School C recognized the unique needs of the students (i.e., high addiction rates of parents in the community) and the impact of intergenerational trauma. Because of this, mental health and wholistic wellness was prioritized by the principal and included a professional development session for staff on implementation of the Circle of Courage.<sup>3</sup> Increased physical activity was also emphasized because of the connection between trauma and behaviour (trauma is manifested within the behaviour); students were encouraged to channel/release their energy into physical activity. Recognition of historical context was viewed as essential to implementation and sustainability of APPLE Schools, with the understanding that "*changes take time, relationships need to be built*, [for example], *connections need to be made with the Elders*" (School C, P14). Elder involvement was seen as integral, to support the school community and broader community heal from the devastating effects of colonization. The school administrator noted that an important goal was to:

Host an Elders circle, invite Elders in for an Elders lunch... invite the community to cook a community meal in the school. Elders and community members could come in and prepare a meal...it brings the community closer to the school, it brings the school closer to itself and everyone appreciates it more. (School C, P14)

For these schools, involvement of the broader community is intimately tied with the school's APPLE initiatives. Also, understanding community context, including economic drivers, developed realistic expectations of the impact of APPLE Schools.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Circle of Courage is a strengths-based model of youth development based on the principles of belonging, mastery, independence, and generosity and recognizes the impact of generational trauma.

## 3.3.4.2 Economic climate surrounding the school

For all schools it was found that due to the predominance of the oil industry, the population was more transient and some areas had a shadow population<sup>4</sup> as high as 25,000 workers (Government of Alberta, 2019). The communities were greatly affected by the boom/bust nature of the oil industry, resulting in dramatic swings in community-level support. Because of this phenomenon, the schools experienced high staff turn-over and/or a shortage of staff, which was mentioned as a challenge when adopting APPLE Schools. During a boom, staffing was challenging, but yet financial resources were plentiful. In regard to funding during a boom, companies were forthcoming with large financial donations. Conversely, during an economic downturn, a principal mentioned:

Since we've been an APPLE school, the economy's become tougher and tougher and it's crashed. So, we still have a very generous community but it's much more difficult for them to give now. (School A, P3)

As well, the School Health Champion had to spend more time soliciting for donations and/or writing grants rather than focusing on initiatives and projects in the school. Participants from schools located in more remote regions mentioned the high cost of food and goods (relative to other parts of the province) as an important consideration. However, access to healthy food remained a priority in all schools given that the economic downturn would be felt by students at home – meaning limited access to healthy food at home. One School Health Champion noted "fruit is so expensive and that's why these kids come and get it [at school]. They don't get it at home" (School B, P5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A shadow population is temporary residents who are employed in the area but only live in the area during periods of work.

## 3.3.4.3 Connection to the community

Having a School Health Champion that was from the community allowed foundational connections and relationships to have already formed, making change efforts and partnerships easier to navigate. As well, local School Health Champions were viewed to have invaluable knowledge on the geographical, historical, and sociocultural considerations of the broader community. As stated by one School Health Champion: *"I wasn't some outside person coming in trying to put all this stuff in. If you can get someone that's in there [in the community] you are going to have way more success"* (School B, P5). An administrator added: *"You have to have someone who is known and passionate and who has that drive to go the extra mile…those key people connected to community…they also drive others by how passionate they are"* (School A, P4).

#### **3.4 Discussion**

CSH recognizes the interconnected domains of school, home, and community which are all integral to children's health (Epstein, 2011). Successful health promotion efforts are multifaceted and target all areas (Stewart-Brown, 2006). The current study explored the influence of APPLE Schools on the school and community environments from the perspectives of school staff. This study demonstrated that CSH impacts both the school and community environments and reinforced that health promotion efforts are strengthened by closely working together.

Based on the components of CSH, it was anticipated that changes to the social and physical environment of the school would occur (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021). Findings from this study were supportive of the CSH model and indicated changes did occur to both the social and physical environment, including dedicated wellness time and reconfiguring

physical spaces. As well, healthier foods were served on an everyday basis. We found that all schools offered healthy food programs, which is consistent with prior research conducted by Gillies et al. that determined interventions tend to implement a food program and promote healthy eating messages when addressing the social and physical environment of a school (Gillies et al., 2020). Additionally, emotional wellness was fostered in the environment of the school and created positive associations with the school. Recent research has highlighted the importance of positive school perceptions for students' health and academic achievement (Daily et al., 2020).

Involving the school community empowered leaders to take on responsibilities to facilitate change. Beyond administrative support, which has been noted as fundamental to direct resources to health promotion efforts (Roberts et al., 2016; Storey et al., 2016), many school community partners (e.g., teachers, staff, students) were acting as health champions. This finding is in alignment with using a bottom-up approach to identify strengths and needs and involve staff in a positive manner (Emily et al., 2018). The dedicated time of the School Health Facilitator role in APPLE Schools fosters relationships within and outside the school to support CSH implementation. Engagement of those within the school community echoes evidence found in the literature of the importance of partner buy-in, particularly among principals, teachers, and students (Stolp et al., 2015). The level of buy-in can differ based on the level of partner involvement and is not an indication to the centrality to CSH. In our research, buy-in within the school community was shown by the leadership taken by staff and students. Further, it has been established students have a crucial role to act as changemakers (Gadhoke et al., 2015; McKernan et al., 2019). Our research exemplified the role of students as leaders of health promoting change both in and outside the school. Most recently, health behaviours learned at school have been

shown extend to the home environment of children (McKernan et al., 2019). Our research builds on these findings and has shown how students foster connections beyond the school in the home and community.

A reciprocal relationship can be formed between schools and communities; as the community recognizes and supports school-based health initiatives, schools also offer opportunities to support the community in return. Notably, prior research done by our team identified that community support is a core condition for the implementation of CSH (Storey et al., 2016). Research on the development and sustainability of CSH has found partnerships provide additional resources, including financial, human, and physical resources, to enhance and support schools' capacity to implement health promoting initiatives (Gugglberger & Dür, 2011; Stolp et al., 2015). Our research found that there are different needs and complex contextual factors that rural or remote schools face when implementing a CSH approach. This was also demonstrated by Torres and Simovska where it was found particularly among small, rural schools, parental and community involvement is crucial to address the needs of the school (Torres & Simovska, 2017). The results supported this evidence as the development of partnerships was viewed as critical to long-term sustainability.

Lastly, we found community culture has significant impact on the context of the school environment, and thus was seen to impact implementation. The legacy of residential schools has a lasting impact on Indigenous families' perceptions of school (Fournier et al., 2019). Participants indicated that to be successful, implementation needed to recognize community context – working with the local strengths and needs of that community. It was foundational that the School Health Champion was a community member who had an in-depth understanding of community context. A School Health Champion with prior connection to the community, is able to build off their existing relationships, with established trust, and spend less time navigating the needs of the school community (Storey et al., 2016). These findings reinforce evidence in the literature that has shown a one-size-fits-all approach to implementation does not lead to an intervention that will be impactful or sustained (Durlak & DuPre, 2008; Emily et al., 2018). The results of the study show the school is impacted by community context and promotes change by building on the strengths and needs of the school environment.

#### 3.4.1 Strengths and limitations

The use of multiple data generation strategies provided a clear description of each school setting and contextualized findings within each community. Purposeful selection of schools allowed researchers to gain in-depth information at each school, which is well-suited for qualitative inquiry. Further, a diversity of school staff perspectives within the school were captured through the snowball sampling approach. Thus, through adequate sampling, data saturation, methodological coherence, and investigator responsiveness, methodological rigour was ensured (Morse et al., 2002). Additionally, by using the walking interview approach, participants' interpretations of settings and events were provided at the time of data generation, which reduced researcher bias (Kusenbach, 2003). Despite these strengths, there are some study limitations that should be acknowledged. The walking interviews occurred on a single day within each school and participation was limited to staff who had the time in their schedule or were selected by the School Health Champion. Therefore, it is possible a response bias may be due to the availability of staff or a selection bias by capturing the perspectives of only those who supported CSH. Observations over multiple days would have limited this and any observer bias of the researchers due to a limited time in each school. Further, the community partner

perspective is valuable to consider and although was not included in this study, is a part of our forthcoming research.

## **3.4.2 Conclusions**

In this research, school staff identified important ways in which school-based health promotion influences environments both within and beyond school walls. CSH interventions work uniquely within schools to change the school environment and can extend outside of the school by impacting change in communities where schools are located. This research furthers knowledge of the effectiveness of CSH interventions and provides evidence to support schoolbased health promotion through school and community relationships. Overall, more research is needed exploring community support of CSH implementation and the impact of CSH on community environments. We intend to explore this from the perspectives of community partners to further confirm the impact seen in our cases. Having both school and community perspectives will be important to show the full implementation of CSH in school and community environments.

# CHAPTER 4: "IT TRICKLES INTO THE COMMUNITY": A CASE STUDY OF THE TRANSFER OF HEALTH PROMOTING PRACTICES FROM SCHOOL TO COMMUNITY IN CANADA

Klassen, D., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2024). "It trickles into the community": A case study of the transfer of health promoting practices from school to community in Canada. SSM - Qualitative Research in Health, 100427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmqr.2024.100427"

## 4.1 Background

The settings in which people live, work, learn, and play can drastically impact health behaviours. Across neighbourhoods, workplaces, healthcare settings and schools, health equity can be improved through environmental and structural changes that support the everyday living conditions where people spend their time (Newman et al., 2015). For children and youth, schools are an ideal setting to promote health as schools offer time and space during the day dedicated toward development and learning (Jourdan et al., 2021). Healthy children are stronger learners at school, and health and education closely support each other (Degoy & Olmos, 2020). Successful school-based health promoting interventions take a settings approach to promote wholistic health (Stewart-Brown, 2006).

In Canada, one such settings-based approach is Comprehensive School Health (CSH). The evidence-based approach of CSH is built on the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (World Health Organization, 1986), and aims to create a sustainable, health promoting school culture through changes to the following components: 1) teaching and learning; 2) physical and social environment; 3) policies; and 4) partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). The CSH approach has had success at improving both health (Fung et al., 2012; Vander Ploeg et al., 2014) and academic outcomes in students (Faught, Ekwaru, et al., 2017). For a whole school approach, such as CSH, to truly have a lasting impact on children's health behaviours and the settings where children spend their time, implementation needs to embody all components outlined in the framework and not be reduced to individual activities (Koh & Askell-Williams, 2021). Several guidance documents exist to support the implementation process (Canadian Healthy Schools Alliance, 2021; Veugelers et al., 2023) recognizing that creating a healthy school culture is not a stepwise or one-size-fits-all approach (Keshavarz et al., 2010) due to the uniqueness of each school and the influence of the context external to the school (Bartelink et al., 2019; Preiser et al., 2014). As such, school autonomy is an essential condition for CSH implementation, and it is important that schools adopt health promoting practices that uniquely fit the strengths and needs of the school community (Neely et al., 2020; Sobierajski et al., 2022; Storey et al., 2016). Schools commonly undergo continuous change and with many people and structures (e.g., schedules, curriculum, policies), schools can be seen as social complex adaptive systems (Keshavarz et al., 2010; Rosas, 2017). Creating change in schools through capacity building, engagement, culture, policies, and partnerships (though not an exhaustive list) (Koh & Askell-Williams, 2021), closely mirrors many of the components that make up successful implementation of CSH, thus CSH lends itself to working in an adaptive system. When schools continually adapt, this can lead to sustainability of an intervention over time (Koh & Askell-Williams, 2021). Sustainability of implementation efforts requires a strong connection among intervention partners, and a responsive relationship to contextual factors (Moullin et al., 2019).

Both the inner setting of the school and outer setting around the school must be considered, as the school cannot be separated from the broader community it is nested within (Keshavarz et al., 2010; Rosas, 2017). This follows with Epstein's view on the interconnection

between the school, home, and community environments (Epstein, 1995). An important factor of implementation when considering how to connect the inner and outer settings of an intervention (Moullin et al., 2019), are 'partnerships and services' (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016) as the broader community outside the school offers many opportunities to support the school in ways that fit each local context. In the CSH approach, partnerships are defined as "connections between the school and families, supportive working relationships among schools and other community organizations, and/or health, education, and other sectors working together to advance school health" (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2021, p. 2). Connecting with the broader community has benefits for schools; for example, provision of health services (Preiser et al., 2014), planning of physical activity lessons or nutritional meal plans (Coppola et al., 2019), and acquisition of funding (Coppola et al., 2019). Existing research on the importance of community partnerships to support CSH through the means of expertise and resources, has focused largely on the school and school district stakeholder's perspectives (Montemurro et al., 2023; Neely et al., 2020).

When CSH is implemented as intended (i.e., all of the CSH components are addressed) (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016) and the essential conditions of implementation (Storey et al., 2016) are met and endure over time, impacts 'should' reach beyond the school to the home and community. This aligns with the Diffusion of Innovations theory (Rogers, 2003), and the process of diffusion where new practices and ideas are adopted over time as information is exchanged between members of a social system. Research evidence suggests that in general, schools impact the community, as seen in examples of the transfer of environmental stewardship practices (Vaughan et al., 2003) and smoking cessation (Hazinski et al., 1995). However, the reach of the CSH approach is only beginning to be understood. Interventions taking a CSH

approach have focused on short term measurable outcomes in the school environment itself or outcomes among students, such as physical activity levels (Vander Ploeg et al., 2014), and fruit and vegetable consumption (Fung et al., 2012), rather than diffuse changes in the community. McKernan et al. (2019) showed the extent to which there is a connection between the school and home as children influence health promoting changes in the home by sharing health related knowledge to family members. Yet the community impact of whole school interventions (i.e., the CSH approach) is rarely reported in literature (Jourdan et al., 2016). Furthermore, the community perspective has not been captured and outcomes of community involvement are cited as an area where more research is needed (Langford et al., 2017).

The CSH intervention, APPLE Schools (<u>A Project Promoting healthy Living for</u> <u>Everyone in Schools</u>), was the focus of this research. The purpose of this study was to determine if and how the intervention, APPLE Schools, has impacted the community environment.

#### **4.1.1 APPLE Schools Intervention**

APPLE Schools (<u>A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools</u>) is an evidence-based, innovative, and globally recognized school-focused health promotion intervention that takes a CSH approach that exists in 97 school communities in Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, and the Northwest Territories (APPLE Schools, 2021a) and impacts the lives of more than 30,000 Canadian students annually<sup>5</sup>. Across regions, APPLE is delivered in partnership with schools, school districts, as well as partners within public health authorities working with schools through the CSH approach. APPLE Schools aims to improve health behaviours in school-aged children and youth by improving healthy eating, physical activity, and mental health habits (APPLE Schools, 2021a). APPLE Schools is a non-profit organization that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the time of publication, this was the reported reach of APPLE Schools. It is currently implemented in 100 school communities and impacts the lives of more than 33,000 students annually.

receives donations to support CSH implementation in schools that demonstrate readiness (e.g., administrative support is in place) and apply to take part in the intervention when funding is available. The implementation of APPLE Schools in each school is broadly supported by a project team comprised of the APPLE Schools executive director, implementation manager, and School Health Mentors. School Health Mentors bridge the work between the organization of APPLE Schools to the work at the school-level. Within each school is a School Health Facilitator role, which is a position funded by APPLE Schools (typically held by a school staff member) for three years. School Health Facilitators transition to a School Health Champion role (i.e., a volunteer role) that stays in place after the third year of implementation. Both Facilitators and Champions lead the advancement of school health initiatives with the support of APPLE Schools through funding, training, mentorship, and research. This includes initiatives to gain buy-in from other school staff, share classroom activities, foster student leadership, create healthy spaces, and change school policies.

## 4.2 Methodology

A participatory, community-engaged approach informed by a constructivist paradigm was used for this study. Following the constructivist approach, researchers interpret the setting through interactions with participants, and gain an understanding of a context through a dynamic representation considering many perspectives (Lincoln & Guba, 2013). A subjectivist epistemology was employed in line with the participatory nature of the research, which promotes a social construction of knowledge as different lived experiences of participants are revealed and are then interpreted by the researcher (Lincoln & Guba, 2013).

#### 4.2.1 Research approach and methods

This research used an instrumental case study approach (Stake, 1995). The participatory nature of the research involved APPLE Schools in the research method design, data generation, and analysis and relied on their experiential knowledge with schools. One community was determined to be a suitable case to understand the research objective and provide insight into the phenomenon of interest in other schools and communities. An instrumental case study was desirable for two reasons: 1) it allowed a phenomenon to be explored within the context of implementation and 2) APPLE Schools indicated this single case would be the most beneficial to gain further understanding about their implementation process. The method of focused ethnography, a study of culture within a specific organization or context (Knoblauch, 2005), was used to guide data generation and analysis. This suited the need to gain an in-depth understanding of a specific culture, in this case the APPLE Schools' health promoting culture, within a distinct community. As part of this method, the cultural, historical, political, and economical spheres of this distinct context would be captured (Higginbottom et al., 2013). This research examined how the health promoting school culture of APPLE Schools extends beyond the school and how the broader community participates in the culture of APPLE Schools.

#### 4.2.2 Case details

#### 4.2.2.1 Case selection

This case was identified throughout close consultations with the APPLE Schools project team. One city in the province of Alberta was chosen for the case study as there was extensive involvement of both school jurisdictions. As a result of community-wide buy-in, all 21 elementary schools (including both public and Catholic school districts) in the city were APPLE Schools. Each of the elementary schools joined APPLE Schools at various times over a ten-year period, with intervention delivery ranging between 2 to 10 years. Four schools adopted the intervention ten years ago (APPLE Schools, 2011), 15 schools between 2011 and 2017, and the most recent schools (n=2) adopted the intervention in 2019 (APPLE Schools, 2018). The bounds of the case study, and what the researchers defined as the community environment, included the physical bounds of the city with a population of 72, 056, and the surrounding service area supported by the city (including nine rural communities) which houses a large shadow population of temporary workers. For this research, the term "community environment" was kept broad to encompass any potential changes that would be felt in the community.

## 4.2.2.2 Participants

The researchers had no pre-existing expectations of community impact. In alignment with the method of focused ethnography, key informants and a purposeful sampling approach were used (Higginbottom et al., 2013). Key informants were school staff that identified the initial sample of community partners. This was done in prior research conducted by our team. Community partners were identified as a resident of the community in the geographical area of the case study. School staff in APPLE schools identified key community partners with their schools, resulting in an initial sample of 16 individuals plus School Health Mentors (n=2). Of the 18 individuals identified, 11 took part in the study. Subsequently, a snowball sampling approach was used as the second recruitment strategy. Participants of the initial sample were asked to identify others who were impacted by APPLE Schools, and an additional 18 community partners were identified and contacted. Six additional community partners agreed to participate in interviews resulting in total of 17 participants (12 female; 2 male; 1 non-binary; 2 non-disclosed). Participant ages ranged from 26-62 (*M* age 39 years). As well, the years that participants lived in the community varied between 4-37 years (*M* years = 18). Participants

included community partners who were also parents of children that attended APPLE Schools  $(n=9)^{6}$ . Community partners included diverse sectors: recreation and leisure, health services, food services, and non-profit organizations.

## 4.2.2.3 Ethics

Ethical approval for this research was granted through the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board (Pro00035108). All participants provided verbal consent during the interviews.

#### **4.2.3 Data generating strategies**

Consistent with focused ethnography, data were generated through semi-structured telephone interviews and document analysis. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with an interview guide of several open-ended questions that were co-developed with APPLE Schools implementation staff (See Appendix A). Interviews ranged between 30-58 minutes and were on average 40 minutes. Introductory questions were asked to gain demographic information and were included in the interview guide to determine the role and connections of interviewees within the community (i.e., parent, business owner, time as a resident of the community). These questions were followed by open-ended questions designed to better understand how the community is unique in the process of adopting APPLE, how schools are perceived in the community supports school-based health promotion. A modified, short-version interview guide was created which offered an accessible option for community partners (n=2) who were not able to complete a full interview due to time constraints. It was our preference to schedule in-depth interviews

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The researchers chose not to separate or remove parents from the sample. In fact, prior CSH research has suggested a broadened definition of community partners including parents and families is needed (Neely et al., 2020).

with all participants, but flexibility was required within this community-engaged research. Many participants recommended in the snowball sampling method were local business owners with limited availability in their schedules, thus, we worked with participants to accommodate their schedules and adapted the interview guide to ensure they could still meaningfully participate. We included these interviews in our dataset to honour participant time, regardless of interview length. These individuals are included in the final sample of 17 and these interviews ranged from 4-6 minutes. While short, these interviews were successful in generating quality data as they were focused and centered on three critical questions identified and adapted in a modified short version of the interview guide (see Appendix A).

Contextual information from documents supplemented data generated in interviews with community partners. This data assisted in providing a historical account (10+ years) of APPLE Schools, which helped to detail APPLE Schools' expansion in the community over time. Further, this data provided an understanding of the cultural, economic, and political context that currently supports healthy school communities. The document scan involved a manual search of school district websites, school websites, school social media accounts (i.e., Twitter, Instagram, Facebook), APPLE Schools website, local newspapers, and municipal government websites. See Table 2 for the list of documents. The scope of the search included active documents (most current) and historical documents (2011-present) that specifically mentioned "APPLE Schools", "school/child health", or aspects of a "healthy school community". Additionally, documents that addressed a topic that is directly related to the health or wellness of the school community (e.g., health behaviours, health promoting environments) were included. Data gathered from documents was stored in a data matrix in Excel. The documents gathered allowed interview data to be contextualized and helped to verify findings (Bowen, 2009).

Document type (included in the scan)	Number of
	documents
School district Healthy School policies	2
APPLE Schools annual reports	13
Local newspaper articles	4
Census data	2
Municipal government guidance documents and plans	3

Table 2. Documents included in the document analysis

#### 4.2.4 Data analysis and rigour

All interviews for this study were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. Data analysis was inductive and iterative and began once the first data were generated and continued throughout data generation. To promote an inductive analysis, no a-priori frameworks were applied. During analysis, transcripts and documents were compared to verify the information. Reflexive thematic analysis was used and followed the steps outlined by Braun and Clarke (2019): 1) data familiarisation and writing familiarisation notes; 2) systematic data coding; 3) generating initial themes from coded and collated data; 4) developing and reviewing themes; 5) refining, defining and naming themes; and 6) writing the report. The researcher who led the interviews also transcribed interviews. This served as the initial step of data analysis and notes were taken as ideas and data linkages started to occur. Next, the researcher conducted systematic coding of all transcripts. Codes and categories were developed, organized, and given a description using NVivo analytic software (Q. S. R. International, 2021). After the first round of systematic coding, the researcher reviewed the code and category descriptions and reassessed the similarities and relevance to the research objective. Some codes were removed, and others were condensed into existing categories. Initial themes were then drafted, and the researcher assessed the fit of categories in relation to the themes. After reflection, themes were further modified, and lastly a narrative description and name were created for each theme. Throughout analysis,

transcripts and documents collected in NVivo were compared to verify the information. Additionally, memoing, the process of recording ideas, reflections and key decisions (Mayan, 2009) was used to record ideas, reflections and key decisions made during interviews, document analysis, and thematic analysis.

To ensure methodological rigour, Lincoln and Guba's (1985) criteria for trustworthiness guided the research. Credibility, the accuracy of data representation, was ensured through researcher reflexivity including peer debriefing amongst researchers throughout data generation and analysis, as well as triangulation of data. To promote transferability, purposeful sampling (including adequate sampling reach) and multiple data sources were used to situate contextual knowledge for the case. Methodological coherence and the use of an audit trail further ensured dependability with a record of decisions made (including how and why). Lastly, confirmability, logical findings grounded in data, was supported by the iterative data analysis process, peer debriefing, triangulation, and an audit trail.

#### **4.2.5** Positionality

This research is part of a doctoral student's larger qualitative research study examining school and community connections in CSH interventions and reflects their broader interest in integrating education and health sectors to improve the health and wellbeing of children. This period of study and prolonged engagement in CSH implementation research ensured a rich foundational understanding of implementation processes and informed data analysis. The first author, a white Canadian female, conducted interviews and led data analysis. This individual was an outsider to the community (though lived in the same province), which may have provided enough separation to discuss experiences with a degree of confidentiality, or it may have influenced the level of trust felt by participants and the extent they spoke freely during
interviews. The interviewer's gender may have also influenced a difference in responses between genders with females perhaps feeling more comfortable to participate. The researcher's own interpretations of the data and identified themes are the result of their relationship to the data.

# 4.3 Results

In this study, researchers identified three main themes that described the impact of APPLE Schools on the community environment from the perspective of community partners. It was clear that a catalyst of change needed to occur before the impact of change was felt by the community. Therefore, the themes represented a stepped approach that built off each other: 1) Foundation: establishes a healthy school culture; 2) Action: tying the work of schools and communities together; and 3) Impact: changes in school practices ripple out to promote health in the community. Underlying all the themes was participants' perspective of the positive impact of APPLE Schools. Efforts to promote health using a strengths-based approach created better opportunities and support for children to thrive. This was seen as doing something good in the community and the positivity was a grounding element of what generated community support. As one participant shared, *"the positivity is the biggest reason that community partnerships see the success and want to work with the program.*" (P17) The results are visually represented in Figure 1 and include sub-themes from each of the three main themes.





# 4.3.1 Foundation: establishes a healthy school culture

APPLE Schools promotes healthy children in healthy school communities and these values were communicated and shared with the broader community outside of the school. Three subthemes demonstrated the ways in which APPLE Schools established a healthy school culture.

# 4.3.1.1 Schools generate awareness

Through ongoing communication, participants felt the community became aware of APPLE Schools and what APPLE Schools promoted in schools (i.e., wholistic health supported by the school environment and culture). In part, this awareness was due to the size of the population and the number of students attending school, as described by the child and youth manager of a crisis prevention organization: "*I think it's just become really well known overall,* 

*just based on the number of kids here. There's a lot of kids here in [the community], which trickles through the community.*" (P9) This fostered greater awareness of what was happening within schools and emphasized the importance of taking a CSH approach to the community.

Consistent communication from all schools through school websites and social media channels shared the health promotion activities occurring in schools. The knowledge gained about wholistic health and how wellness was embedded in the school culture was shared from the perspective of a community partner and parent: "*this approach to you know, all these different aspects of health like mental wellbeing, you know, healthy eating and physical activity, it's just really ingrained into the school culture and the school environment. It's seen as a priority*." (P6) The values of APPLE Schools were perceived as a commonality that was expected in all schools by parents and community partners. This commonality set expectations of what a healthy school community does and what promoting wholistic health looks like.

The more schools that joined APPLE Schools, the greater the support that was received. The momentum of APPLE Schools grew as more people took part and built more excitement around the positivity of the intervention. A superintendent witnessed the growing momentum across school communities and noticed more people wanting to take part. From the school district level, a superintendent said "*I think the community is quite aware of what APPLE Schools is all about. And they might send me an email and say, 'Hey, can we come into your schools and do this? It fits this piece of APPLE Schools'. So they know. They're looking and seeing how they can align to that or how they do align to that.*" (P8)

# 4.3.1.2 Community sees changes in real-time

An important part of how APPLE Schools "established a healthy school culture" was allowing community partners to see what a healthy school looked like by visiting an APPLE School and deepening their engagement to the school. APPLE School staff reported that this was a common practice to invite new and existing partners to schools. As described by one participant: "Oftentimes potential partners who will work with us, be it a volunteer or if they'll donate money to the program, they'll come and they'll actually do a school tour, just to see what APPLE Schools do and put what we are speaking about to actual practice." (P17) This provided an opportunity for connection and a way to show the positive impact of APPLE Schools and show how their contributions made a difference.

Stemming from this knowledge and awareness of health promoting practices in the school, and because community partners were embedded in the schools through regular visits, they noticed differences in the students' behaviour over time. A community partner leading a basketball program in the school noticed a change in students' *"confidence and physical activity level [are] probably the two biggest things, but overall general happiness levels in the programs you can see improvements in that.*" (P1) Community partners noted the shift more broadly in the whole school environment that fostered student's behaviours, noticing changes such as healthy snacks and increased water consumption. One community partner said the biggest shift they noticed was: *"kids drinking water more than I've ever seen them drinking water before. You know young kids in grade one and two and stuff like that.*" (P2)

Community partners saw the culture shift that was happening, and seeing positive changes encouraged them to keep connecting to schools and donate time, money, or needed supplies. The close involvement in the school, offered meaningful connection to the school.

# 4.3.1.3 Schools are valued as a place to promote health equity

Community partners shared how supporting the healthy development of children and instilling optimism and hope for future generations was their motivation to support APPLE

Schools. The early school ages were viewed as a desirable time to enact change to child's health and learning trajectories. A grocery store manager expressed their reason for supporting schools *"We do a lot for the schools...I mean these children are our upcoming generations. You want to support them as much as possible."* (P15) Even companies and organizations outside of the health and wellness sector were willing to get involved and contribute to healthy school efforts. One School Health Mentor shared, *"companies and organizations that aren't directly related to the health and wellness field [car dealerships and oil companies], still value the importance of building that relationship and promoting a healthy environment for the students."* (P17) APPLE Schools culture promoted health equity among children and community partners valued this aspect. Community partners valued doing what was best for children and recognized the importance of creating equitable healthy school communities through a program like APPLE Schools, as shared by the Executive Director of the local food bank:

"I think that overall, if you can continue to have healthy kids, or as healthy as you can get them in school, they're gonna learn better... I think the beauty of something like APPLE Schools to me though is it's a great equalizer at that child level when they are young... if you can get them young in that equalized thing and the kids that don't have get some snacks from the school, so they have the energy to keep up with their friends, the longstanding social impact, I think, and this is my own perspective and anticipation, is that it will break down barriers versus creating them at an early age." (P3)

The work of providing children with equitable opportunities to thrive was not done in isolation but with schools and communities together.

### 4.3.2 Action: tying the work of schools and communities together

Once the foundation of a healthy school culture was established (theme 1), community partners shared details about the interconnection of health promoting efforts between school and community. Three subthemes describe the action of school and communities working together.

# 4.3.2.1 Putting the pieces together

A vision of healthy children and youth in the community was held by many and recognized as meaningful work that extended from within the school walls to the whole community. A manager of a youth-focused non-profit organization found similar values in their work: "*it's really nice to see that kind of like reciprocation of like, this is how we build a community. And this is how we help children and youth thrive to be the best that they can.*" (P10)

When APPLE Schools took root in the community, it brought many siloed conversations together and fostered collaborations that supported healthy children in healthy schools. A collaborative, The Healthy Schools Initiative, was formed by partners from a variety of sectors including health, municipal government, recreation, education, and non-profits and this group brought APPLE Schools to the conversations happening about children in the community. The regularly scheduled meetings of the Healthy School Initiative were noted by a Health Promotion Facilitator as "*an opportunity for everyone to go around and share what's happening within their area in terms of wellness, whether it's in their organization or in their school, depending on whether you're a community partner, school partner.*" (P13) Each partner brought different expertise, prior experience, and community knowledge that combined for a powerful promotion of wholistic health.

School and community collaborations were also bolstered by the support of both public and Catholic school districts. A School Health Mentor reiterated the impact of division-level support:

"Our division is pretty adamant on promoting health and wellness, it was one of our big three goals for a couple of years, along with literacy and numeracy, and healthy schools. So it is valued from the top at the superintendents, as well as something that is very important to promote. So I would say that it was developed in response to working with APPLE Schools, but also from the understanding that health promotion is as important as academics." (P17)

The school district level commitment to a CSH approach across schools was strengthened by overarching district policies on healthy school environments. Specifically, district level policies related to healthy eating, physical activity and active living, and positive social environments, were identified by the research team during document analysis. Participants referenced these healthy policies or 'guidelines' in different school settings (detailed in the next sub-theme) and during community interactions (detailed in the next theme).

# 4.3.2.2 Working together across education settings

Promoting healthy children and youth across all learning settings ensured that the positive work of APPLE was sustained. At first, APPLE Schools was only in place in elementary schools, but community partners spoke about how practices in APPLE Schools began to spread influence to early learning settings and high schools. These other education settings were not designated APPLE schools, yet these settings ensured their practices were a continuation of the APPLE values and messaging in the elementary school setting. Early education settings, including preschools and daycares, adopted similar practices to those fostered in APPLE Schools. People noticed how health promotion in schools was already transferring between families and school and home environments but wanted to make this a stronger connection. In preschools and daycares, education was provided to teachers around the values of APPLE Schools (i.e., healthy eating physical activity, mental wellness) and kits were provided to create healthier classroom environments, including games to be active and instructions to teach mental health initiatives.

These changes were further driven and supported by students, teachers, administration, and a superintendent who saw the value of what was happening in elementary schools. Students enjoyed and were advocates for the values of APPLE Schools. Students demonstrated leadership that others noticed, such as the superintendent: "we have a number of our students that were moving to the high school, and they were like, where's your APPLE team? …And so they, not all of them, but some of them are like, can we have an APPLE team? Why aren't we following APPLE policy? Why is it different?" (P8)

High school classes adopted practices seen in APPLE Schools, such as brain breaks, daily physical activity, non-food rewards, and healthy options in vending machines. Specifically, students learning the importance of healthy eating in APPLE schools and continued to make healthy choices at high schools:

"They're bringing with them that education, and that value of a healthy lifestyle. So even though they're not going into an APPLE School, the effects of being in an APPLE School is still seen within those schools, and it changes the way those schools operate...the cafeterias in the high schools have all modified their [food choices] cause they realized the kids aren't buying the foods." (P17) A high school teacher shared their motivation to continue APPLE Schools practices in their school as it could be led by students already well versed in making healthy choices:

"we saw the value in it, and the kids were already buying in and coming up to us with these sort of belief systems, if you will. And they were, you know, using the language and asking, you know, for some of these options." (P11)

# 4.3.2.3 Knowledge brokers between school and community to meet school wellness goals

Staff in APPLE Schools served as knowledge brokers and brought school and community organizations together which consequently forged partnerships. Within APPLE Schools, School Health Mentors are team leads that work with multiple schools and school authorities to support and facilitate health promotion efforts. This role was highly valued by community partners as it was a major connector to all the schools and deepened the community's understanding of APPLE Schools. APPLE School Health Mentors and community partners regularly connected which also helped support community businesses as APPLE Schools used the services provided by local businesses in schools.

Small business owners emphasized the importance of the School Health Mentor. For organizations with similar mandates, the alignment of work and values meant partnerships with APPLE Schools were beneficial to their work. A community partner described the focus on health and wellbeing in schools was a strong facilitator for their partnership: "*I think the initiatives of trying to make our youth healthier encouraged these schools to reach out to other institutions that were doing kind of the same type of work. So yeah, I think with the help of APPLE schools, it obviously created more opportunity.*" (P4)

The School Health Mentor had a direct connection to schools in the district and knowledge about school processes and policies, whereas small businesses were either lacking this connection and knowledge or did not have the time to make connections to each school in the community. The School Health Mentors had insight into the structure of the school system and levels of approval to get into schools. With this knowledge, they offered an ability to promote and support small businesses saying:

"There's so many kids here, there's so many schools, there's so many classrooms that [businesses] just don't have the capacity to kind of get all the information out there. So that's where we kind of come in as a supportive organization for the school." (P16)

APPLE Schools was described as 'a microphone' for community businesses and organizations with similar health promotion values (e.g., the local recreation and fitness centre). Because of the close working relationship with APPLE Schools staff, owners of small businesses did not have to spend time connecting with individual schools. One business used this time saved to develop more program options to offer to a greater number of schools, such as dance and yoga, and staff energizers.

Community partners shared the many ways they brought their expertise and offered programs and resources to better support students and staff in their wellness goals. These included programs and resources for movement, nutrition, staff wellbeing, leadership, land-based learning, and mental health. A director of a non-profit shared how their alignment with schools' goal of mental wellbeing and fostering a welcoming and inclusive environment was a strength: *"we focus a lot on developmental assets of youth, which, obviously schools do as well. So having these connections in the community and being known as a safe, inclusive space gives schools one more resource to be able to direct children to."* (P10)

The wholistic approach to health and wellbeing included the connection to resources to support physical, mental, and spiritual health of students. Fostering a stronger sense of connection to the school, a greater sense of inclusivity among students, and connection to land and Indigenous culture were all viewed as essential to wholistic wellness. As such, Indigenous teachings were brought into schools:

"This year, they had a group of Elders employed by the district. And we also have First Nation, Inuit and Métis coordinators at the school... They had land-based learning activities all through the year. I was just part of one where we went on nature walks with Elders, and they talked about the local plant life and, traditionally, what it would have been used for or what you can use it for now, and what's growing around us." (P11)

# 4.3.3 Impact: changes in school practices ripple out to promote health in the community

With an established foundation of a healthy school culture (described in Theme 1) and actions taken by both school and community to strengthen the work (described in Theme 2), community partners spoke to impacts that occurred in the community environment. In essence, a ripple effect was observed as learnings and practices from APPLE Schools were shared beyond the school. Two subthemes outline the impact of changed practices.

# 4.3.3.1 Changed practices in the community

APPLE Schools promotes healthy eating through the Alberta Nutrition Guidelines which aligns with recommendations established by Canada's Food Guide. A community partner noticed through their work in a community-based organization that healthy food choices were being talked about more often outside of the school by the students: "*so now they're bringing that idea home to mom or dad or their caregivers and saying, 'I really liked that'. And so... it just trickles*  *through the community that way through the kids and through parents.* "(P9) Outside of the school, parents shared their children were also making healthier choices at restaurants due to the exposure to healthier foods in schools. There were also recognized changes to fundraising efforts in the community, as sports teams no longer focused on chocolate sales.

Community businesses and organizations like grocery stores, restaurants, and the food bank, in partnership with schools, supported healthy eating, especially consumption of fruits and vegetables. Moreover, community businesses and organizations changed their daily practices to meet healthy school standards. Vendors in the community worked closely with a community dietitian and the School Health Mentors. Partnerships between grocery stores and schools were mutually beneficial. A School Health Mentor said it's "a win/win, they provide our students with healthy food choices, our students are enjoying the healthy food choices and learning from that, and the businesses are learning from that as well." (P17) Almost every school partnered with local grocery stores to receive generous discounts on purchased food or receive food donations. One grocery store owner shared how donations were a part of their standard practices and now they ask schools what aligns with APPLE Schools or donate specifically what schools request as healthy options. "We donate, of course, for the breakfast program. That's where the apples and the granola bars come in. And then we also sponsor if they're having a barbecue or any events going on with the school." (P15) A significant change was noted in that grocery stores started modifying their procurement processes in general to support the broader community needs. As indicated by one participant: "when some of those lists [healthy choice guidelines] came out with, you know, healthy snack options, I mean, our grocery stores would be sold out of the healthy options. So, they had to all of a sudden change the way they were ordering because the healthy options were now selling, right, which is huge." (P5) Community partners commented on changes they noticed in their day-to-day saying "*it does feel like a lot of grocery stores are getting more of a robust produce area and making sure that there is quality fresh products for the community to have accessible.*" (P3) This phenomenon extended to local restaurants, and vending companies who were long standing supporters of the school. These partners were open to modifying their practices to support the needs of an APPLE School. A restaurant chain manager shared:

"Honestly, we've always been part of a hot lunch program. We've always made pizzas for the school for years. But when the APPLE Schools initiative started, that's when we started bringing in the multigrain product for them to make sure that we still fit in with their criteria. We did hot lunches before, but we modified it to meet their program." (P14)

This change occurred to support schools despite the fact the restaurant did not carry menu items such as multigrain pasta or dough. The restaurant owner also shared their business added salad and vegetable options to their selection.

Change in the community was further driven by students. Participants spoke to the leadership fostered by APPLE Schools as students developed confidence and skills to lead initiatives such as morning announcements on topics of health or wellness campaigns. A School Health Mentor shared how Student Wellness Action Teams (SWAT) formed at the high schools were made up of students advocates that drove health promoting changes beyond schools. A specific example was shared from one of these meetings:

"One SWAT meeting we actually brought a vendor from [a local College], and they are the food vendor for the cafeteria foods. So the kids actually were able to have a conversation with him and they themselves said we're not purchasing this, this and this, because it's not healthy and we don't want this, could you provide healthier food

choices...So all in all, its education that's the driving factor in what's causing the change." (P17)

In a unique partnership example, the local food bank and school boards worked together to order cases of fresh produce and healthy snacks for the school. This change in ordering provided a better opportunity for schools. The manager of the food bank secured food at a better price and the change was a simple addition to their regular practice of ordering. The food bank also ensured the food they secured fit within APPLE Schools requirements for healthy eating.

Afterschool care settings and group activities held in the community were also impacted by the changes in schools. As a natural extension to what children are learning in schools, changes in after-school settings were made to the food served to align with the same food served in schools. The manager of programs at a local non-profit youth organization said:

"With our menus, it is 100% because of what is being modeled within schools...And it's a lot easier, why would we reinvent the wheel when we can just follow something that's been modeled so well for us already?" (P10)

# 4.3.3.2 Sustained impact

The longstanding impact of APPLE Schools was referenced by many of the community partners. APPLE Schools was viewed as a permanent approach by the community. Healthy kids and healthy schools set the precedent for schools and community interactions. Health promotion in the school environment was noticed to withstand changes even from community partners located outside the school in the health sector:

"we've had tons of turnover, especially with the Superintendent levels, but there's never a question of will this remain? It's part of, it's embedded into the school systems, right. So it's not it's like many other programs, they kind of come and go." (P5)

Furthermore, the community perceived the partnerships with the school and changes to community practices as stable. A community dietitian heavily involved with the process of helping restaurants and vendors meet healthy food guidelines remarked how "*we're in such a like, sustainable model now that I don't answer as many questions as you know, maybe the earlier years.* (P6)

Community partners spoke to changes that were made in their business or organization before they took their role, which were carried forward without question. These aforementioned changes included restaurants ordering different food, healthy food donations given to schools, and partnerships to deliver physical education programming. When APPLE Schools initially took roots in schools, there were a limited number of businesses that met the healthy schools' policies, however, after almost a decade, this is no longer an issue. A business owner and member of parent council, who was a part of the selection process of vendors for school hot lunches, shared there was a time they struggled to find any vendors that fit within nutrition guidelines, whereas now almost all vendors offer healthier options.

Overall, community partners reflected on the lasting impact left by APPLE Schools as a result of over ten years of working in their school communities. This was aptly summarized by one participant who shared:

"It's not even a question in my mind. It'll, you know, it'll change maybe a little bit over time. But I think it'll always be there. And what they've, what they've accomplished can't be erased. Like, there's always going to be that mark." (P5)

#### 4.4 Discussion

The results of this study show that APPLE Schools, a CSH intervention, has impacted the community environment and details the steps that occur before these changes take place. One

explanation for the impact was the implementation of the full CSH approach (i.e., all four components) along with the APPLE Schools model of support. This enabled the reach of APPLE Schools. In the initial step of building a foundation, the awareness generated and close involvement of the community in the school was an opportunity to demonstrate change taking place within the school environment (i.e., teaching and learning practices and changes to the physical and social environment). Many of the changes in the school environment observed by community partners are similarly noted through prior research with school staff (Klassen et al., 2022). As a whole, APPLE Schools was well received by the community, which led to partnerships, and is consistent with previous evidence demonstrating external partnerships offer expertise, funding, and resources (Coppola et al., 2019).

As part of the action of tying school and community work together, ongoing conversations about supporting children and youth were brought together cohesively. The School Health Mentor role was mentioned as a key factor in brokering knowledge, networking, and fostering partnerships. This finding is similar to other school-based health promotion interventions that report dedicated roles are needed to coordinate and strengthen partnerships (Barnes et al., 2013). These sort of health champion roles unique to APPLE Schools have been previously identified as brokers of health-related knowledge throughout school networks (Storey et al., 2021). The APPLE School Health Mentor role was supported by the school district (i.e., partially funded) which built capacity in schools to promote health and build external connections. Overall, school district level support as well as city-wide buy in supported changes reported in this study. This research confirms the need for school district-level support, as an essential condition of CSH implementation (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016). The district level support and all schools adopting the APPLE Schools intervention, ensured consistency in the implementation approach. Further, the Healthy School policies were well aligned with established recommendations for school and district policies to support CSH (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016; Veugelers et al., 2023).

This study showed bringing together the health promoting work happening in schools and the community resulted in positive shifts happening more broadly in the community. Instilling the value of health promotion within children enabled them to influence change similar to a previous study (McKernan et al., 2019). The demand that was created for healthy choices by the school community motivated businesses to change their practices. Consequently, more healthy options were provided to children, families, and schools in the case community. However, the way that APPLE Schools adapted to and impacted the case community may look different in a different community; for example, other research has noted differences in the approach taken in rural schools versus urban schools (Veugelers et al., 2022).

The APPLE Schools intervention determines a sustainable state as one where school efforts are maintained because they are embedded into day-to-day actions (APPLE Schools, 2021c). This sustainable state was referenced across the community partners. Despite external changes in the broader community, for example, staff turnover in organizations and environmental disasters experienced by the community, health promotion efforts remained strong. School and community collaboration is a key factor noted by (Oktari et al., 2018) to promote greater resiliency among school efforts. Further research would be needed to investigate this resiliency. However, the sustainability of APPLE Schools in the case study during times of upheaval may be attributable to the fact that APPLE Schools is well embedded and supported by many sectors in the community who all formed a working coalition for children's health. These cross-sectoral

partnerships were beneficial for schools and future research could analyze a breakdown of the sectors that support schools and the reciprocal impact by sector.

#### 4.4.1 Implications

Our results show that schools that take a CSH approach, with the APPLE Schools model can in fact reach the community environment and result in health promoting changes. This research provides evidence to solidify the school, home, and community connection and the influence of schools on the broader community. Further, this research demonstrates the importance of school district support towards the CSH approach and the support of district-wide policies that can align health promoting priorities across a setting.

Importantly, we have shown that APPLE Schools can have far reaching impacts to promote children's health and wellbeing at school and outside the school. Thus, when schools set priorities and values of health promotion, this research suggests it is possible for community practices to change to align with school efforts if there are strong connections. Community support should be leveraged by school administration and staff.

### 4.4.2 Strengths and limitations

A strength of the research was the breadth of community partners that were included from different sectors. Multiple data generation methods strengthened findings through a verification process and by completing document analysis between recruitment periods, a greater contextual understanding of the community was gathered confirming details shared in the interviews. This promoted rigour and trustworthiness. Focused ethnography guided a depth of insight into the phenomenon of interest in single community which was determined in consultation with APPLE Schools as the best approach. Despite the strengths of focused ethnography to this study, there are limitations that should be acknowledged. Data generation

focused on adult experiences and future research examining student experiences as it relates to the impact of CSH on the community environment could generate additional insights. More indepth data generation with some participants (i.e., the modified interviews) may have yielded additional further information. This research used a snowball sampling approach to identify who was impacted by APPLE Schools. It is possible there were community partners impacted by APPLE Schools but who were not aware and thus, were not included in this study.

# 4.4.3 Conclusions

This research provides compelling evidence for the reach possible when taking a CSH approach using the APPLE Schools model of implementation. With the support of APPLE Schools staff, the school community, the school district, and the broader community, health promoting initiatives originating at school influenced change in the community as well resulting in a greater number of healthy options and opportunities for children to make healthy choices.

# CHAPTER 5: RESILIENCY OF THE CSH APPROACH IN CANADIAN SCHOOLS THROUGHOUT THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

#### 5.1 Background

The school setting is an ideal setting to promote health as health and education outcomes are closely interrelated (Jourdan et al., 2021). Healthy students have shown improved academic performance and conversely students with strong academic performance have better health (Degoy & Olmos, 2020). Despite challenges in the school system throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, research related to the impacts of the pandemic has shown that health and wellbeing of students and staff can and needs to be a priority in schools moving forward post-pandemic (Russell-Mayhew & Murray, 2021; Testa, 2021). With the related and influential nature of health and education in the school setting, approaches taken in schools to promote healthy school environments are important to consider.

Settings-based approaches, such as the increasingly adopted Comprehensive School Health (CSH) approach in Canada, support wellbeing beyond the individual level, and instead takes a whole school approach addressing components such as teaching and learning, physical and social environments, policies, and partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Implementation of CSH is not a universal approach but does have core conditions for successful implementation (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016). A CSH approach supports unique school trajectories based on the outer context surrounding the school (e.g., community support) and inner needs of the school (e.g., demonstrated administrative leadership and dedicated health champions) (Storey et al., 2016) to embed health promoting culture into the school. School districts also have a role to play in supporting how capacity can be built to support wellness at the school-level (Montemuro et al., 2023). Connections to families and the broader community strengthen an intervention in the school and are transformative to school culture (Wellman et al., 2024), and building capacity and partnerships to the school are not only part of implementation but a key part of sustaining a culture of health promotion (Koh & Askell-Williams, 2021).

The response of schools taking a CSH approach during the COVID-19 pandemic merits a closer look at the ways that health promotion was navigated during the pandemic (e.g., virtual and in-person learning). In particular, research in the area of resilience through disasters explains how "the context—before, during and after exposure to disaster—appears to play many roles in the interpretation and response to disasters at multiple levels." (Masten, 2021, p. 3) As such, schools with embedded practices of health promotion may respond differently than schools without these practices during the pandemic. Evidence suggests students with positive attitudes toward healthy lifestyles fostered at school carried these throughout the pandemic while they were at home (Maximova et al., 2022). This implies the prioritization of health and wellbeing endured through the COVID-19 pandemic in some capacity in schools taking a CSH approach. This may be attributable to meaningful connections connection between school and home (Pattison et al., 2021). The impact of health promoting approaches must first reflect on the context of children's health and the school settings throughout the pandemic and why school-based health promotion is needed.

Changes to the school setting resulted in schools facing many added challenges to promote health throughout the pandemic and a greater number of health concerns due to the extensive impact of COVID-19 on everyday life. In Canada, schools and non-essential workplaces were closed during the first pandemic wave in March 2020. In addition to school closures, recreation centres, childcare settings, and playgrounds were closed. Not only were

children's routines disrupted during the pandemic, but children's health and learning showed wide-reaching effects. During lockdowns and resulting school closures, students were expected to attend school online. Despite this expectation, it was not uncommon for teachers to report decreased attendance among their students and consequently, a loss of learning (Alvarez-Rivero et al., 2023). For some children the home environment was not conducive to learning online (e.g., lack of space, safety, access to internet) (Van Lancker & Parolin, 2020). Gaps in math and literacy skills are noted across students of all socioeconomic backgrounds during school closures (Van Lancker & Parolin, 2020). Though, disproportionately, academic performance of students from low SES were affected (Alvarez-Rivero et al., 2023). Pre-existing health inequities, such as food insecurity, worsened (Van Lancker & Parolin, 2020). Throughout the pandemic, increased mental health concerns of school-aged children and adolescents were also widely reported (Cost et al., 2022; MacDonald & Hill, 2022; Testa, 2021). Some students experienced the shift to learning at home as a time with lessened stress and anxiety (Cost et al., 2022; Maximova et al., 2022) whereas others, particularly those with an existing mental health diagnosis, showed signs of increased anxiety, irritability, depression or a deterioration of attention (Cost et al., 2022). The strained learning environment was not only felt among the students but also school staff, many of whom took on additional work during school closures and suffered added emotional labour and feelings of stress and burnout (Alberta Teachers Association, 2022). Teacher burnout and exhaustion was not a new feeling created by the pandemic but one that was exacerbated (Gadermann et al., 2023). The COVID-19 pandemic shows strong justification why the school setting is more desirable than ever to mitigate the social determinants of health (Testa, 2021).

In Canada, following weeks of school closures, schools attempted a return to in-person learning. Based on provincial/territorial and school district recommendations, elementary, junior

and high schools were provided guidance about a return to in-person classes while the subsequent waves of the pandemic loomed ahead. The resulting outbreaks of the virus in school communities led to a series of decisions to move between virtual and in-person learning to prevent transmission of the virus and keep children healthy and safe. Upon the return to inperson learning between Fall 2020 and Spring 2021, added public safety measures (e.g., cleaning and handwashing, separation of students into cohorts, physical distancing, and mask wearing), often fell to the responsibility of school staff (Pattison et al., 2021). These added health measures resulted in work that further contributed to stress and burnout among teachers (Alberta Teachers Association, 2022). The exacerbated health inequities experienced by children and teacher and staff burden during the pandemic is further justification for an integration of health and wellbeing supports into school communities is needed (Gadermann et al., 2023). Schools hold an important role to support health and learnings for students. Promoting health in schools offers a pathway to support children's health, wellbeing, and academic learning (Jourdan et al., 2021). Thus, schools that mitigated pandemic-related challenges and continued to promote a healthy school need to be further studied.

It is well-established in the literature that school settings which provide a healthy social and physical environment supports both the health and learning outcomes of students and help children to thrive (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016; Langford et al., 2014; St Leger, 1999). As well as within the physical and social environment of the school, established safety policies, professional development opportunities for staff to support students, and strong relationships between school and home are equally important post-pandemic (Pattison et al., 2021). This closely aligns with CSH's foundational components (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016) and suggests that schools already well-established in their CSH implementation

efforts, may have been able to navigate the promotion of health and wellness throughout the pandemic. Schools that have administrative leadership, higher level support (i.e., district level), professional development for staff, and community support have achieved several conditions for successful implementation (Storey et al., 2016). Moreover, building social capacity and buy-in of the school community (Stolp et al., 2015) and embedding structural supports into the school culture and environment (McIsaac et al., 2017) are meant to be long-lasting and endure changes to the school environment.

There is a need to explore how health promoting schools, especially those that have met conditions of successful implementation, navigated the pandemic. By exploring school-level experiences, we can increase our understanding of health and wellbeing supports to mitigate future disaster impacts on school systems and health promotion endurance. As such, the research objective of this study was to understand if and how schools that take a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity.

### 5.1.1 APPLE Schools

APPLE Schools (<u>A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in Schools</u>) is an evidence-based, innovative, and globally recognized health promotion intervention that is implemented in 100 elementary and high school communities in Alberta, the Northwest Territories, Manitoba, and British Columbia (APPLE Schools, 2024) and impacts the lives of over 33,000 Canadian students annually. APPLE Schools began in 2007 in 10 schools and has continually expanded to new schools in new regions across Canada. The APPLE Schools intervention uses the CSH approach to create a health promoting school culture by promoting healthy eating, physical activity, and mental wellbeing among students. The APPLE Schools model of implementation includes a dedicated role to lead and inspire health promotion change

(i.e., a School Health Facilitator), as well as funding, professional development, materials and resources, ongoing support from APPLE Schools staff, and continued research throughout implementation. Research and evaluation are a key component as APPLE Schools expands into new regions across Canada. To provide insight into facilitators and barriers in new contexts, process evaluation occurs and is often focused on the experiences of the school community, who are key to health promoting efforts in the school.

#### **5.2 Methodology**

This research was informed by a constructivist approach. This approach encompasses a relativist ontology and subjectivist epistemology (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994). This process of inquiry and knowing recognizes the unique realities experienced by individuals and the researcher and is greatly shaped by the interaction between participants and researcher during data generation (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994; Lincoln & Guba, 2013). This approach results in cocreated knowledge among participants and researchers (Lincoln & Guba, 2013; Mayan, 2009).

#### 5.2.1 Qualitative description

A qualitative descriptive method informed this research study. This method guided a naturalistic form of inquiry described by Sandelowski (2000) and is helpful to understand experiences or events that occur. Qualitative description was the most suitable method to capture school staff perspectives of health promotion during the COVID-19 pandemic as the events that occurred in schools were complex. The guiding method is well aligned to broadly answer questions 'who', 'what', and 'where' (Sandelowski, 2000). The aim of this study was to provide a retrospective narrative of school experiences describing and explaining how schools taking a CSH approach adapted and sustained efforts to promote healthy school communities during the pandemic.

The research for this study occurred as one part of ongoing APPLE Schools process evaluation at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic (early 2020-2021). The process evaluation of APPLE Schools' was examining CSH implementation in rural and remote communities in Canada, which naturally aligned with understanding how CSH implementation was affected during the pandemic. The researchers were able to use well-established school relationships from the process evaluation of APPLE Schools and ask additional questions to follow the progression of events in schools as they unfolded over a year-long period. The overall research approach for the process evaluation considered qualitative description and quantitative measures. This research is one part of the process evaluation that was qualitative in nature and the scope of this work was guided by qualitative description.

# 5.2.2 Setting

This research was with schools across western and northern Canada (i.e., British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba, and the Northwest Territories). At the time of this research, APPLE Schools had received federal grant funding to expand to 21 schools in rural and remote communities thus prompting additional evaluation of the implementation into these communities over a period of three years. These are referred to as 'expansion schools'. A total of 14 schools across eight school districts representing rural, remote, and urban communities were included in the study. The researchers undertook maximum variation sampling with phenomenal variation seeking variation in school locations, size of schools and schools with and without health and wellness policies. Schools were also varied in the length of time implementing CSH. This sampling technique is especially useful in qualitative descriptive methods to create a rich summative description of the events (Sandelowski, 1995, 2000).

#### 5.2.3 Participants

Within the 14 selected schools, school staff who fit the health promotion champion role were identified and were purposefully sampled as they are key to implementation efforts and who were fundamental health promoters through the pandemic. In collaboration with the APPLE Schools implementation team, School Health Facilitators and engaged school staff acting as health champions (e.g., school principals, teachers) were recruited directly by APPLE Schools implementation staff. Selected school staff were invited by email to participate in an interview or focus group, as well as encouraged to invite others in the school in a health champion role. Participants included 22 total participants which is similar to reported qualitative descriptive studies (Kim et al., 2017). Two individuals participated in both focus groups in this study. Both dedicated teaching staff in champion roles (n=19) and principals (n=3) were included.

### 5.2.4 Ethics

Ethical approval for this research was granted through the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board (Pro00035108). All participants provided verbal consent during the interviews and focus groups.

#### 5.2.5 Data generation strategies

Data generation occurred in a two-phased approach. Guided by qualitative description, between March-May 2020, both semi-structured interviews (n=9) and focus groups (n=1; 5 people) were conducted to understand implementation efforts of CSH in APPLE Schools. The one-on-one interviews were approximately 30 minutes and conducted over telephone or Zoom. The original purpose of the interviews was to understand school and community impact in schools taking a CSH approach. This adapted to also understand the influence of the pandemic on the school environment. The focus group conducted was one hour in length (occurred over the lunch hour of a school day) and took place over Zoom. The purpose of the focus group was to further explore school and community impact in schools taking a CSH approach with additional questions added to understand the influence of the pandemic on the school environment. The researchers felt this warranted further investigation as the pandemic unfolded. A sequential data generation strategy was identified using a guiding method of qualitative description to further study this through semi-structured interviews and focus groups. The purpose of the interviews and focus groups were to better understand the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health promotion efforts in schools and what were adaptations made by schools during this time. In the second data generation approach of interviews and focus groups (occurring between March-April 2021) school staff were asked questions about adaptations and pivots made by schools throughout COVID-19, their partnerships, and their surrounding context to the school. To accommodate participants during this challenging time, the questions were offered and completed in the following formats: semi-structured interviews (n=1), focus groups (n=1; 5 people), or an online survey (n=2). One-on-one interviews were approximately 30 minutes and conducted over telephone or Zoom. Focus groups were one hour in length (occurred over the lunch hour of a school day) and conducted over Zoom. The survey also had the same purpose as the interviews and same questions but was offered to be a more flexible and accessible manner.

# 5.2.6 Data analysis and rigour

Interviews and focus groups were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. In alignment with qualitative description, content analysis was used as the data analysis strategy. Data analysis was an inductive and iterative approach focused on describing the experiences of staff promoting CSH during the pandemic. Content analysis began with coding and data was examined across time points, school districts, and school roles. A line-by-line coding approach was taken initially

for each interview and focus group transcript, and survey responses. This followed the practices described by Saldaña (2013). Codes were then assessed for the fit in relation to the research objective and put into categories and organized using NVivo analytic software (Q. S. R. International, 2021). Analysis then progressed to categorizing meaningful clusters and creating themes. Memoing through analytical notes was done throughout data analysis. The primary researcher used memoing as a means to incorporate emerging ideas, trends, and questions into the coding process. Memoing is an analytic technique noted by Mayan (2009) which is helpful in the identification of emerging themes by posing questions and thoughts about the connections made to data in the analytic process.

To ensure rigor throughout the study several strategies were used following Lincoln and Guba's criteria for trustworthiness in qualitative research: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The respective strategies were integrated throughout this research as follows. The sampling was purposeful and varied in align with the method qualitative description which ensured a rich description and numerous perspectives across time to describe a coherent narrative of school experiences (credibility and transferability). Researchers undertook peer debriefing which also promoted credibility and concurrent data analysis during data generation as a means to promote researcher responsiveness and reflexivity. Researcher responsiveness prompts a closeness to the data process and ability to review and change course of the research when needed (Morse et al., 2002). The researcher kept detailed notes as data analysis progressed with self-reflexive questions and descriptions of modifications needed to the interview/focus group questions and the process of content analysis (dependability). The process of journaling was also used to meet the criteria of confirmability.

Journals are typically used to record the researcher's reflections (Mayan, 2009). This prompted changes to be made to the data generation strategy when necessary.

#### 5.3 Results

The objective of this study was to understand if and how schools that take a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity. Schools were resilient in their efforts to continue health promotion with a CSH approach and relied on established foundations built around the social and physical environment, teaching and learning, policies, and partnerships. Three themes identified through data generated at the school-level represent how schools promoted healthy school communities during the pandemic: wellness was already a priority, purposeful efforts to continue health promotion, and recognition that (a culture of) wellness extends beyond the school. The CSH foundations are incorporated throughout each theme.

#### 5.3.1 Wellness was already a priority

Throughout the responses of participants it was clear APPLE Schools was not considered an add-on but rather an integrated part of the school. Having dedicated people and time were key to have CSH embedded in school practices and made a school-wide priority. The dedicated role of the School Health Facilitator as part of the APPLE Schools implementation model was key to ensure health promotion occurred throughout school activities and incite student and staff buy-in. Participants across all interviews and focus groups echoed the belief that promoting a culture of health and wellness was well-established in their schools prior to the pandemic. This established foundation was shared aptly in the focus group with teachers:

"I think being part of an APPLE School prior to COVID was a benefit because I think if we were a new school entering into some of the some of the things that we've done in the past, I don't think that they would have transferred over, but I think because we have already built that culture within our school, it was easier for our staff and our students to make a shift and understand that with the cohorts, we can still do some of the same things that we've done before. It just going to look a little different." (FG 2)

Shifting health promotion efforts was only made possible as health promoting work had begun prior to the pandemic and was a shared responsibility among staff. A teacher shared how wellness carried on during the pandemic with buy-in and ownership of school staff "*even though last year was our first year like we had already a lot of staff buy-in even before we started. Everyone was so excited to be an APPLE School and I felt like we'd already got that ball rolling. So it was easy just to keep it going.*" (FG2)

Whole school efforts underscored the momentum of health promotion efforts rather than leaving the work to a small number of individuals. Both student and staff involvement were key. A School Health Facilitator shared how they felt about the work of promoting CSH throughout the school: "*it's such a group effort, so we kind of just coordinate stuff, but really everyone's already doing so much APPLE stuff that it kind of makes our job easy.*" (I5)

Pre-established whole school activities were able to continue during the pandemic and included dedicated health and wellness time – a key component of the social environment and teaching and learning practices of the school. As an example, teachers shared that they led monthly campaigns or 15 minutes of 'APPLE time' (i.e., learning resources/time dedicated to a topic of health or wellness). This work was broadly supported by each schools' role of School Health Facilitator and was heavily relied on throughout the pandemic. A teacher holding a School Health Facilitator role described their perseverance: *"I would join their classroom. And* 

I'll ask the teacher if I could get like to get like 15 minutes to share some APPLE school. And then the next day with a different classroom. So I just want to share some help with you."

Beyond support at the school-level, several school districts were mentioned in this study as having an explicit policy to promote school wellness. This was mentioned by some participants as being a critical factor as to why wellness in the school was such a prominent focus: "I think the fact that it's not just a school initiative, it's a whole district initiative as well, and that there's support, like there is the APPLE Schools representative for your school, and there's also our Apple's liaison" (I4). Even in schools without district-level policies, school-level wellness policies were mentioned in several the interviews. A teacher substantiated this by detailing "every school develops their own health and wellness policy, or guidelines, whatever you want to call it" (I6). Wellness policies and practices set out in written and agreed upon documents at the school level were essential during times of school upheaval. A principal shared the experience of a previous adverse event in their community; a wildfire evacuation, which led to the school employing trauma-informed practices and wellness initiatives. During the pandemic, schools leaned back on these wellness supporting practices and used strategies to address mental health concerns: "we're really going to have to revisit all those trauma informed practices that we learned after the fire when the kids come back [to the school]" (I7)

From the initial start of becoming an 'APPLE School', schools made health promoting changes, such as healthy school policies, dedicated learning time, support for staff, and healthy physical spaces in the school. Looking back, after recognizing the increased needs of the school community and having a path to address health and wellbeing concerns, a teacher shared "*we see now as being a part of it, wow, this has a real, definitive role within our school*" (18). With

health and wellness at the front of mind, the need to maintain health and wellness priorities during the pandemic was apparent.

#### 5.3.2 Purposeful efforts to continue health promotion

Schools demonstrated a commitment to CSH through purposeful efforts to promote health and wellness for the whole school community during the upheaval of the pandemic. This dedication helped schools focus on supporting the school community in whatever ways they could. Promoting CSH initiatives throughout the pandemic was described as "*a big learning curve*" in the focus group with teachers as many challenges were navigated. It was also expressed how the resilience of health promotion was partly attributed to the efforts of dedicated health champions in the schools who arose to the new challenges presented: "*it's just amazing how all the health facilitators have just stepped outside of their box and how we've been able to still bring the awareness of mental health to students and staff, and just get creative with our daily physical activity and our nutrition and everything*" (FG2). Schools and School Health Facilitators were supported throughout this time by APPLE Schools staff and resources provided "I really enjoyed the APPLE [newsletter]. I get a lot of ideas from there. And yeah just appreciate all the support from colleagues and APPLE." (FG2).

Essentially the foundational components of the CSH approach provided the schools with a scaffold to continue to guide their efforts and pivot well-established practices while modifying practices, if needed, to meet public health directives. Throughout all schools there was continued health promotion efforts to promote healthy eating, physical activity, and mental wellness. One school Health Facilitator shared the ways they carried on what they were already doing prepandemic: "we continued the 'Don't Walk in the Hallways', the water bottle program, apple snacks for kids, breakfast for children who need it, daily physical activity bins for classroom use, mental health bins for classroom use, the announcements and bulletin board." (S1). Nonetheless, in many ways, schools were challenged to adapt their efforts to the changing health directives (e.g., cohort separation and added sanitization measures). While healthy eating was still a priority for many schools, snacks and meals had to be individually prepared, packaged, and delivered. This fell to the responsibility of School Health Facilitators, as stated by one: "we do the [fruit] bins too in the classrooms, but I'm the one who has to wash the fruit, I'm the one who has to bag it all, get it all ready" (FG2). This staff burden resonated with many School Health Facilitators in the focus group: "Our kids used to be able to come down and get breakfast. That's another change that we had to adapt to because they don't want all the kids coming down and congregating together so now, we have two staff members that go around and deliver breakfast to all the classrooms so it takes more time" (FG2). As schools adapted to the changes required throughout the pandemic, so did the activities in schools based on what worked best. In one school community, the fruit bins in individual classrooms worked well and was able to be adapted so that students could be involved in preparing the food. A School Health Facilitator shared "our teachers and our students really appreciate the fruit in the classroom, so classes have taken it on now themselves. So every week a different group goes in and prepares it, they wash it there's been a list of successful things that have worked so we continue to do that." (FG2).

Despite the fact that adhering to the public health directive to separate students into cohorts made physical activity challenging, in several cases, spaces in the school were repurposed for physical activity spaces (e.g., using the lunchroom or hallways. A teacher shared "what we've done is we've tried to create different areas in the school where kids can get physical and then they can join in with their different cohorts at different times of the day." (FG2). Not only did schools create spaces for students to use, but also staff. A School Health Facilitator spoke to one idea they brought to life:

"I found this year, especially mental health for our staff, they are under so much pressure, and these teachers are trying their best and, yeah, it's just been a real struggle so we're not using our library, so we've actually set up our library as a mini gym for staff and students. Staff are using it a lot you know before and after school even on their preps, so we have a treadmill in there, we have an elliptical, and we also have a stationary bike.

And it's just a spot for them to go and relax you know relieve some stress" (FG2). Other schools shared examples of how they found success adhering to social distancing practices by leading outdoor physical activity such as hiking, snowshoeing, cross country skiing. In particular, schools in rural and remote areas, voiced how they felt at an advantage with their vast outdoor spaces. A School Health Facilitator said: "*I think we're crushing it, we are a rural school and we have a very large playground, we have a skating rink, and class sets of snow shoes and skis and skates. So we are very active right now*" (FG2).

While having to navigate cohort separation, schools found creative ways to have student leadership groups engaged by making videos of supportive mental health strategies and having these shared within each classroom: "We have four different strategies for calming down and bringing mindful awareness and so we're going to do one each day and we've got the leadership students to make videos again. And so, myself and the guidance counselor direct the activity and then the students are doing it and then teachers can just put it on their computer and then lead their class with it." Despite staff and students physically being in the schools, public health measures prevented close interactions between students. Thus, schools held many virtual whole school events as a way to bring the school community together and continue a whole school approach to health promotion. Each class would sign on to Zoom so that each classroom and students were all together in the same virtual meeting space:

"We do Apple zoom every Wednesday morning we call it 'Wellness Wednesday'. And we all sign in together and then every classroom has their own camera so everybody can actually see each other and then we're interacting and we usually do some trivia, based on whatever our monthly theme is so like, February was healthy heart so I'd ask them questions and then classes would be, you know, hollering out the answers and then it was kind of a competition and then they got points and then their names were put into draws and so that's been really good just having the whole school involved but on a virtual zoom" (FG2)

This was even extended to connections between schools. One teacher shared "we're doing a virtual school powwow coming up in April. And we'll probably just invite our sister nations to our powwow, and it's all going to be through Google meet." The time and space for whole school events and wellness messages ensured student and staff health was a priority.

CSH efforts adapted to school needs during the pandemic and build off of what previously worked. As the pandemic progressed, many school staff spoke to a need to further enhance what was being done in schools when it became apparent the toll the pandemic was taking on the health and wellbeing of everyone. Additional efforts needed to be made to address this impact through both added initiatives and professional development. Responsive to the health and wellness needs of the school community, every participant shared a concern about the state of children and staff's mental health. As such, promoting and strengthening mental health practices came to the forefront of health promotion efforts both during at home learning and in the school. A teacher shared one example of how they promoted children's mental wellness "*I*
have something called Mindful Monday. And every second Monday during our last wellness break (we don't call it recess we call it wellness break). If kids want, they can come in and they can do a calming down activity with the leadership team and myself. And they like to come in and it might be like a mindfulness activity, or it might be a yoga activity, or it just might be a deep breathing activity for 15 minutes." In addition to concerns of children's mental health, staff were dealing with added stress of the school environment and on top on concern of their students. School Health Facilitators knew staff wellness was key to the success of a health promoting environment. For staff wellness, School Health Facilitators came up with creative challenges such as one example 'Wellness Ninjas':

"we all drew a name and then every month who's ever name you drew you buy them a wellness gift every month until June. And then in June we guess who our wellness ninja was, and we also have a bulletin board in the staff room where we thank our wellness ninja after we get a gift so that I know that everybody's gotten a gift every month...I know it just brightens their day right like we get bath salts or face masks or just making sure that our staff are taking care of themselves. So, because they're putting in a lot of hours at the school."

Further staff support was ensured by added professional development opportunities to support teaching and learning and health and wellbeing practices. One school shared how their professional development time for staff included yoga "*we have for some of our PD, one of our grade six teachers to do yoga. And so we did yoga, you know, two meters apart you can set up these yoga mats and could easily do that after school.*" (I10)

#### 5.3.3 Recognition that (a culture of) wellness extends beyond the school

Wellness is deeply impacted by the surrounding context of the school and the ways that wellness was promoted at school, such as providing healthy food and addressing food insecurity was maintained throughout the pandemic in the home. School staff recognized some children came from food insecure households and ensured the school environment was equipped with healthy food for children to access at mealtimes or food was sent home in food hampers to families: "we've been sending food home with ones that need it all year, we also do the breakfast program, and we have a lunch program". This practice carried on throughout the pandemic. Some schools provided food hampers and shared "since COVID happened we're sending out packages to parents that have healthy food, like this week that's going to be coming up is cereal, apples and milk. In the past we had gift cards, and another time our educational assistants made healthy pizzas for the families. And hopefully the money we'll be sending out some vegetables next time around." (FG1). These practices were uniquely based on the broader context outside of the school. For another school located in a remote community with one small, centralized grocery store, they found it easiest to pre-purchase food to be picked up at grocery stores by families: "We bought some cereals and milk, and we left it at the cashier in our Northern Store so the parents can go and get some for the kids. So I found that a very good idea for the kids to keep having some sort of a healthy breakfast meal at home" (FG1). Schools were primed to help support students' health and wellness at home during the pandemic because they were already taking a CSH approach.

Identifying as an APPLE School and promoting the values of being an APPLE School, encouraged schools to secure resources needed to provide students with access to healthy food at home. By doing this prior to the pandemic, the practice of applying to grants was a part of the

schools' annual activities and pivoted to continue supporting students at home. One School Health Facilitator shared how they were able to fund initiatives of sending food to families during the pandemic "*I don't think we would have probably done that if we hadn't been an APPLE School and already got some of the grant writing underway and we're offering meals and such so I think that was a really good thing for the families.*"

Schools taking a CSH approach carried forward teaching and learning practices and similar activities from the health promoting physical environment of the school to the home. Teachers created fun homework packages to encourage healthy eating and physical activity. One teacher shared "to encourage healthy snacking we provided information on "Rating your Super Snack" and provided all students with a snack in their homework bags." (S2). Equally as important as a healthy home environment for children, it was recognized that staff wellness needed to be encouraged and prioritized at home. A School Health Facilitator stated "We did a weekend wellness challenge and I invited staff to share a photo of something they did for wellness. And so we got a bunch of photos in and then I did draws. Anyone who submitted a photo went in for a draw for some wellness things like I had some herbal tea and some scented candles things like that, water bottles" (FG2). Part of the culture and environment of health promotion are the social interactions.

Daily interactions among staff and students are influential to the overall health promotion culture in a school community. In many different activities children were instructed to do at home to stay active, it was encouraged to have family participation (e.g., parents and siblings) to create more supportive environments for children. A teacher spoke to one example: "*every Monday I send information to parents of different links that they can go onto, like if it's a rainy day and the kids don't want to go out and play, that they can click on this link and then they can* 

do a mindfulness activity with the kids, or they could do a physical activity or a workout with the kids." (I9). School Health Facilitators encouraged fun physical health challenges, where students and their families could participate and then send photos to the school. These were ways the schools stayed in contact with their students and could ensure they were engaging in health promotion activities. In one focus group, a teacher shared "some of the [Physical Education] teachers and some of the staff members, and the principal, we dressed up and we made sure we were practicing social distancing, and we did a Richard Simmons workout dressed up, and then we sent it to all of the parents and kids" (FG1). Strong social connections between students and staff were maintained to promote health and wellness during at-home learning. Schools reached families and communities members through social media. Many schools relied on Facebook connections to share healthy learning activities. One teacher spoke to how their school used social media to extend the reach of healthy information shared "we also created a Facebook page for the kids, the parents, and the people of the community to go check and we put on it some resources, and fun activities regarding meditation, and physical activity, so it's a really nice way as well to get in touch with the kids." (FG1). Whereas, prior to the pandemic, people would have been invited into the school, virtual connections were made with families and the broader community "we are looking at connecting virtually with Elders and doing a virtual family games night" (S1). These connections fostered stronger partnerships.

As part of prior CSH efforts, partnerships were well-established and relied on through the pandemic. Community partnerships supported how wellness was promoted beyond the school. In many instances, partnerships were adapted during the pandemic to better meet the school's needs for additional expertise or resources to promote health and wellbeing. A School Health Facilitator commented on a number of existing partnerships that supported their health

promotion efforts: "One connection provided money for Milk Monday, one organization provided birthday books, one organization gave \$500 to each class for books, another gave each grade level money for materials" (S1). To meet emerging mental health needs of students, one school approached an organization in the community. The School Health Facilitator said, "we wanted to offer the grade 5/6 class mindfulness so we contacted an organization who could provide this activity via zoom" (S2). These connections ensured the priority of student's health and wellness carried on outside of the school.

#### **5.4 Discussion**

This research study demonstrated how schools taking a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity to promote healthy school communities. Schools were resilient in their efforts to promote health using a CSH approach throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. The components of CSH, namely, the social and physical environment, teaching and learning, policies, and partnerships were all adapted and sustained over a year-long period of CSH implementation including virtual and in-person classroom learning. Our findings highlight the important role of CSH in the school setting to promote health and education and was captured through school staff perspectives.

In this study, across all participants, it was re-iterated how wellness was already a priority in schools and evident in classroom time, school spaces, and leadership practices. The embeddedness of CSH culture and support of health promotion prior to the pandemic explains the resilience of CSH efforts as resilient systems have supportive social capacity (Masten, 2021). School staff in this research had built a supportive social environment with distributed leadership and were supported by APPLE Schools staff. Additionally, district wellness policies were found to be a factor that ensured the resilience of health promotion. This has been noted in previous literature examining higher level support at the school district or jurisdiction (Montemurro et al., 2023; Neely et al., 2020).

Because wellness was a priority within the schools in this study, several school staff shared examples how previous school flooding and wildfire evacuations primed them to navigate the upheaval brought on by the pandemic and meet the needs of the school community. The impact of disasters is a growing concern among school systems with the increasing prevalence of wildfires, flooding, and other weather-related events (Masten, 2021). Understanding how schools navigate adverse events is needed. Research in the field of resiliency by Ann Masten captures an insightful definition of resiliency: "the capacity of a system to adapt successfully to significant challenges that threaten the function, viability, or development of the system." (Masten, 2018, p. 16). As COVID-19 greatly influenced the school system and challenged existing health promotion practices, looking to understand resiliency is important. Common practices and language supporting health promotion within schools and school districts could be used as a form of emergency preparedness.

Health promoting activities and changes made to the social and physical environment of the school, prior to COVID-19, showed endurance. This supports well-established research citing the school environment as a critical component of health promoting interventions (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Teachers can best support student's health moving forward post-pandemic through the environment, curriculum, additional resources and professional development (Childs et al., 2022). The key role of the School Health Facilitator found throughout the pandemic was reiterated from prior research demonstrating the importance of this centralized role in health promoting efforts (Storey et al., 2021). While the School Health Facilitator did not lead efforts alone, and had the help of staff, staff burden of adhering to health

measures and promoting health was reported. This supports claims made in prior research (Alberta Teachers Association, 2022; Pattison et al., 2021). Other research supports this notion, and findings show a buffer to the stress felt by teachers can be a supportive education system mitigating teacher stress with mental health and wellbeing supports (Gadermann et al., 2023). The findings in this research highlight the need for CSH which can wholistically support the school community and environment through changes and stressors to the school system.

The importance of the collaboration between the school, home, and community is well known to support CSH (Epstein, 1995; Langford et al., 2014). In this study, the pandemic effects demonstrated the extension of CSH beyond the school to support health and wellness of students. Partnerships were affirmed to be key during the pandemic. Further, COVID-19 has shown the reliance on schools as connections to the home and community (MacDonald & Hill, 2022). The support of families, schools, and communities is tied to resiliency (Masten, 2021) and became critical links during the pandemic to promote CSH. This research showed during the pandemic, school-based efforts ensured students food security needs were met at home and secured partnerships to provide students with extra health services. Consequently, partnerships used as a 'bridge' to provide basic necessities and extra learning supports (e.g., technology) is reported to assist disadvantaged families (Testa, 2021).

# **5.5** Conclusion

In this research study, APPLE Schools taking a CSH approach had well-established priorities of wellness prior to the pandemic. These priorities carried on throughout the pandemic and put student and staff wellness at the forefront of health promoting efforts during school closures and the return to school learning. Health promotion remained a focus in schools' teaching practices and social interactions among the students while at home and the school

environment. Because of the nature of closely connected home, school, and community connection in the CSH approach, these relationships helped navigate health promotion during school closures throughout the pandemic.

#### **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION**

### 6.1 Summary of Findings

The overarching goal of this thesis was to explore the school and community connection for schools taking a CSH approach. This broadened to also encompass how schools taking a CSH approach (i.e., closely integrating school, home, and community into health promoting efforts) navigated the COVID-19 pandemic. Specifically, this research examined the exemplary CSH intervention, APPLE Schools, across school settings in Canada and explored these connections from the perspectives of both school staff and community partners. School community buy-in is a critical aspect of CSH implementation (Stolp et al., 2015) and as such, school staff hold key insight into health promoting work inside schools as demonstrated in this project. In this research, school staff led the exploration of changes at the school-level and demonstrated through an immersive walking interview the widespread change that occurs in the physical and social environment of the school to support health promotion. Through the schoollevel work, it was also apparent the influence of broader contextual factors. It is well known the school, home, and community efforts are jointly needed in a CSH approach (Epstein, 1995). Moreover, community partnerships are fundamental to support school needs and provide financial and human resources (Barnes et al., 2013; Coppola et al., 2019; Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). Community connections are key to CSH, but the impact on CSH practice has remained unclear. This research addresses this gap to investigate these connections and more wholistically understand the impact from the community partner perspective, whose view of the CSH approach has not been previously considered. With a greater understanding of the interconnected nature of school and community in practice, this research further investigates how adverse events occurring outside the school, but as a stressor to the school system, can be

navigated. This research contributes to a whole picture of CSH implementation in practice. The objectives of this research were:

*Objective 1:* To explore the influence of APPLE Schools on the school and community environments from the perspectives of school staff.

*Objective 2:* To understand if and how the intervention, APPLE Schools, has impacted the community environment.

*Objective 3:* To understand if and how schools that take a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity.

### 6.1.1 Objective 1 Summary

The purpose of objective 1 was to examine the impact of CSH to school and community environments from the perspective of school staff. A case study approach was used to explore multiple cases (n=5) that were purposefully selected. Guided by the method of focused ethnography, school staff (n=22) embedded in CSH health promotion efforts at the school-level in APPLE Schools provided insights through data generated in walking interviews within the school environment. School staff described changes in the school environment and identified ways their schools worked in partnership with local community businesses and organizations. The results of this study had four themes: 1) APPLE schools look different, 2) APPLE Schools build champions, 3) APPLE Schools builds community partnerships, and 4) APPLE Schools honours community culture.

School staff spoke to changes made in the physical school environment that prioritized activities such as physical activity, healthy eating, and mental wellbeing. Dedicated spaces in

classrooms and hallways and outdoor spaces were important to keep APPLE Schools' values at the forefront of the school community. Major changes were noted among food sold and served in schools in daily school lunches as well as holiday celebrations. Schools went as far as to shift celebrations away from food and toward movement-based activities. Physical activity permeated further into the schools' daily schedule and was incorporated into classroom activities so that student's learning was not restricted to sitting at a desk.

Staff felt the approach taken by APPLE Schools empowered the whole school community and led teachers, administration, students, and parents to become champions of health promoting change. Change that was originally led by the School Health Champion and supported by administration spread to be role modelled by others. With dedicated time and resources to make health promoting activities a priority, staff became more confident and supported changes. A health promoting school environment, and professional development opportunities were key to support staff buy-in. In school initiatives, student voice was critical during planning stages and to share healthy messages. These messages even reached the parents through information that children brought home from school.

A further support acknowledged by school staff were community partnerships. The identification of schools as an 'APPLE School' promoted values that community members were keen to support. Community support and partnerships provided resources to schools as well as financial support that led to greater longevity of school initiatives. Schools received food donations and assistance to prepare healthy school lunches. Particularly long-term partnerships between schools and community businesses and organizations supported sustainability of the CSH approach and took some of the workload off of the School Health Champion having to

constantly find and secure funds. However, this was noted to be difficult in some school contexts where the community was suffering economic downturn.

Lastly, the case study approach captured the importance of each school context to honour community culture. The historical legacy in some schools was impacted by residential schools and faced negative perceptions of the school environment. Thus, APPLE Schools then worked with the school community to work with the existing needs of the students and create welcoming school environments for students and families. Another core aspect was identifying wholistically how health and wellness could be supported and working with local community members and Elders to bring community and school closer together. In other schools impacted by the boomand-bust nature of the oil industry, or in remote regions, the cost of food and goods meant more work for school staff to ensure schools to obtain the necessary means to support student's health. These contextual factors were best understood and navigated by a School Health Champion who understood the geographical, historical, and sociocultural influences rather than an outsider to the community who would take added time to learn these. Altogether, the close integration of school and community reinforced health promotion efforts and led to changes in the school and community environments.

#### 6.1.2 Objective 2 Summary

The purpose of objective 2 was to understand if and how APPLE Schools impacted the community environment from perspective of community members. Data were generated through semi-structured interviews with community partners as well as through document analysis. Themes identified related to an overall process that supported the reach of CSH efforts to the community environment. Themes were represented in a stepped approach that built off one another: 1) Foundation: establishes a healthy school culture; 2) Action: tying the work of schools

and communities together; and 3) Impact: changes in school practices ripple out to promote health in the community. As an undercurrent throughout all was participants' perspective of the positive impact of APPLE Schools and the strengths-based approach taken by APPLE Schools. This was seen as a way to create access to healthy food, more opportunities for physical activity and connection to community resources that would support children to thrive.

Schools initially established a healthy school culture by generating awareness of what APPLE Schools promoted within schools. Consistent communication from school staff, students, and parents set common expectations that were held in schools and emphasized the importance of taking a CSH approach. As part of the CSH approach and partnership building, community partners were closely integrated in schools through school visits. With stronger engagement efforts, partners were able to note the positive effects on health behaviours in children such as their energy levels, confidence, and water consumption. These benefits witnessed by community partners instilled hope to create a better life for future generations to come, and motivated community partners to support schools and support equitable healthy school communities. Businesses and organizations that were outside sectors of health and wellness even contributed to healthy schools.

Building from a foundation of a healthy school culture, the vision of healthy children and youth was collectively held by school and broader community members. Collaboratively efforts were brought together from health, municipal government, recreation, education, and non-profit sectors. This was further supported by district-level policies in the community from both school districts. These policies related to healthy eating, active living, physical activity, and positive social environments tied efforts together cohesively. Some of this work and partnerships were brought together by School Health Champions who held a knowledge brokering role. This role was a key factor in the formation of partnerships. School Health Facilitators navigated the alignment of school needs with community services and resources and brought additional resources into schools to support health promotion efforts. Beyond the work that occurred in elementary schools (i.e., APPLE Schools), other education settings including daycares and preschools as well as the high schools adopted health promoting practices based on what was occurring in elementary schools. These changes were driven by students, teachers, principals, and superintendents demonstrating the high value placed on APPLE Schools.

The final 'step' noted was the positive rippling effect that schools had within the community. The impact felt by the community originated from changes made in schools, such as the need to serve and sell healthy food meeting provincial nutrition guidelines. As community businesses adapted their practices to partner with schools, grocery stores stocked a different variety of healthy foods and restaurants changed menu items to choices made with healthier ingredients (e.g., vegetables and whole grains). These changed practices effected not only the schools but the others in the community who were able to experience the same access to healthier choices. Afterschool care settings and non-profit led programming activities for children were impacted as natural extensions to the changes made in schools. These organizations closely aligned their food practices to mirror what was already being done in schools. Students were key drivers of these changes, and their advocacy influenced food vendors outside of APPLE Schools in local high schools. Ultimately, the changes that were made were part of the longstanding impact of APPLE Schools. Despite changes in the school system, such as staff turnover at school-level and school district-level, the community partnerships and changed practices were seen to be stable. Schools have more options to access support in the

community than ever before to promote healthy options for children and these health promoting practices are carried on in community businesses without question.

### 6.1.3 Objective 3 Summary

The purpose of objective 3 was to understand if and how schools that take a CSH approach have sustained and adapted their efforts in the face of adversity. Using data generated through semi-structured interviews and focus groups with school staff (n=22), questions sought to understand the adaptations made by schools to maintain health and wellness priorities during the COVID-19 pandemic. The period of data generation occurred over a year and captured changes navigated by schools, such as school closures, at-home learning and school re-openings. Three themes represent how schools promoted healthy school communities during the COVID-19 pandemic: 1) wellness was already a priority; 2) purposeful efforts to continue health promotion; 3) and recognition that (a culture of) wellness extends beyond the school. The CSH foundations (i.e., social and physical environment, teaching and learning, policy, and partnerships and services) were evident throughout each theme.

The establishment and integration of the APPLE Schools health promoting culture into the school environment was led by dedicated people and time which ensured health and wellness was a priority. School health Facilitators were key to initiate health promoting changes in schools, but student and staff buy-in were necessary to distribute the workload needed to promote CSH in ongoing years. Whole school activities and dedicated health and wellness learning time were influential to the social environment of the school and supportive of teaching and learning practices that embedded health practices into curricular elements. Addressing the health and wellness needs of the school community and setting out priorities led to pathways to purposefully continue these during changes in the school. More broadly, school district policies that promoted wellness set out critical documents to guide school level activities during school upheaval.

Schools adapted to promote CSH initiatives throughout the pandemic and the resiliency of these activities was partly due to the perseverance of health champions. The priority of health and wellness in schools did not change but the ways in which this promotion occurred, did change. Some pre-existing activities carried on while still meeting health directives (e.g., social distancing and added sanitization) such as announcements, bulletin boards, snack programs, physical activity bins. However, this created additional work for the health champions in the school. Other health directives proved more difficult to work with. Separation of students into small sized cohorts made physical activity challenging but schools creatively repurposed spaces within the school and led a greater number of outdoor activities. CSH efforts adapted to school needs (i.e., increased mental health concerns) during the COVID-19 pandemic while building off of what was already being promoted in schools (e.g., mindfulness or breathing teachings).

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, schools promoted health within schools, as they typically did, and also ensured practices that reached children's homes were strengthened too. Having been identified as an APPLE School that provided access to healthy foods, schools sent food home to families due to higher rates of food insecurity experienced in the communities. School staff even carried forward teaching and learning practices to promote healthy eating and physical activities at home and were designed to be inclusive of whole families to foster social support for children to carry on health promoting practices at home. These efforts continued to be supported by partnerships with organizations in the community. As such, the whole school approach of CSH was carried on throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.

### **6.2 Interpretation of Findings**

The findings from this thesis demonstrate a CSH approach, led by the APPLE Schools model of implementation, impacts the school and community environments. School staff and community partner perspectives brought together in this research have shown the health promoting efforts fostered in APPLE Schools extend with far reaching, health promoting impacts beyond schools that benefit children. Such impacts of the CSH approach include school environments that have a greater number of spaces to use for physical activity, dedicated learning time for mental wellness, and healthy food sold and served. Other impacts shared at the community-level were changed practices across all education settings in the community (i.e., daycares, preschools, afterschool care and high schools) as well as businesses and organizations that ordered healthier food to be stocked in grocery stores and changed menu items in restaurants.

This research further supports the interconnectedness of school, home, and community when taking a CSH approach and the added strength to school interventions when community is closely involved. Both school staff and community partners felt they had a role to play in supporting the healthy development of children. The findings from objective 1 highlight the embodiment of CSH to unique school contexts offers great success to meet school and community needs. When CSH approaches are adapted uniquely to each school community and work with local partners, effective solutions and practice-based changes are made to meet school needs. This objective showed the extension of CSH beyond school walls in the ways that schools worked with community partners and the reciprocal impact of the broader community on schools. Broader contextual influences outside the schools were also noted to play a large role in the ways that CSH was implemented in each school (i.e., geography, historical events, economic

climate). Though collectively across objectives, it was exemplified the importance of schoolwide buy-in, district support, and embedded health and wellness practices as factors that contribute to the strength of a CSH approach across all schools. Particularly, these were crucial when navigating changes to the entire school system (e.g., the COVID-19 pandemic).

Objective 2 further supports why school autonomy (an essential condition of CSH implementation) (Storey et al., 2016) and a pathway to build strong community partnerships reciprocally support health and wellbeing of children and community members. This study provided novel insights from community partners that showed the community-level impact of the CSH approach. Built off of the understandings in objective 1, the reach and impact of CSH outside of the school and specific partnerships beyond the school were detailed. The community-level perspective was continually cited as a gap in the literature prior to this study (Jourdan et al., 2016; Langford et al., 2017) and to our knowledge, this is one of the first to be published in the literature.

Lastly, objective 3 provides evidence that an integration of health and wellness priorities into school culture and environment, and strong connections to the home and community sustain CSH implementation throughout adverse events and changing environments. The results demonstrate the CSH approach taken by APPLE Schools can endure changes to the school system during adverse events, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, well-established school cultures that prioritized health and wellness were able to adapt and navigate changes throughout school closures, at-home learning, and the return to school with restrictive health directives. Overall, this adds to the literature demonstrating the effectiveness of the CSH approach and the impact on children's health promoting behaviours at school (Fung et al., 2012)

and health promoting behaviours at home (McKernan et al., 2019) and wholistically completes an understanding of CSH reach, impact, and sustainability.

## 6.3 Strengths and Limitations

Strengths and limitations of each individual study was provided in objective 1 (chapter 3), objective 2 (chapter 4), and objective 3 (chapter 5), therefore, overall the strengths and limitations to this thesis research in its entirety are provided in this section. This thesis demonstrated strength through rich descriptions in the results of each research objective and a purposeful and diverse sample across Canada. This was because of intentional efforts, such as close collaboration with APPLE Schools throughout each objective, to ensure purposeful sampling and multiple data generation strategies to detail context of CSH implementation. Relationships with APPLE Schools staff were built in objective one that fostered a greater contextual understanding of schools and shaped participant recruitment in subsequent objectives. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which occurred during the second and third research objectives, it was not feasible to conduct school-based research in the school environment. With the heavy burden faced by the school community as a whole (i.e., students, parents, and teachers), schools were not approachable for research purposes, nor were they allowed to let external members into the school environment. As a result, the children's perspective on the school and community connection has not been a part of this research. This research has implications for research, policy, and practice that will be detailed further.

#### **6.4 Implications**

The findings of this thesis provide a greater understanding of the impact of CSH approaches on the school and community environments and is one of the first studies to determine the reach of the CSH approach taken by APPLE Schools in Canada. This thesis has

shown that APPLE Schools can have far reaching impacts to promote children's health and wellbeing at school and outside the school. Schools taking a CSH approach, with the APPLE Schools model of implementation, can create health promoting school environments and practices that result in health promoting change in the community. This solidifies the school, home, and community connection which ultimately strengthens CSH theory and evidence. This research can be used to support everyday practices to integrate health promotion into schools and be used as evidence to advocate for greater support of school districts and district-wide policies to align support for the CSH approach.

This thesis will inform future research, practice, and policy related to CSH implementation but generally, will be useful to school communities looking to improve health promotion practices and better support health and learning outcomes of children. As shown in this research, CSH approaches need dedicated staff, resources, and time to fully change school culture and environments and when this occurs, the strength of health promotion efforts has great endurance throughout changes within and outside schools. Increasing school staff and school-district awareness of this research can further the uptake of this research into practice. The close connections with APPLE Schools in the research cultivated integrated knowledge translation throughout the thesis. This will be explored more below.

### 6.4.1 Recommendations for future research

This research filled a gap around the school and community connection and understanding about the impact to community through school staff and community partner perspectives. Notably, this research highlighted community partner perspectives, which were not present in published literature. While this thesis provides evidence into the reach of CSH within a select number of communities, future research should explore additional contexts at the community-level to better understand this phenomenon. Additional research should explore the student perspective of the school and community connection as students are recognized changemakers (McKernan et al., 2019; Neely et al., 2020). In objective 1, it was demonstrated that students do hold a significant role, which was further supported in objectives 2 and 3, as students drove health promoting change in high schools and exemplified leadership during the COVID-19 pandemic (Objective 2 and 3 findings respectively). Understanding student leadership of CSH efforts could yield additional insight into the reach of CSH especially at the community level, as it is already understood students translate health promoting behaviours into the home environment (McKernan et al., 2019).

#### 6.4.2 Recommendations for policy and practice

This research demonstrated well-established cultures of health and wellness in schools taking a CSH approach were supported through all foundational components of CSH: social and physical environments, teaching and learning, policy, partnerships and services (Joint Consortium for School Health, 2016). A key finding of this research is that this embedded culture allowed schools to maintain priorities of health and wellness during the COVID-19 pandemic. The ability for schools to navigate change with purposeful CSH implementation conditions, such as administrative leadership, dedicated health champions, professional development, and community support, reaffirms the importance of the essential conditions for successful CSH implementation (Neely et al., 2020; Storey et al., 2016). This provides greater knowledge into the sustainability of CSH approaches. These results suggest a greater uptake of CSH into school communities could be used as a pathway to promote health and wellness in schools during other disasters or disturbances within and outside the school system. Furthermore,

the importance of district-level support that prioritizes wellbeing is apparent and noted as a factor that can successfully promote cohesive expectations across the school community.

CSH does in fact reach the community and by taking a stepped approach as evidenced in objective 2, schools can find strength by building a strong culture of wellness as a foundation and working together closely with local community businesses and organizations. When schools set priorities and values of health promotion, the steps from objective 2 will help achieve more successful CSH practice. Importantly, this research suggests with strong connections, community practices have the potential to align with school efforts if there are strong connections. Thus, community support should be leveraged by school administration and staff. This can inform other school interventions and the expansion of CSH into both new and existing school communities. Particularly within APPLE Schools, the implementation staff are key knowledge users and advocates for advancing school and community partnerships in practice.

### 6.5 Knowledge Translation

An integrated knowledge translation (iKT) approach was used throughout the research with close involvement and collaboration with knowledge users, APPLE Schools. Regular meetings with the APPLE Schools implementation team comprised of the Executive Director, Implementation Manager, and School Health Mentors occurred to incorporate feedback into research and iKT processes. Knowledge translation efforts to share this research to school, academic, and practice-based audiences are underway. The findings of this research have been published in two peer-reviewed academic journals, which is evidence that APPLE Schools shares on their website as part of their strong research and evaluation component of implementation. Additionally, the findings from this research have been presented at seven conferences (five oral presentations and two poster presentations) to academic and practice-

based audiences, at local, provincial, and national levels. This research involved many school communities across western and northern Canada, but the findings are relevant to all schools taking a CSH approach. Two APPLE Schools evaluation reports have incorporated these findings and been shared to school communities with accompanying presentations to disseminate the research findings to the APPLE Schools implementation team. APPLE Schools will further assist in identifying presentation audiences and sharing reports within schools to principals, teachers, and staff, as well as posting reports on the APPLE Schools website and recognized communications platforms for the general public to view. Provincial audiences will be further reached through networks of Ever Active Schools and national level school audiences will be reached through the networks of the Canadian Healthy Schools Alliance and Physical Health Education Canada. In addition to reports and manuscripts already published, additional peer reviewed journal articles will be pursued to ensure that the results of this research are shared with more invested school audiences and the research community.

### REFERENCES

- Ahmadi, N., Black, J. L., Velázquez, C. E., Chapman, G. E., & Veenstra, G. (2015).
   Associations between socio-economic status and school-day dietary intake in a sample of grade 5-8 students in Vancouver, Canada. *Public Health Nutrition*, 18(5), 764-773.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/s1368980014001499">https://doi.org/10.1017/s1368980014001499</a>
- Akiyama, T., Njenga, S. M., Njomo, D. W., Takeuchi, R., Kazama, H., Mutua, A.,...Kobayashi, J. (2020). Implementation of Kenyan Comprehensive School Health program: improvement and association with students' academic attainment. *Health Promotion International*. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daaa005
- Alberta Education. (2017). *Working together to support mental health in Alberta schools*. Alberta Government. <u>https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/e403b1b4-4232-4a3d-a9d4-</u> <u>f01098218f9d/resource/91d0b431-5a3f-4192-af68-b35a427c817e/download/working-</u> <u>together-to-support-mental-health.pdf</u>
- Alberta Education. (2021). ECS to Grade 12 guide to education.
- Alberta Teachers Association. (2022). COVID-19, caregiving and careers of Alberta teachers and school leaders: A qualitative study. <u>https://teachers.ab.ca/sites/default/files/2023-05/COOR-101-37\_COVIDCaregiversCareersRepor\_%202022-01.pdf</u>
- Aldinger, C., Zhang, X.-W., Liu, L.-Q., Pan, X.-D., Yu, S.-H., Jones, J., & Kass, J. (2008). Changes in attitudes, knowledge and behavior associated with implementing a Comprehensive School Health program in a Province of China. *Health Education Research*, 23(6), 1049-1067.
- Alvarez-Rivero, A., Odgers, C., & Ansari, D. (2023). Elementary school teachers' perspectives about learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *npj Science of Learning*, 8(1), 40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41539-023-00191-w</u>
- Andermo, S., Hallgren, M., Nguyen, T.-T.-D., Jonsson, S., Petersen, S., Friberg, M.,...Elinder, L. S. (2020). School-related physical activity interventions and mental health among children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine - Open*, 6(1), 25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-020-00254-x</u>
- Anderson, M., & White, S. (2011). Resourcing change in small schools. *Australian Journal of Education*, 55(1), 50-61.
- APPLE Schools. (2011). APPLE Schools 2011 progress report. http://www.appleschools.ca/files/APPLEAnnualReport2010.pdf
- APPLE Schools. (2018). APPLE Schools 2018 annual report. http://www.appleschools.ca/files/APPLESchools\_2018Annual\_Report\_Web.pdf
- APPLE Schools. (2021a). A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in schools. Retrieved June 1 from <u>http://www.appleschools.ca</u>

- APPLE Schools. (2021b). *About APPLE Schools*. Retrieved June 1 from <u>http://www.appleschools.ca/about</u>
- APPLE Schools. (2021c). Building an APPLE School: a roadmap to sustainable healthy school communities. Guide to implementation. <u>https://appleschools.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Guide to Implementation Digital-2.pdf</u>
- APPLE Schools. (2024). A Project Promoting healthy Living for Everyone in schools. Retrieved July 1 from <u>http://www.appleschools.ca</u>
- Arnold, A., Patton, R., Pearce, E., & Whellams, A. (2012). *Framework for the Comprehensive School Health approach*. Alberta Health Services. <u>https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/school/csh/if-sch-csh-ahs-framework.pdf</u>
- Aylward, B., Cunsolo, A., Clayton, S., Minor, K., Cooper, M., Chatwood, S., & Harper, S. (2024). Examining the mental health impacts of climate change on young people in Canada: a national cross-sectional survey. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 8(S3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(24)00068-8</u>
- Bang, F., Roberts, K. C., Chaput, J. P., Goldfield, G. S., & Prince, S. A. (2020). Physical activity, screen time and sleep duration: Combined associations with psychosocial health among Canadian children and youth. *Health Reports*, 31(5), 9-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202000500002-eng</u>
- Barnes, P. A., Lohrmann, D., Shipley, M., & O'Neill, J. (2013). Indicators of partnership success among MICHIANA coordinated school health teams. *Health Educator*, 45(2), 20-30.
- Bartelink, N., van Assema, P., Jansen, M., Savelberg, H., & Kremers, S. (2019). The moderating role of the school context on the effects of the healthy primary school of the future. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(13).
- Bassett-Gunter, R., Yessis, J., Manske, S., & Gleddie, D. (2016). Healthy school communities in Canada. *Health Education Journal*, 75(2), 235-248. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896915570397
- Bastian, K. A., Maximova, K., McGavock, J., & Veugelers, P. (2015). Does school-based health promotion affect physical activity on weekends? And, does it reach those students most in need of health promotion? *PloS one*, *10*(10), e0137987. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137987
- Bedard, C., St John, L., Bremer, E., Graham, J. D., & Cairney, J. (2019). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of physically active classrooms on educational and enjoyment outcomes in school age children. *PloS one*, 14(6), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218633</u>
- Bentsen, P., Bonde, A. H., Schneller, M. B., Danielsen, D., Bruselius-Jensen, M., & Aagaard-Hansen, J. (2018). Danish 'add-in' school-based health promotion: integrating health in

curriculum time. *Health Promotion International*, *35*(1), e70-e77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day095</u>

- Blank, M. J. (2015). Building sustainable health and education partnerships: Stories from local communities. *Journal of School Health*, 85(11), 810-816.
- Blom-Hoffman, J., Wilcox, K. R., Dunn, L., Leff, S. S., & Power, T. J. (2008). Family involvement in school-based health promotion: Bringing nutrition information home. *School Psychology Review*, 37(4), 567-577.
- Bonell, C., Humphrey, N., Fletcher, A., Moore, L., Anderson, R., & Campbell, R. (2014). Why schools should promote students' health and wellbeing. *BMJ*, g3078. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g3078</u>
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(4), 589-597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806</u>
- Burrows, L. (2017). Children as change agents for family health. *Health Education*, 117(5), 498-510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/HE-10-2016-0044</u>
- Burrows, T., Goldman, S., Pursey, K., & Lim, R. (2017). Is there an association between dietary intake and academic achievement: a systematic review. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, *30*(2), 117-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jhn.12407</u>
- Caldwell, H. A. T., Faulkner, G., Tremblay, M. S., Rhodes, R. E., de Lannoy, L., Kirk, S. F. L.,...Moore, S. A. (2022). Regional differences in movement behaviours of children and youth during the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada: follow-up from a national study. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 113(4), 535-546. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-022-00644-6
- Canadian Healthy Schools Alliance. (2021). *Canadian Healthy School Standards*. <u>https://www.healthyschoolsalliance.ca/en/resources</u>
- Canadian Mental Health Association. (2023, October 17). Let the kids be who they are without fear. Retrieved July 19, 2024 from <u>https://cmha.ca/brochure/let-the-kids-be-who-they-are-without-fear/</u>
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. (2020). Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. <u>https://csepguidelines.ca/</u>

- Carpiano, R. M. (2009). Come take a walk with me: The "Go-Along" interview as a novel method for studying the implications of place for health and well-being. *15*, 263-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.05.003
- Carson, V., Kuhle, S., Spence, J. C., & Veugelers, P. J. (2010). Parents' perception of neighbourhood environment as a determinant of screen time, physical activity and active transport. *Canadian Journal of Public Health / Revue canadienne de santé publique*, 101(2), 124-127.
- Carson, V., Langlois, K., & Colley, R. (2020). Associations between parent and child sedentary behaviour and physical activity in early childhood. *Health Reports*, *31*(2), 3-10. https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202000200001-eng
- Centre for Surveillance and Applied Research. (2021). Canadian Chronic Disease Indicators Data Tool.
- Children First Canada. (2018, November 20). *The Canadian Children's Charter: A Call to Action to Respect, Protect and Fulfil the Rights of Canada's Children*. Retrieved from <u>https://childrenfirstcanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/CCCFinalRelease.pdf</u>
- Childs, T. M., Brown, E. L., Brown, N., Iachini, A. L., Phillippo, K., Galib, L.,...Fujimoto, K. (2022). A mixed method study of teachers' appraisals of student wellness services and supports during COVID-19. *Journal of School Health*, 92(7), 637-645. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13186</u>
- Coppola, A. M., Voils, A. L., Gafkjen, J. & Hancock, D. J. (2019). Partnership roles in earlylearning providers' healthy eating and physical activity programs: A qualitative study. *American Journal of Health Education*, 50(3), 190-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2019.1590262</u>
- Cost, K. T., Crosbie, J., Anagnostou, E., Birken, C. S., Charach, A., Monga, S.,...Korczak, D. J. (2022). Mostly worse, occasionally better: impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31(4), 671-684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01744-3</u>
- Craig, W. M., King, M., & William., P. (2020). *The health of Canadian youth: Findings from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Study*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/childhood-adolescence/publications/healthy-settings-young-people-canada.html</u>
- Curbing Childhood Obesity: A Federal, Provincial and Territorial Framework for Action to Promote Healthy Weights. (2012). <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/healthy-living/curbing-childhood-obesity-federal-provincial-territorial-framework.html</u>
- Dabravolskaj, J., Montemurro, G., Ekwaru, J. P., Wu, X. Y., Storey, K., Campbell, S.,...Ohinmaa, A. (2020). Effectiveness of school-based health promotion interventions prioritized by stakeholders from health and education sectors: A systematic review and

meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101138

- Daily, S. M., Mann, M. J., Lilly, C. L., Dyer, A. M., Smith, M. L., & Kristjansson, A. L. (2020). School climate as an intervention to reduce academic failure and educate the whole child: A longitudinal study. *Journal of School Health*, 90(3), 182-193. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12863
- Degoy, E., & Olmos, R. (2020). Reciprocal relation between health and academic performance in children through autoregressive models. *School Psychology*, *35*(5), 332.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Handbook of qualitative research. In E. G. Guba & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research*.
- Deschesnes, M. (2003). Comprehensive approaches to school health promotion: how to achieve broader implementation? *Health Promotion International*, *18*(4), 387-396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dag410</u>
- Dikkers, A. G. (2013). Family connections: Building connections among home, school, and community. *Childhood Education*, 89(2), 115-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2013.774247</u>
- Drisdelle, C., Kestens, Y., Hamelin, A.-M., & Mercille, G. (2020). Disparities in access to healthy diets: How food security and food shopping behaviors relate to fruit and vegetable intake. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *120*(11), 1847-1858. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2020.03.020</u>
- Durlak, J. A. & DuPre, E. P. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41(3), 327-350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-008-9165-0</u>
- Ekwaru, J. P., Ohinmaa, A., Dabravolskaj, J., Maximova, K., & Veugelers, P. J. (2021). Costeffectiveness and return on investment of school-based health promotion programmes for chronic disease prevention. *European Journal of Public Health*, 31(6), 1183-1189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckab130</u>
- Ekwaru, J. P., Ohinmaa, A., Tran, B. X., Setayeshgar, S., Johnson, J. A., & Veugelers, P. J. (2017). Cost-effectiveness of a school-based health promotion program in Canada: A lifecourse modeling approach. *PloS one*, *12*(5), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177848</u>
- Emily, J. D., Violon, N., & Jourdan, D. (2018). Implementation of health promotion programmes in schools: an approach to understand the influence of contextual factors on the process? *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-5011-3</u>
- Engler-Stringer, R., Shah, T., Bell, S., & Muhajarine, N. (2014). Geographic access to healthy and unhealthy food sources for children in neighbourhoods and from elementary schools

in a mid-sized Canadian city. *Spatial and Spatio-temporal Epidemiology*, *11*, 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sste.2014.07.001

- Epstein, J. L. (1995). School/family/community partnerships: Caring for the children we share. *The Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(9), 701.
- Epstein, J. L. (2011). School, family, and community partnerships: Preparing educators and improving schools (2nd ed.). WestviewPress.
- Evans, J., & Jones, P. (2011). The walking interview: Methodology, mobility and place. *Applied Geography*, 31(2), 849-858. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2010.09.005</u>
- Fariba, K., Forouz, N., Kyoung, J. Y., & Sangita, S. (2015). Understanding the social determinants of health among Indigenous Canadians: priorities for health promotion policies and actions. *Global Health Action*, 8(0), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v8.27968</u>
- Faught, E., Vander Ploeg, K., Chu, Y. L., Storey, K., & Veugelers, P. J. (2016). The influence of parental encouragement and caring about healthy eating on children's diet quality and body weights. *Public Health Nutrition*, 19(5), 822-829. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1368980015002049
- Faught, E. L., Ekwaru, J. P., Gleddie, D., Storey, K. E., Asbridge, M., & Veugelers, P. J. (2017). The combined impact of diet, physical activity, sleep and screen time on academic achievement: a prospective study of elementary school students in Nova Scotia, Canada. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 14(1), 29-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0476-0</u>
- Faught, E. L., Gleddie, D., Storey, K. E., Davison, C. M., & Veugelers, P. J. (2017). Healthy lifestyle behaviours are positively and independently associated with academic achievement: An analysis of self-reported data from a nationally representative sample of Canadian early adolescents. *PloS one*, *12*(7), e0181938. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181938
- Faulkner, G., Weatherson, K., Patte, K., Qian, W., & Leatherdale, S. T. (2020). Are one-year changes in adherence to the 24-hour movement guidelines associated with flourishing among Canadian youth?. *Preventive Medicine*, 139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106179
- Ferland, A., Chu, Y. L., Gleddie, D., Storey, K., & Veugelers, P. (2015). Leadership skills are associated with health behaviours among Canadian children. *Health Promotion International*, 30(1), 106-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dau095</u>
- Fitzgerald, E., Bunde-Birouste, A., & Webster, E. (2009). Through the eyes of children: engaging primary school-aged children in creating supportive school environments for physical activity and nutrition. *Health Promotion Journal Austrailia*, 20(2), 127-132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/he09127</u>

- Flurry, L. A. (2007). Children's influence in family decision-making: Examining the impact of the changing American family. *Journal of Business Research*, (4), 322.
- Fournier, B., Eastlick Kushner, K., & Raine, K. (2019). "To me, policy is government": Creating a locally driven healthy food environment in the Canadian Arctic. *Health & Place*, 58, 102138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.05.016</u>
- Frank, L., D., Adhikari, B., White, K., R., Dummer, T., Sandhu, J., Demlow, E.,...Bosch, M. V. d. (2022). Chronic disease and where you live: Built and natural environment relationships with physical activity, obesity, and diabetes. *Environment International*, 158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106959</u>
- Fung, C., Kuhle, S., Lu, C., Purcell, M., Schwartz, M., Storey, K., & Veugelers, P. J. (2012). From "best practice" to "next practice": the effectiveness of school-based health promotion in improving healthy eating and physical activity and preventing childhood obesity. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 9(1), 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-27</u>
- Gadermann, A. M., GagnéPetteni, M., Molyneux, T. M., Thomson, K. C., Schonert-Reichl, K.
  A., Guhn, M.,...Warren, M. T. (2023). Teacher mental health and workplace wellbeing in a global crisis: Learning from the challenges and supports identified by teachers one year into the COVID-19 pandemic in British Columbia, Canada. *PLoS ONE*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0290230
- Gadhoke, P., Christiansen, K., Swartz, J., & Gittelsohn, J. (2015). "Cause it's family talking to you": Children acting as change agents for adult food and physical activity behaviors in American Indian households in the Upper Midwestern United States. *Childhood*, 22(3), 346-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0907568214538290</u>
- Gall, S., Adams, L., Joubert, N., Ludyga, S., Müller, I., Nqweniso, S.,...Gerber, M. (2018).
   Effect of a 20-week physical activity intervention on selective attention and academic performance in children living in disadvantaged neighborhoods: A cluster randomized control trial. *PloS one*, *13*(11), e0206908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206908</u>
- Garcia, C. M., Eisenberg, M. E., Frerich, E. A., Lechner, K. E., & Lust, K. (2012). Conducting Go-Along interviews to understand context and promote health. 22, 1395-1403. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732312452936
- Genuis, S. K., Willows, N., & Jardine, C. (2015). Through the lens of our cameras: children's lived experience with food security in a Canadian Indigenous community. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 41(4), 600-610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12182</u>
- Gillies, C., Blanchet, R., Gokiert, R., Farmer, A., Thorlakson, J., Hamonic, L., & Willows, N. D. (2020). School-based nutrition interventions for Indigenous children in Canada: a scoping review. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8120-3</u>

- Gonzalez Sicilia, D., Brière, F., & Pagani, L. (2018). Prospective associations between participation in leisure-time physical activity at age 6 and academic performance at age 12. *Preventive Medicine*, *118*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.10.017</u>
- Government of Alberta. (2019). *Municipal Census Manual*. Edmonton, Alberta. Retrieved from <u>https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/ebee0c79-a9eb-4bf5-993d-</u> <u>30995a2f7554/resource/61613571-e381-4c4e-9f11-2bfe6823ef81/download/2019-</u> municipal-census-manual.pdf
- Government of Alberta. (2020). Urban Service Area. Alberta Environment and Parks, Government of Alberta. Retrieved December 19, 2020 from <u>https://geodiscover.alberta.ca/geoportal/rest/metadata/item/4ba2f9416be84c5c930ad973b</u> <u>2c89ac5/html</u>
- Government of Canada. (2010). Creating a Healthier Canada: Making Prevention a Priority: A Declaration on Prevention and Promotion from Canada's Ministers of Health and Health Promotion/Healthy Living. Retrieved from <u>https://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/hl-mvs/declaration/pdf/dpp-eng.pdf</u>
- Government of Canada. (2023). Social determinants of health and health inequalities. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/population-health/what-determines-health.html</u>
- Griebler, U., Rojatz, D., Simovska, V., & Forster, R. (2014). Effects of student participation in school health promotion: a systematic review. *Health Promotion International*, 32(2), 195-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dat090</u>
- Gugglberger, L., & Dür, W. (2011). Capacity building in and for health promoting schools: Results from a qualitative study. *Health Policy*, *101*(1), 37-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2010.08.019
- Haddad, J., Ullah, S., Bell, L., Leslie, E., & Magarey, A. (2018). The influence of home and school environments on children's diet and physical activity, and body mass index: A structural equation modelling approach. *Maternal Child Health Journal*, 22(3), 364-375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2386-9</u>
- Hamilton, L., Goodman, L., Roberts, L., Dial, L. A., Pratt, M., & Musher-Eizenman, D. (2021). Teacher experience, personal health, and dieting status is associated with classroom health-related practices and modeling. *Journal of School Health*, 91(2), 155-163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12985</u>
- Hammami, N., Da Silva, M. A., & Elgar, F. J. (2022). Trends in gender and socioeconomic inequalities in adolescent health over 16 years (2002–2018): Findings from the Canadian Health Behaviour in School-aged Children study. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, 42(2), 68-78-78. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.42.2.03

- Hawe, P., Shiell, A., & Riley, T. (2009). Theorising interventions as events in systems. American Journal of Community Psychology, 43(3-4), 267-276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-009-9229-9</u>
- Hazinski, M. F., Eddy, V. A., & Morris, J. A., Jr. (1995). Children's traffic safety program: influence of early elementary school safety education on family seat belt use. *Journal of Trauma*, 39(6), 1063-1068. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005373-199512000-00008</u>
- Health Canada. (2017, 2017, October 26). *Healthy Living: Children and Adolescents*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/healthy-living/children-adolescents.html</u>
- Health Canada. (2020). Canada's Food Guide. https://food-guide.canada.ca/en/
- Higginbottom, G. M. A., Pillay, J. J., & Boadu, N. Y. (2013). Guidance on performing focused ethnographies with an emphasis on healthcare research. *Qualitative Report*, 18(9), 1-6.
- HundrED. (2019). APPLE Schools makes the healthy choice the easy choice. Retrieved December 19, 2020 from https://hundred.org/en/innovations/apple-schools
- Joint Consortium for School Health. (2016). Comprehensive School Health Framework. http://www.jcsh-cces.ca/index.php/about/comprehensive-school-health
- Joint Consortium for School Health. (2020). *What is Comprehensive School Health?* Retrieved December 1 from <u>http://www.jcsh-</u> <u>cces.ca/images/What\_is\_Comprehensive\_School\_Health\_October\_14\_2015\_-\_2-</u> <u>pager.pdf</u>
- Joint Consortium for School Health. (2021). *What is Comprehensive School Health?* Retrieved June 1 from <u>http://www.jcsh-</u> <u>cces.ca/images/What\_is\_Comprehensive\_School\_Health\_October\_14\_2015\_-\_2-</u> <u>pager.pdf</u>
- Jourdan, D., Christensen, J. H., Darlington, E., Bonde, A. H., Bloch, P., Jensen, B. B., & Bentsen, P. (2016). The involvement of young people in school- and community-based noncommunicable disease prevention interventions: a scoping review of designs and outcomes. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3779-1</u>
- Jourdan, D., Gray, N. J., Barry, M. M., Caffe, S., Cornu, C., Diagne, F.,...Sawyer, S. M. (2021). Supporting every school to become a foundation for healthy lives. *Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 5(4), 295-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30316-3</u>
- Kehm, R., Davey, C. S., & Nanney, M. S. (2015). The role of family and community involvement in the development and implementation of school nutrition and physical activity policy. *Journal of School Health*, 85(2), 90-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12231</u>

- Keshavarz, N., Nutbeam, D., Rowling, L., & Khavarpour, F. (2010). Schools as social complex adaptive systems: A new way to understand the challenges of introducing the health promoting schools concept. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(10), 1467-1474. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.01.034
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 40(1), 23-42-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768</u>
- Klassen, D., Champion, C., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Raine, K., & Storey, K. (2022). It takes a community: Exploring APPLE Schools' impact within and beyond school walls in Canada. *Health Promotion International*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daac050</u>
- Knoblauch, H. (2005). Focused Ethnography. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 6(3).
- Koh, G. A., & Askell-Williams, H. (2021). Sustainable school-improvement in complex adaptive systems: A scoping review. *Review of Education*, 9(1), 281-314. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3246
- Kusenbach, M. (2003). Street phenomenology: The go-along as ethnographic research tool. *Ethnography*, *4*(3), 455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/146613810343007</u>
- Langford, B., Bonell, C., Jones, H., Pouliou, T., Murphy, S., Waters, E.,...Campbell, R. (2014). The WHO Health Promoting School framework for improving the health and well-being of students and their academic achievement. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 4, CD008958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008958.pub2</u>
- Langford, R., Bonell, C., Jones, H., & Campbell, R. (2015). Obesity prevention and the Health Promoting Schools framework: essential components and barriers to success. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0167-7</u>
- Langford, R., Bonell, C., Jones, H., Pouliou, T., Murphy, S., Waters, E.,...Campbell, R. (2015). The World Health Organization's Health Promoting Schools framework: a Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1360-y</u>
- Langford, R., Bonell, C., Komro, K., Murphy, S., Magnus, D., Waters, E.,...Campbell, R. (2017). The Health Promoting Schools Framework: Known unknowns and an agenda for future research. *Health Education & Behavior*, 44(3), 463-475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198116673800</u>
- Leblanc-Laurendeau, O. (2020). *Food insecurity in northern Canada: An overview*. Ottawa: Parliamentary Information and Research Service. Retrieved from <u>https://lop.parl.ca/staticfiles/PublicWebsite/Home/ResearchPublications/BackgroundPape</u> <u>rs/PDF/2020-47-E.pdf</u>

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2013). The Constructivist Credo. Routledge.

- Lister-Sharp, D., Chapman, S., Stewart-Brown, S., & Sowden, A. (1999). Health promoting schools and health promotion in schools: two systematic reviews. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, *3*(22), 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.3310/hta3220</u>
- MacDonald, M., & Hill, C. (2022). The educational impact of the COVID-19 rapid response on teachers, students, and families: Insights from British Columbia, Canada. *Prospects*, 51(4), 627-641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-020-09527-5</u>
- MacLellan, D., Taylor, J., & Freeze, C. (2009). Developing school nutrition policies: enabling and barrier factors. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*, 70(4), 166-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.3148/70.4.2009.166</u>
- Manyanga, T., Pelletier, C., Prince, S. A., Lee, E.-Y., Sluggett, L., & Lang, J. J. (2022). A comparison of meeting physical activity and screen time recommendations between Canadian youth living in rural and urban communities: A nationally representative crosssectional analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(7), 4394.
- Masten, A. S. (2018). Resilience theory and research on children and families: Past, present, and promise. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, *10*(1), 12-31. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12255
- Masten, A. S. (2021). Resilience of children in disasters: A multisystem perspective. *International Journal of Psychology*, 56(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12737</u>
- Maunula, L., Dabravolskaj, J., Maximova, K., Sim, S., Willows, N., Newton, A. S., & Veugelers, P. J. (2021). "It's very stressful for children": Elementary school-aged children's psychological wellbeing during COVID-19 in Canada. *Children (Basel)*, 8(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children8121185</u>
- Maximova, K., Khan, M. K. A., Dabravolskaj, J., Maunula, L., Ohinmaa, A., & Veugelers, P. J. (2022). Perceived changes in lifestyle behaviours and in mental health and wellbeing of elementary school children during the first COVID-19 lockdown in Canada. *Public Health*, 202, 35-42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2021.10.007
- Mayan, M. J. (2009). Essentials of qualitative inquiry. Left Coast Press.
- McIsaac, J.-L. D., Read, K., Veugelers, P. J., & Kirk, S. F. L. (2017). Culture matters: a case of school health promotion in Canada. *Health Promotion International*, 32(2), 207-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dat055</u>
- McKenzie, T. L., Moody, J. S., Carlson, J. A., Lopez, N. V., & Elder, J. P. (2013). Neighborhood Income Matters: Disparities in Community Recreation Facilities, Amenities, and Programs. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 31(4), 12-22.

- McKernan, C., Montemurro, G., Chahal, H., Veugelers, P. J., Gleddie, D., & Storey, K. E. (2019). Translation of school-learned health behaviours into the home: student insights through photovoice. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *110*(6), 821-830. <u>https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-019-00232-1</u>
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, *15*(4), 351-377.
- McPhail, D., Chapman, G. E., & Beagan, B. L. (2013). The rural and the rotund? A critical interpretation of food deserts and rural adolescent obesity in the Canadian context. *Health & Place*, *22*, 132-139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2013.03.009</u>
- Michael, S. L., Merlo, C. L., Basch, C. E., Wentzel, K. R., & Wechsler, H. (2015). Critical connections: Health and academics. *Journal of School Health*, 85(11), 740-758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12309</u>
- Michaelson, V., King, N., Inchley, J., Currie, D., Brooks, F., & Pickett, W. (2019). Domains of spirituality and their associations with positive mental health: a study of adolescents in Canada, England and Scotland. *Preventive Medicine*, 125, 12-18. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.04.018</u>
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed. ed.). Sage Publications.
- Minniss, F., & Stewart, D. (2009). Promoting connectedness through whole-school approaches: a qualitative study. *Health Education*, *109*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09654280910984816</u>
- Montemurro, G., Storey, K. E., Cherkowski, S., Loland, D., Saville, E., & Sulz, L. (2023). Prioritizing well-being in K-12 education: Lessons from a multiple case study of Canadian school districts. *Health Promotion International*, 38(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daad003</u>
- Morse, J. (2006). Biased reflections: principles of sampling and analysis in qualitative inquiry. *Moving beyond effectiveness in evidence synthesis: Methodological issues in the synthesis of diverse sources of evidence*, 53-60.
- Morse, J. M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., & Spiers, J. (2002). Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 1(2), 13-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690200100202</u>
- Moullin, J. C., Dickson, K. S., Stadnick, N. A., Rabin, B., & Aarons, G. A. (2019). Systematic review of the Exploration, Preparation, Implementation, Sustainment (EPIS) framework. *Implementation Science*, 14(1), 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-018-0842-6</u>
- Mukhopadhyay, B. B., & Bhatnagar, P. C. (2005). Children as health promoters. *Promoting school health around the world through the CDC and IUHPE Cooperative Agreement* (3-4), 148-149.

- Murray, N. G., Low, B. J., Hollis, C., Cross, A. W., & Davis, S. M. (2007). Coordinated school health programs and academic achievement: a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of School Health*, 77(9), 589-600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2007.00238.x</u>
- National Cancer Institute: Research Tested Intervention Programs. (2015). *Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating (APPLE Schools)*. <u>http://rtips.cancer.gov/rtips/programDetails.do?programId=3624004</u>
- Neely, K. C., Montemurro, G. R., & Storey, K. E. (2020). A Canadian-wide perspective on the essential conditions for taking a comprehensive school health approach. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09987-6</u>
- Newman, L., Baum, F., Javanparast, S., O'Rourke, K., & Carlon, L. (2015). Addressing social determinants of health inequities through settings: a rapid review. *Health Promotion International*, 30(suppl\_2), ii126-ii143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dav054</u>
- Nutbeam, D. (1992). The health promoting school: Closing the gap between theory and practice. *Health Promotion International*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/7.3.151</u>
- O'Brien, B. C., Harris, I. B., Beckman, T. J., Reed, D. A., & Cook, D. A. (2014). Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. *Academic Medicine*, 89(9), 1245-1251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.00000000000388</u>
- Ofosu, N. N., Ekwaru, J. P., Bastian, K. A., Loehr, S. A., Storey, K., Spence, J. C., & Veugelers, P. J. (2018). Long-term effects of comprehensive school health on health-related knowledge, attitudes, self-efficacy, health behaviours and weight status of adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5427-4</u>
- Ohinmaa, A., Langille, J.-L., Jamieson, S., Whitby, C., & Veugelers, P. J. (2011). Costs of implementing and maintaining Comprehensive School Health: The case of the Annapolis Valley Health Promoting Schools Program. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 102(6), 451-454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03404198</u>
- Oktari, R. S., Shiwaku, K., Munadi, K., Syamsidik, & Shaw, R. (2018). Enhancing community resilience towards disaster: The contributing factors of school-community collaborative network in the tsunami affected area in Aceh. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 29, 3-12. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2017.07.009
- Park, S., Stone, S., & Holloway, S. (2017). School-based parental involvement as a predictor of achievement and school learning environment: An elementary school-level analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.09.012
- ParticipACTION. (2022). Lost & Found: Pandemic-related challenges and opportunities for physical activity. The 2022 ParticipACTION Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. ParticipACTION. <u>https://www.participaction.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2022/10/2022-Children-and-Youth-Report-Card.pdf</u>
- ParticiPACTION. (2024). Rallying for Resilience Keeping Children and Youth Active in a Changing Climate. 2024 ParticipACTION Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth. <u>https://www.participaction.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/2024-Children-and-Youth-Report-Card-Highlight-Report-1.pdf</u>
- ParticipACTION. (2024). *The Benefits of Physical Activity*. <u>https://www.participaction.com/the-science/explore-benefits/</u>
- Pattison, K. L., Hoke, A. M., Schaefer, E. W., Alter, J., & Sekhar, D. L. (2021). National survey of school employees: COVID-19, school reopening, and student wellness. *Journal of School Health*, 91(5), 376-383-383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13010</u>
- Polsky, J. Y., & Garriguet, D. (2020). Change in vegetable and fruit consumption in Canada between 2004 and 2015. *Health Reports*, 31(4), 3-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x202000400001-eng</u>
- Preiser, R., Struthers, P., Suraya, M., Cameron, N., & Lawrence, E. (2014). External stakeholders and health promoting schools: complexity and practice in South Africa. *Health Education*, *114*(4), 260-270. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/HE-07-2013-0031</u>
- Prince, S. A., Melvin, A., Roberts, K. C., Butler, G. P., & Thompson, W. (2020). Sedentary behaviour surveillance in Canada: trends, challenges and lessons learned. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-020-00925-8
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2008). *Healthy settings for young people in Canada*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/hp-ps/dca-dea/publications/yjc/pdf/youth-jeunes-eng.pdf</u>
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2011). *Canadian best practices portal for health promotion and chronic disease prevention*. <u>http://cbpp-pcpe.phac-aspc.gc.ca/</u>
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020, June 22). *Mental health and wellness*. Government of Canada. Retrieved July 19, 2024 from <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/about-mental-health.html</u>
- Q. S. R. International. (2021). NVivo qualitative data analysis software: Version 12. QSR International Pty Ltd: Burlington, MA.
- Raphael, D. (2016). Social determinants of health: Canadian perspectives. Canadian Scholars' Press.
- Rausch, J. C., Berger-Jenkins, E., Nieto, A. R., McCord, M., & Meyer, D. (2015). Effect of a School-Based Intervention on Parents' Nutrition and Exercise Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behaviors. *American Journal of Health Education*, 46(1), 33-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2014.977411</u>

- Richards, L., & Morse, J. M. (2007). *Readme first for a user's guide to qualitative methods*. Sage Publications.
- Roberts, E., McLeod, N., Montemurro, G., Veugelers, P. J., Gleddie, D., & Storey, K. E. (2016). Implementing Comprehensive School Health in Alberta, Canada: the principal's role. 31, 915-924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dav083</u>
- Roberts, K. C., Yao, X., Carson, V., Chaput, J. P., Janssen, I., & Tremblay, M. S. (2017). Meeting the Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for children and youth. *Health Reports*, 28(10), 3-7.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of Innovations (5th ed.). Free Press.
- Rosas, S. R. (2017). Systems thinking and complexity: considerations for health promoting schools. *Health Promotion International*, *32*(2), 301-311. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dav109
- Rowling, L., & Samdal, O. (2011). Filling the black box of implementation for health-promoting schools. *Health Education*, 111, 347-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09654281111161202</u>
- Russell-Mayhew, S., & Murray, K. (2021). Leveraging pandemic lessons to heal: Promoting health in educational spaces. *Policy, Promising Practices, Well-being* https://www.edcan.ca/articles/leveraging-pandemic-lessons-to-heal/
- Salami, B., Yaskina, M., Hegadoren, K., Diaz, E., Meherali, S., Rammohan, A., & Ben-Shlomo, Y. (2017). Migration and social determinants of mental health: Results from the Canadian Health Measures Survey. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 108(4), 362-367. <u>https://doi.org/10.17269/CJPH.108.6105</u>
- Saldaña, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (2nd ed.). SAGE.
- Samdal, O., & Rowling, L. (2011). Theoretical and empirical base for implementation components of health-promoting schools. *Health Education*, 111, 367-390. https://doi.org/10.1108/09654281111161211
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 18(2), 179-183. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770180211
- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing & Health*, 23(4), 334-340. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240X(200008)23:4</u>
- School Mental Health Ontario. (2024, April 12, 2024). *Suport your mental health*. Retrieved July 19, 2024 from <u>https://smho-smso.ca/students/support-your-mental-health/</u>
- Schwartz, K. D., Exner-Cortens, D., McMorris, C. A., Makarenko, E., Arnold, P., Van Bavel, M.,...Canfield, R. (2021). COVID-19 and student well-Being: Stress and mental health during return-to-school. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 36(2), 166-185-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/08295735211001653</u>

- Semke, C. A., & Sheridan, S. M. (2012). Family–school connections in rural educational settings: A systematic review of the empirical literature. *The School Community Journal*, 22(1), 21-48.
- Simovska, V., & Carlsson, M. (2012). Health-promoting changes with children as agents: Findings from a multiple case study research. *Health Education*, *112*, 292-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09654281211217803</u>
- Sobierajski, F., Lévesque, L., McGavock, J., Beardy, T., Montemurro, G., Sobierajski, F.,...the, I. N. T. (2022). The essential conditions needed to implement the Indigenous Youth Mentorship Program: a focused ethnography. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12412-1</u>
- Spencer, N., Thanh, T. M., & Louise, S. (2013). Low Income/Socio-Economic Status in Early Childhood and Physical Health in Later Childhood/Adolescence: A Systematic Review. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 17(3), 424-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1010-2</u>
- Spencer, R. A., McIsaac, J.-L. D., Stewart, M., Brushett, S., & Kirk, S. F. L. (2019). Food in focus: Youth exploring food in schools using photovoice. *Journal of Nutrition Education* and Behavior, 51(8), 1011-1019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2019.05.599</u>
- St Leger, L. H. (1999). The opportunities and effectiveness of the health promoting primary school in improving child health a review of the claims and evidence. *Health Education Research*, 14(1), 51-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/her/14.1.51</u>
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage Publications.
- Stake, R. E. (2005). Qualitative Case Studies. In *The Sage handbook of qualitative research, 3rd ed.* (pp. 443-466): Sage Publications Ltd.
- Statistics Canada. (2016). *Population Centre and Rural Area Classification*. statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects/standard/pcrac/2016/introduction
- Statistics Canada. (2019). Health characteristics of children and youth aged 1 to 17 years. *Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth 2019.* (https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.25318/1310076301-eng
- Statistics Canada. (2020). Body mass index, overweight or obese, self reported, youth (12 to 17 years old) https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.25318/1310009601-eng
- Stearns, J. A., Godley, J., Veugelers, P. J., Ekwaru, J. P., Bastian, K., Wu, B., & Spence, J. C. (2019). Associations of friendship and children's physical activity during and outside of school: A social network study. SSM - Population Health, 7, 100308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.10.008</u>

- Stewart-Brown, S. (2006). What is the evidence on school health promotion in improving health or preventing disease and, specifically, what is the effectiveness of the health promoting schools approach? <u>http://www.euro.who.int/document/e88185.pdf</u>
- Stolp, S., Wilkins, E., & Raine, K. D. (2015). Developing and sustaining a healthy school community: Essential elements identified by School Health Champions. *Health Education Journal*, 74(3), 299-311. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896914541818
- Storey, K., Spitters, H., Cunningham, C., Schwartz, M., & Veugelers, P. (2011). Implementing Comprehensive School Health: Teachers' perceptions of the Alberta Project Promoting active Living and healthy Eating in Schools - APPLE Schools. *PHENex Journal*, 3.
- Storey, K. E., Montemurro, G., Flynn, J., Schwartz, M., Wright, E., Osler, J.,...Roberts, E. (2016). Essential conditions for the implementation of comprehensive school health to achieve changes in school culture and improvements in health behaviours of students. BMC Public Health, 16(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3787-1</u>
- Storey, K. E., Montemurro, G., Schwartz, M., Farmer, A., & Veugelers, P. (2015). Preparing school health facilitators: Building competence and confidence for a new role. *PHENex Journal*, 7(2).
- Storey, K. E., Stearns, J. A., McLeod, N., & Montemurro, G. (2021). A social network analysis of interactions about physical activity and nutrition among APPLE schools staff. SSM Population Health, 14, 100763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100763</u>
- Taryn, O., Steve, M., & Rhona, H. (2017). Support for healthy eating at schools according to the comprehensive school health framework: evaluation during the early years of the Ontario School Food and Beverage Policy implementation. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, 37(9), 303-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.37.9.05</u>
- Taylor, R. D., Oberle, E., Durlak, J. A., & Weissberg, R. P. (2017). Promoting positive youth development through school-based social and emotional learning interventions: A metaanalysis of follow-up effects. *Child Development*, 88(4), 1156-1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12864
- Testa, D. (2021). COVID-19 and student well-being: Catholic school staff perspectives and experiences. *Health Education Journal*, 80(7), 861-871. https://doi.org/10.1177/00178969211010851
- Torres, I., & Simovska, V. (2017). Community participation in rural Ecuador's school feeding programme. *Health Education*, 117(2), 176-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/he-02-2016-0009</u>
- Tortella, G. R., Seabra, A. B., Padrão, J., & Díaz-San Juan, R. (2021). Mindfulness and other simple neuroscience-based proposals to promote the learning performance and mental health of students during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Brain Sciences*, 11(5), 552.

- Tran, B. X., Ohinmaa, A., Kuhle, S., Johnson, J. A., & Veugelers, P. J. (2014). Life course impact of school-based promotion of healthy eating and active living to prevent childhood obesity. *PloS one*, 9(7), e102242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102242</u>
- Tremblay, M. S., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Connor Gorber, S., Dinh, T., Duggan, M.,...Zehr, L. (2016). Canadian 24-Hour movement guidelines for children and youth: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, andsSleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 41*(6 (Suppl. 3)), S311-S327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2016-0151</u>
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015). *Truth and Reconciliation Commission* of Canada: Calls to Action. <u>http://nctr.ca/assets/reports/Calls\_to\_Action\_English2.pdf</u>
- Convention on the Rights of the Child, (1989). <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-rights-child</u>
- Van Lancker, W., & Parolin, Z. (2020). COVID-19, school closures, and child poverty: a social crisis in the making. *The Lancet Public Health*, 5(5), e243-e244-e244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30084-0</u>
- Vander Ploeg, K., McGavock, J., Maximova, K., & Veugelers, P. (2014). School-based health promotion and physical activity during and after school hours. *Pediatrics*, *133*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-2383</u>
- Vander Ploeg, K. A., Maximova, K., McGavock, J., Davis, W., & Veugelers, P. (2014). Do school-based physical activity interventions increase or reduce inequalities in health? *112*, 80-87.
- Vaughan, C., Gack, J., Solorazano, H., & Ray, R. (2003). The effect of environmental education on schoolchildren, their parents, and community members: A study of intergenerational and intercommunity learning. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 34, 12-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00958960309603489</u>
- Veugelers, P. J., Dabravolskaj, J., Khan, M. K. A., Tran, T., Maximova, K., & Flynn, J. (2022). From best practice to next practice: implementing Comprehensive School Health in rural and remote northern communities. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada*, 42(8), 344-352-352. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.42.8.04
- Veugelers, P. J., & Fitzgerald, A. L. (2005). Effectiveness of school programs in preventing childhood obesity: A multilevel comparison. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(3), 432-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.045898</u>
- Veugelers, P. J., & Schwartz, M. E. (2010). Comprehensive school health in Canada. Springer Nature, 101, 5
- Veugelers, P. J., M. K., Dabravolskaj J., & Honorato C. (2023). Canadian standards & indicators for health promoting schools.

- Walia, S., & Leipert, B. (2012). Perceived facilitators and barriers to physical activity for rural youth: an exploratory study using photovoice. *Rural Remote Health*, *12*, 1842.
- Wellman, R. J., O'Loughlin, E. K., Maximova, K., Kalubi, J., Riglea, T., & O'Loughlin, J. (2024). School- and intervention-related factors associated with institutionalization of health promotion interventions in elementary schools. *Health Promotion Chronic Disease Prevention Canada*, 44(4), 166-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.44.4.03</u>
- Wood, L., Giles-Corti, B., Zubrick, S. R., & Bulsara, M. K. (2013). "Through the kids... we connected with our community": Children as catalysts of social capital. *Environment and Behavior*, 45(3), 344-368-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916511429329</u>
- World Health Organization. (1997). Promoting health through schools WHO Technical Report (WHO Technical Report Series 870. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/41987/WHO\_TRS\_870.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- World Health Organization. (1986). *Ottawa charter for health promotion: An international conference on health promotion*. Retrieved Web Page from <a href="http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/">http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/</a>
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research : design and methods (4th edition ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yuksel, H. S., Şahin, F. N., Maksimovic, N., Drid, P., & Bianco, A. (2020). School-based intervention programs for preventing obesity and promoting physical activity and fitness: A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(1), 347. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010347</u>

## **Appendix A: Interview Guide**

## Modified Interview Guide included questions 3, 5, and 6

## **Demographic Questions:**

Name	
Gender	
Age	
Occupation	
Name of Organization/Business	
Number of years as a resident of community	
Children who attend school	

## **APPLE Schools-related questions:**

- 1. Can you tell me what you know about APPLE Schools?
- 2. How did you learn about APPLE Schools?
- 3. How did you/your organization become connected to supporting APPLE schools' initiatives/activities?
  - a. Who was it that reached out to you to invite you to become involved with supporting health and wellness at the school? Or did you reach out to the school?
- 4. How do you/your organization support school-based health promotion? (School-based health promotion is a way to support holistic health and wellness of children and youth and to empower them to choose healthy behaviours both at school and outside of the school.)
  - a. Can you tell me about any partnerships you have with schools or services you might provide to schools?
  - b. How does this work effectively?
  - c. Are there any barriers to supporting schools?
- 5. In what ways has APPLE Schools reached your community?
  - a. Can you tell me about how you have seen changes in the community because of APPLE Schools?
- 6. Are there any ways that you have changed your daily practices within your business/organization because of APPLE Schools? If so, why did you make this change?
- 7. Are there any ways that you would like to be more involved with the schools?